
 
 

 
 
Committee: 
 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

Date: 
 

WEDNESDAY, 8 MARCH 2023 

Venue: 
 

MORECAMBE TOWN HALL 

Time: 6.00 P.M. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

A G E N D A 
 
 
1. Apologies for Absence  
 
2. Minutes  
 
 Minutes of the Meeting held on 8th February 2023.   
  
3. Items of Urgent Business authorised by the Chair  
 
4. Declarations of Interest  
 
 To receive declarations by Councillors of interests in respect of items on this Agenda.   

Councillors are reminded that, in accordance with the Localism Act 2011, they are 
required to declare any disclosable pecuniary interests which have not already been 
declared in the Council’s Register of Interests. (It is a criminal offence not to declare a 
disclosable pecuniary interest either in the Register or at the meeting).   

Whilst not a legal requirement, in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 9 and in the 
interests of clarity and transparency, Councillors should declare any disclosable pecuniary 
interests which they have already declared in the Register, at this point in the meeting.   

In accordance with Part B Section 2 of the Code Of Conduct, Councillors are required to 
declare the existence and nature of any other interests as defined in paragraphs 8(1) or 
9(2) of the Code of Conduct.   

  
5. Task Groups (Pages 3 - 33) 
 
6. Flooding in Lancaster (Pages 34 - 99) 
 
 Attached provided by Lancashire County Council.   

 
 
 
 
 
 

Councillors are reminded that as Members of Overview and Scrutiny 
they may not be subjected to the Party Whip, which is prohibited under 

the Lancaster City Council Constitution. 



 

  
ADMINISTRATIVE ARRANGEMENTS 
 
(i) Membership 

 
 Councillors Richard Austen-Baker (Chair), Darren Clifford (Vice-Chair), Paul Anderton, 

Alan Biddulph, Roger Dennison, Mandy King, Jack Lenox, Abi Mills and Joyce Pritchard 
 

(ii) Substitute Membership 
 

 Councillors Gerry Blaikie, Tim Dant, Colin Hartley, Debbie Jenkins, Geoff Knight, 
David Whitaker and Conservative Vacancy 
 

(iii) Queries regarding this Agenda 
 

 Please contact Jenny Kay, Democratic Services - email jkay@lancaster.gov.uk. 
 

(iv) Changes to Membership, substitutions or apologies 
 

 Please contact Democratic Support email democracy@lancaster.gov.uk.   
 

 
 
MARK DAVIES, 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE, 
TOWN HALL, 
DALTON SQUARE, 
LANCASTER, LA1 1PJ 
 
Published on Tuesday, 28th February 2023.   

 

mailto:democraticsupport@lancaster.gov.uk


 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Report of 

 
THE PLANNING INFORMAL 

TASK GROUP 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Lancaster City Council 
MARCH 2023  

Page 3 Agenda Item 5



 2 

Contents 
 
 
Chair’s Foreword       3 
 
Introduction/Background/Role     4   
           
Terms of Reference       4 
 
Membership of the Group      4 
 
Timetable of Meetings      4 
 
Evidence Considered      5 
 
Status of this Report       5 
 
Background and Context      5 
 
Information Gathering      5  
  
Findings        9  
  
Recommendations       10  
  
 
 

  

Page 4



 3 

 

Chair’s Foreword 
 
 
It was resolved by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee to establish an informal task group 
to review service delivery of the Council’s planning functions as part of the work programme 
for 2021-22.  The idea was that Overview & Scrutiny should look each year at a different 
aspect of the Council’s service delivery, particularly in those areas which most immediately or 
widely affect residents and businesses coming into contact with the Council. 
 
Regrettably, it proved impossible to organize the necessary meetings with officers from 
Planning during that year, but Overview & Scrutiny placed the item on the new work 
programme for 2022-23.  At that point, senior officers decided that a peer review of the 
planning department by the LGA, using the knowledge and experience of planning officers at 
other authorities, should be carried out during this period, and that it would not be appropriate 
or practicable to service the needs of an informal task group at the same time. 
 
In January, the outcome of the peer review became available and the informal task group 
began its work.  Although the time was by then extremely limited, members of the group rose 
to the occasion and organized an abbreviated process to lead to a Report: this Report. 
 
The group had the benefit of the work of the LGA peer review team, which meant that the 
most could be made of the limited opportunities for gathering evidence, with a focus on 
recommendations in the report of the peer review and also gaining additional perspectives 
from smaller professional users of the planning service and members of the Planning 
Regulatory Committee, as well as the experiences of members of the task group itself in 
relation to planning services in Lancaster and contacts they had had from residents. 
 
The group very largely supports and stands behind recommendations of the peer review, with 
some additions and some exceptions, derived from local knowledge and evidence given to 
the group. Where the group depart from the peer review is entirely to do with the matter of the 
number of applications coming to Planning Regulatory Committee and the procedure for 
‘calling in’ of applications, to be considered by the Committee rather than decided by officers 
under delegated powers.  These matters had been seen as problematic by the peer review, 
but the evidence received by the task group suggested that they are not after all problematic, 
and the group have therefore suggested no change should be made that might diminish 
involvement by elected members. 
 
 
Councillor Richard Austen-Baker 
on behalf of the Task Group 
 
March 2023 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 5



 4 

 
1. Introduction/ Background/Role of the Task Group 
 
The Overview and Scrutiny Committee agreed to consider service delivery of Council 
services and to focus on one Council Service each year beginning with Planning.  A scoping 
meeting was arranged and it was then for the Committee to agree which type of Task Group 
to be established.  The scoping document was submitted to and the establishment of the 
Task Group was agreed.   
 
2. Terms of Reference 
 
The following Terms of Reference for the Task Group were agreed by the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee: 
 

 To explore how the Council can provide a Planning Service which is responsive 

resilient with consistent, measurable service delivery.   

 
3. Membership of the Group 
 
The Task Group comprised of Councillors Richard Austen-Baker (Chair), Darren Clifford, 
Roger Dennison and Abi Mills. 
 
The Task Group was supported by Mark Cassidy, Head of Planning and Place and Stephen 
Metcalfe, Principal Democratic Support Officer.   
 
The Task Group gratefully acknowledges the contributions and evidence freely given by: 
 
 

 
4. Timetable of Meetings 

 

Date of 
Meeting 

Who Gave Evidence? Issues Scrutinised 

 
2 February 
2023 
 

 
Mark Cassidy, Head of 
Planning and Place  

 
Terms of Reference and Methodology of 
Evidence Gathering. 
 
The Current Position in the District and 
the Way Forward. 
 
 

10 
February 
2023 
 

 
Mark Potts, Service Manager - 
Development Management 
 
 
Local Builder and Architect 
 

 
Enforcement issues with the Council’s 
Service Manager – Development 
Management.   
 
The Task Group agreed to call additional 
witnesses.  This was to obtain 
stakeholder feedback from smaller 
businesses.   
 

 
16 
February 
2023 
 

 
Councillor Sandra Thornberry 
(Chair of the Planning 
Regulatory Committee) and 
Keith Budden (Vice- Chair of 
the Planning Regulatory 
Committee) 

 
To obtain Planning Regulatory 
Committee Members views regarding 
service delivery.  

Page 6



 5 

 
- 

 
Mark Cassidy, Head of 
Planning and Place 

 
To consider by email.   

 
 

5. Evidence Considered 
 
Evidence provided by the LGA PAS report, Planning and Place Service, local small builder 
and architects, Councillor Thornberry, Chair of the Planning Regulatory Committee and 
Councillor Budden, Vice-Chair of the Planning Regulatory Committee was considered.   
 
6. Status of Report 
 
This report is the work of the Informal Task Group, on behalf of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee, and where opinions are expressed they are not necessarily those of Lancaster 
City Council.   
 
7. Background and Context 
 
Each year the Overview and Scrutiny Committee agrees a programme of work.  The 
Committee agreed to consider service delivery of Council services and to focus on one 
Council Service each year beginning with Planning.   
 
The Committee was advised that a LGA Peer Challenge Review was being undertaken 
regarding the Planning Service.  The Committee was advised to await consideration of the 
findings of the LGA Peer Challenge Review prior to the work of the Task Group being 
commenced.  This would help look at key issues and feed into the work of the Committee.   
 
The first meeting of the Task Group was held on 2 February 2023.   
 
 
8. Information Gathering 
 

8.1 Evidence Gathering/The Way Forward 
 
At the first meeting the Head of Planning and Place was invited to attend.  Evidence had 
already been provided in the form of the LGA PAS Peer Challenge Review report, this 
being previously circulated to all Members of Overview and Scrutiny Committee.  Further 
questions that had been raised by the Chair of the Task Group had been submitted to and 
responded to by the Head of Planning and Place.   
 
The Group asked whether further details regarding the feedback and information from 
those consulted as part of the LGA PAS Peer Challenge Review information gathering 
could be provided.  The Head of Planning and Place advised that he would provide the 
Chair with the LGA consultant’s contact details so a Teams meeting could be arranged to 
discuss the report and issues Members wished to raise.  Unfortunately, due to time 
constraints the Chair of the Task Group was unable to meet with the LGA’s representatives.   
 
A further evidence gathering meeting was agreed to be held face to face on Friday, 10th 
February 2023, commencing at 2.00pm in Lancaster Town Hall.  The Chair and Vice-Chair 
of the Planning Regulatory Committee were invited to give evidence, together with local 
architects and builders and also officer(s) to inform on the Enforcement Section.  Also, 
provided by email, was a letter submitted by the Clerk of Aldcliffe and Stodday Parish 
Council regarding Planning Enforcement.  Unfortunately, evidence was unable to be taken 
from the Chair and Vice-Chair of the Planning and Regulatory Committee at this meeting 
and a further meeting on Microsoft Teams was arranged to obtain evidence on 16 February 
2023.   
 

 

Page 7



 6 

 
 
 

8.2 Information Gathering 
 
Enforcement Section 
 
The Service Manager – Development Management, had been invited to attend the 
meeting for this item.  An overview of the Council’s enforcement section was 
provided.  This advised of the currently staffing levels and the excessive workload of 
the Section, with 750 outstanding cases.  The way forward was discussed, including 
the unfreezing of a vacant post, whether it was expedient to continue with some of 
the cases, to clear historic work as soon as is practicable, the need to have a digital 
system in place to deal more effectively with the huge workload of the section and 
undertaking a review of the Enforcement Charter.  The Group was informed of the 4 
and 10 year rules regarding when enforcement action needed to be taken.   
 
The Group agreed to consider recommendations from the evidence provided for 
inclusion in the Task Group’s final report.   
 
Additional Witnesses  
 
A local builder/developer and a local architect had been invited to attend the meeting 
to provide evidence of their experiences of the service delivery provided by the 
Council’s Planning Service.  The Group wished to discuss issues with local 
stakeholders who may not have been involved in the LGA PAS evidence gathering 
interviews, from smaller local providers of building and architect services.  The Chair 
had also been provided with evidence from a local planning consultant, regarding 
this issue.  This to be shared with other members of the Group.   
 
Both stakeholders provided evidence, the points being: 
 

 The feeling that they have to “jump through hoops” and the processes are more 
rigorous for local/smaller developers than those for larger developers.   

 

 Some of the processes seem to be irrelevant, particularly regarding the 
information required, which then seem to create backlogs.   

 

 The Council should look at the processes from the applicant(s) point of view.   
 

 The necessity for small developers to provide detailed information regarding 
drainage, air quality, environmental reports.  These may be appropriate for large 
developers but not for small schemes.   

 

 There was a feeling that there were inconsistencies in the advice given by case 
officers even when considering similar planning applications.   

 

 It would be helpful and more consistent if the officer responsible at pre-application 
stage/meetings remained as the case officer throughout the planning process.  
Also the pre-application documentation should go forward and be submitted with 
the Planning application report submitted to the Committee.   

 

 The length of time to obtain planning permission, sometimes this up to 9 months, 
even when using the pre-application process.   

 

 Different views between the case officer(s) and other more senior planning staff.  
For instance a case officer left the Council and was replaced.  From a position 
where the plans were being recommended for approval the new case officer 
required planning amendments.   

Page 8



 7 

 

 Request an earlier co-ordinated consensus view rather than having to change 
plans at a later date.  Could there be regular Planning team meetings to discuss 
issues at an earlier stage.    This to include conservation officers, where 
appropriate.   

 

 Based on evidence provided the Task Group recommendation is to ensure that 
the Councillors right to call-in planning decisions and that these be submitted to 
Committee for consideration.  (Note:  There was a query raised at the meeting as 
to whether there had been a change in policy – this to be clarified.  Also see 
recommendation of LGA PAS report).   

 

 Possible recommendation – going forward to ensure that there is a system that is 
consistent and is a reliable decision making process.   

 

 Site visits.  Some developers may pay for an on-site meeting with the planning 
case officer prior to submission of an application.  Members of the Task Group felt 
that more site visits should be provided for application sites being considered by 
the Committee.   

 

 HIP Home Owner Pack.  The Task Group requested a copy including instructions 
on how to complete.  There are additional costs for the developer/consultant.  
Query why are these required as part of the Council’s planning processes.   

 

 Neighbour objections.  There is a need for consistency.   
 

 Streamlining of processes.  Are there processes that are not required that would 
make obtaining planning decisions more efficient/effective.  For instance the need 
for unnecessary surveys/air quality assessments.  Do we have a one blanket 
policy covers all.   

 

 Better communication.   
 

 Alleged delays in the validation processes.   
 
The view, from the evidence provided was, that the Council was a fair Council to work 
with, however there seemed to be a number of unnecessary documents that are 
required to be completed as part of the planning application process.   
 

8.3 Information gathering  
 
Further to the previous meeting the Task Group had agreed to meet virtually on 

Microsoft Teams and had invited the Chair and Vice-Chair of the Planning Regulatory 

Committee Councillors Sandra Thornberry and Keith Budden to provide evidence to 

the Group.   

Councillors Thornberry and Budden were advised by the Chair of the discussions at 

the previous Task Group meeting and of the issues raised by a local architect and 

builders.  This to be added to the evidence already provided by officers from the 

Planning and Place service, together with the LGA PAS review report.  The Group 

would then consider the evidence and make recommendations as part of its report.   

The Chair asked both Councillors Thornberry and Budden to provide evidence and 

to comment upon the planning processes.   

Councillor Thornberry advised that the LGA PAS review report had made valid points 

and that the Head of Planning and Place was addressing most of these in the form 

of an Implementation Plan, which had been submitted as the City Council’s formal 

response.  However, it was noted that the livestreaming recommendation had not 

Page 9



 8 

been taken up.  It was felt that the recommendations regarding Member training, 

education and having time together were helpful.  Currently Members held a briefing 

on the Friday before the meeting.  This was limited to one person per group, who 

then could feed back to their other group members.   

With regard to enforcement Councillor Thornberry had spoken to the Service 

Manager – Development Management, regarding recommended improvements and 

it had been suggested that after the Friday briefing an update be provided to all 

Members of the Planning Regulatory Committee.   

There was a discussion regarding the venue used for meetings of the Planning 

Regulatory Committee.  It was noted that the current venue was the Council Chamber 

was the Council Chamber, Morecambe Town Hall.  Some Members felt that a better 

venue would be the Banqueting Suite, Lancaster Town Hall in an oval layout, so that 

it was more beneficial for members of the public attending the meeting being able to 

see members of the Committee.  An alternative could be the upstairs meeting rooms 

(Rooms 1 and 2) in Morecambe Town Hall.  The current venue was also seen to 

provide difficulties for officers being able to communicate to Councillors and each 

other whilst the meeting was taking place.  It was agreed that the venue should not 

be in the Ashton Hall, Lancaster Town Hall due to the poor acoustics.  Also raised 

was the standard of equipment in the meeting rooms, such as the screens and other 

IT equipment which was not seen as to the required standard.   

The Group then discussed the LGA recommendations regarding amending the 

current Scheme of Delegation so that fewer applications were submitted for 

consideration by the Planning Regulatory Committee.  Members of the Group were 

of the opinion that the current Scheme of Delegation should not be changed, as the 

right balance of applications being considered by Members did not appear to be 

excessive.  By reducing the number of applications being submitted to the Committee 

could be seen as not being democratic or transparent.  There was a further 

discussion regarding undertaking a review regarding the planning applications to be 

considered by the Committee and those to be agreed using Officers Delegated 

Powers.   

Members also discussed the LGA PAS report recommendation regarding having 

fewer Councillor planning application Ward call-ins at meetings.  It was felt by all 

attending that this was an unnecessary recommendation as the number involved was 

not significant.  Estimation of being in single figures over the last 12-month period.  It 

could also be seen as undemocratic by members of the public and an unnecessary 

restriction on Ward Councillors representing their Ward(s).   

Also discussed was the content and length of officer presentations to the Committee.  

Some Members of the Task Group felt that the presentation to the Committee should 

be streamlined, taking 5 minutes, with only the key relevant and essential information 

being provided.  The report should be taken as already read by the Committee, being 

already publicly available, with no need for officers to repeat the information at the 

meeting, with the result being meetings that were more streamlined and efficient.  

Also raised at this point was that of advocacy by some officers, with some 

recommendations pushed strongly and with the minimising of counter arguments.  It 

was felt that some officers did not advise regarding their recommendations, but rather 

advocated the recommendations.  Examples were referred to.  There was a need for 

a consistent approach by officers.   

The Task Group also considered the issue of public speaking at meetings of the 

Planning Regulatory Committee.  This could, in some circumstances, be seen as 

repetitive, or could raise issues outside of the Committee’s remit.  It was suggested 

that either speakers be allowed to speak for a shorter period of time or reduce the 

Page 10



 9 

number of speakers and encourage the speakers to have a spokesperson to speak 

on their behalf.  It was felt that this issue should be reviewed.   

Regarding the reports provided to Members of the Committee it was noted that this 

was good with well over a week provided prior to the meeting.   

The Task Group also discussed issues relating to Planning Committee decisions that 

had gone against officer advice and the current procedures, in particular the role of 

officers, when defending a decision of the Committee when appealed against.  Cases 

were discussed.  Currently it was understood that the Council’s Planning Officers did 

not get involved in these types of cases at the appeal stage.  Recently a consultant 

Planning Officer had been employed to put together the case for Councillors prior to 

the appeal hearing.  The case had been lost.  It was felt that the Council’s Planning 

Officers should advocate the City Council’s position.  The legal position regarding 

this was discussed and the group felt that this should be followed up.   

Members then discussed, as raised at the previous meeting, that the officer attending 

the pre-application advice meetings should remain as the case officer throughout the 

planning application process.  Previous evidence had advised that when there was 

a change in case officer there was sometimes a change in the decision or conditions 

that were included if the application was to be recommended for approval.  This issue 

to be raised with the Head of Planning and Place.   

The Group discussed the Enforcement Section.  The Chair and vice-Chair of the 

Planning Regulatory Committee advised that there had been delays in dealing with 

enforcement cases which was due to understaffing.  However, things had improved 

recently.  The Group was also informed of the legal procedures regarding the 

enforcement processes.  Members of the Task Group to make a recommendation 

regarding the filling of the frozen post of Planning Enforcement Graduate in the 

Enforcement Section in view of possible complaints being made to the Council 

regarding delays and also the possible risk of complaints being referred to the Local 

Government Ombudsman.  This issue to be raised with the Head of Planning and 

Place.   

Generally, the Chair and Vice-Chair of the Planning Regulatory Committee felt that 

things were working well, Members of the Committee understood their roles and that 

there was a fair degree of support provided.  It was not perfect, but close to it.   

The Chair thanked Councillors Thornberry and Budden, Chair and Vice-Chair of the 

Planning Regulatory Committee, for their attendance and providing evidence to the 

Task Group.   

The Task Group agreed to consider draft recommendations by email, to then hold a 

meeting with the Head of Planning and Place to go through these prior to reporting 

to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee meeting.  Note:  If a meeting could not be 

arranged the draft recommendations to be submitted to the Head of Planning and 

Place via email.   

The Group agreed to consider recommendations from the evidence provided for 

inclusion in the Task Group’s final report.   

 
9. Findings 

 
At the final meeting the findings of the Task Group were discussed. The Group then 
considered the conclusions and recommendations. 
 

Page 11



 10 

A number of key emerging themes from the previous meetings were considered and 
the main issues/points to take forward as conclusions and recommendations of the 
Task Group were agreed.  
 
Generally, the planning service provided by the Council is a good one. The Council 

faces the usual challenges with recruitment and retention, especially at a senior level, 

because of competition for staff with private sector planning consultancies.   

Some users of the planning system are concerned that planning officers are not 

always consistent in their approach and this needs to be ever at the forefront of the 

head of department's mind. 

Enforcement is a real problem, this is due to short staffing and the Council needs to 

get the vacant post filled in spite of the freeze on recruitment. 

The Task Group supports the conclusions of the peer review, except that it does not 

think that too many applications come to committee, that the committee's role 

ensures some public confidence in the democratic accountability of the service, and 

that the call-in procedures should not be altered.   

 
10. Recommendations 

 
Set out below are the recommendations that have emerged from the Task Group’s 
work.   
 
From the evidence provided at its meeting held on 16 February the Task Group 
agrees that.   
 

 
Recommendation 1 
 

More (and more regular) training for members of Planning Regulatory Committee, 

including both planning law and on the respective roles of officers and members.   

 
From the evidence provided at its meeting held on 16 February the Task Group agrees 
that.  

 

 
Recommendation 2 
 
More guidance for residents wishing to speak at Committee meetings, in order to make 

the best of the available time, and more guidance for residents wishing to make written 

submissions.   

 
From the evidence provided at its meeting held on 16 February the Task Group agrees that.  
 

 
Recommendation 3 
 

That Council Business Committee, in the new municipal year, be requested to seek the 

views of the new Chair of the Planning Regulatory Committee as to the most suitable 

location for meetings of that Committee.   

 

Page 12



 11 

From the evidence provided at its meeting held on 16 February the Task Group agrees 
that.  

 
 
 

Recommendation 4 
 
There should be no change to the system of calling-in applications: the suggestion that 

there are too many is not supported by evidence from members.   

 
From the evidence provided at its meeting held on 16 February the Task Group agrees 
that.  

 

 
Recommendation 5 
 
No substantial change to the scheme of delegation, but if a way could be found to 

streamline decisions in cases where the application is only coming to committee because 

of a connexion between the applicant and a council officer, this might be helpful.  

 
From the evidence provided at its meeting held on 16 February the Task Group agrees 
that.  

 

 
Recommendation 6 
 
Presentations by officers at Committee should be made shorter.  Members can be 

expected to read the papers beforehand, so the presenting officer only needs to make a 

brief introduction, draw attention to any particular ‘highlights’ and then answer questions 

from members.   

 
From the evidence provided at its meeting held on 16 February the Task Group agrees 
that.  

 

 
Recommendation 7 
 
Officers should be encouraged to avoid advocacy of their recommendations.  Non-

delegated decisions are made by the Committee and officer recommendations are just 

that: professional recommendations. The role of officers is to advise the Committee, not 

push a particular view.  If the Committee refuses permission where officers had 

recommended approval, then officers should be prepared to assist the Council in arguing 

its own planning grounds for refusal against the applicant’s position in the event of an 

appeal to the extent that this can be done within the rules and codes of conduct of the 

Royal Town Planning Institute, or other relevant professional body. 

 
From the evidence provided at its meetings held on 10 and 16 February the Task Group 
agrees that. 
  

 
Recommendation 8 
 

When officers are determining matters of detail after the granting of outline planning 

permission, they should work co-operatively and proactively with applicants to settle 

Page 13



 12 

details. The current practice of rejecting detailed plans in relation to specific points, e.g., 

positioning of the building within the site, and then leaving it to the applicant to come up 

with new plans, which might also be rejected is wasteful of the time and other resources 

both of applicants and officers.  Officers should be prepared to state what would be 

acceptable to them, to enable applicants to submit or revise detailed plans accordingly.   

 
From the evidence provided at its meetings held on 10 and 16 February the Task Group 
agrees that.  

 

 
Recommendation 9 
 
It should be easier for applicants to secure a site visit by an officer – for a reasonable fee 

(if permitted by law).   

 
From the evidence provided at its meetings held on 10 and 16 February the Task Group 
agrees that.  

 

 
Recommendation 10 
 

With consistency being vital to public confidence in the planning system, the Task Group 

strongly urges that there should be constant review of the question of how to secure 

maximum consistency of approach amongst officers.   

 
From the evidence provided at its meetings held on 10 and 16 February the Task Group 
agrees that.  

 

 
Recommendation 11 
 

Pre-application advice should follow the application throughout the process, so that 

officers determining or making recommendations on an application will be aware of what 

advice was given to the applicant and seek to avoid taking views contrary to the advice 

where the applicant has adopted the advice given at pre-application stage.   

 
From the evidence provided at its meetings held on 10 and 16 February the Task Group 
agrees that.  

 

 
Recommendation 12 
 

Effective and prompt enforcement is vital to public confidence, and failure in this area 

might result in negative ombudsman findings as well as general reputational damage.  

Accordingly, it is recommended that the Council should lift the freeze on recruitment in 

respect of the post in enforcement left vacant by the appointee pulling out. It would also 

be helpful if elected members could receive periodic briefings as to priorities and 

application of the enforcement process, to enable them to deal most effectively with 

residents’ queries.   

  

Page 14



 13 

 

 

 

Page 15



Report of 

 

THE MORECAMBE FUTURE HIGH 

STREETS BID 

INFORMAL TASK GROUP 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 16



CONTENTS 

 

1. Foreword by Chairman of Overview & Scrutiny 

2. Summary of Recommendations 

3. Introduction 

4. Informal Task Group 

5. Findings 

6. Conclusions 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 17



FOREWORD 

 

Following the Council’s unsuccessful bid under HM Government’s Future High Streets 

Initiative, the Overview & Scrutiny Committee established an informal task group to 

consider why the bid had failed and what lessons might be learned from the experience in 

order to make success more likely in future bids. 

 

The Report of the task group was submitted to Cabinet on 8th June 2021 but was rejected 

on the grounds that it consisted substantially only of a list of recommendations, with 

insufficient explanation of the background giving rise to them.  I agreed to produce a fuller 

Report for consideration by Cabinet. This is the Report I promised.   

 

I was not a member of Overview & Scrutiny when this Report was prepared and did not 

participate in the task group or in the drafting of the original Report.  I have had to base this 

Report on notes and drafts supplied to me by my predecessor, Cllr Patricia Heath, for 

which I am grateful to her. 

 

 

Councillor Richard Austen-Baker 

LL.B., Ph.D., Barrister 

 

Chairman, Overview & Scrutiny Committee 

 

Abbeystead, August 2021 

 

 

  

Page 18



SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATIONS 

The recommendations have been re-ordered to reflect the order they appear in this report 

with some grammatical corrections.   

RECOMMENDATION 1 

 

That Officers ensure in future bids that consultants have a local 

knowledge base, and that use is made of expertise available in the area, 

including nearby universities. 

 

RECOMMENDATION 2 

 

That comparisons with other locales should be like-for-like: there is no 

benefit in comparing a seaside-based, seasonal tourist town with major 

city yields and operations. 

 

RECOMMENDATION 3 

 

That a Capital Strategy policy be developed to include the purchase of 

land in Morecambe. 

 

RECOMMENDATION 4: 

 

That any future bids (whether for Morecambe or other parts of the 

district or the district as a whole) involve consultation with a wider base 

of stakeholders, with a broader scope of interests, and further that all 

councillors in the affected area are invited to participate, from Town, City 

and County councils. 

 

RECOMMENDATION 5 

 

That full consultation takes place with County highways, rail and Eden 

North to ensure a whole structured, environmentally-friendly transport 

plan is conceived for the area. 

 

 

Page 19



RECOMMENDATION 6 

 

That more sustainable regeneration proposals are developed following 

wider consultation. 

 

RECOMMENDATION 7 

 

That conversion of empty business premises and new build of housing 

should be undertaken throughout the town centre, to bring back the 

community feel of the whole central area. 

 

RECOMMENDATION 8: 

 

That the Winter Gardens is an essential part of Morecambe’s future and 

should be a part of any future bid of a similar nature. 

 

 

RECOMMENDATION 9: 

 

That the Council tries to source other funding for hyperfast broadband in 

Morecambe. 

 

 

 

RECOMMENDATION 10: 

(i) That this bid is not reused/recycled in the future, as it is outdated 

and no longer fit for purpose post-COVID. 

(ii) That a new Morecambe Area Action Plan is drafted with full 

participation of all Morecambe councillors and with business 

representatives. 

(iii) That for clarity, an Executive Summary be attached to officers’ 

reports on, which also defines the original Council brief, tasks 

undertaken, personnel involved and third party outsourcing 

responsibilities.  

RECOMMENDATION 11 

 

That, as a rule, final bids (which ultimately involve spending 

commitments by the Council) should be signed off by the Departmental 

Head, the Chief Executive, the portfolio-holder and the Leader of the 

Council. 

Page 20



 

 

1 INTRODUCTION 

 

1.1 The Future High Streets Fund (‘FHSF’) was launched by HM Government in 

December 2018 to ‘…support and fund local areas’ plans to make their high streets 

and town centres fit for the future’ (Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local 

Government, Future High Streets Fund Call for Proposals, 26 December 2018).  The 

fund offered a total of £675 million pounds in co-funding, as well as the offer of 

expert input and assistance, and represented an attempt to assist in redevelopment 

of town centre areas in decline.  The history of Morecambe’s decline as a tourist 

destination and its accompanying general social and economic malaise is well-known 

locally.  The causes of this and the prospects of visitor-led rejuvenation of the town 

are canvassed in, amongst other places, D. Jarratt, ‘The Development and Decline of 

Morecambe in the 19th and 20th Centuries: A resort caught in the tide’ (2019) 11 

Journal of Tourism History 1-21.  The revival of Morecambe’s economic, physical and 

social fabric is generally seen as a key priority for Lancaster City Council, and 

Morecambe was an obvious candidate for support such as that offered by the FHSF. 

 

1.1 Lancaster City Council submitted a bid to the fund on 21st March 2019 

 

1.2 A letter to Councillor Heath from Luke Hall MP (Minister for Regional Growth and 

Local Government) of 28 June 2021 (hereinafter ‘the letter’ or ‘the Government 

letter’) explained that although the bid passed the ‘gateway’ criteria it fell very far 

short of the central benefit cost ratio (‘BCR’) threshold required for a successful bid.  

The original bid document stated in its first line that the BCR was expected to be -

0.48.  This increased after clarification to +0.27, but that is still a long way short of 

the +2.0 expected.  The Council argued that conditions in Morecambe were 

especially challenging owing to market failure and low land values, which are not 

unique to Morecambe, as the minister points out in paragraph 4 of his letter: ‘The 

Fund has awarded up to £149m to 13 local authorities in the North West, all 

experiencing a challenging context.  [The Council] may wish to contact them and 

learn about how they addressed similar issues.’  Further feedback in the minister’s 

letter identified that ‘…whilst there was some evidence of stakeholder engagement, 

public consultation had not taken place, so could not evidence the public backing we 

were looking to see demonstrated.’  Deliverability was also a concern because 

‘…contingencies were on the low side given the early nature of the projects and no 

allowance for optimism bias.’  Council funding had not been explicitly approved; 

private sector funding had not been secured; there was a lack of clarity as to the 

rationale for calculating levels of grant required for some aspects, for example, the 

market hall.  Inadequate progress had been made on contractual arrangements with 

much work to be undertaken, including negotiations with market traders, leading to 

a risk that not all funding could be deployed by the end date of 31 March 2024. 

 

Page 21



1.3 The bid process was managed by the directorate for Economic Growth and 

Regeneration and signed off by the Director of Economic Growth and Regeneration.    

 

2 TASK GROUP 

 

2.1 On 10th March 2021 the Overview & Scrutiny Committee resolved to establish an 

informal task group to establish what went wrong with the bid and what could be 

improved in relation to future bids.  The membership of the task group was as 

follows: Councillors Anderton, Dennison, Duggan, Heath and Matthews.  Councillor 

Heath chaired the Task Group meetings.   

2.2 The task group assessed documentary evidence as well as having oral input from a 

number of people with relevant knowledge. 

At the Committee meeting on 10th March 2021 the Director of Economic Growth 

and Regeneration attended the meeting and provided the Committee with an 

overview of the recent Future High Street bid for Morecambe.   

 

The Task Group met on two occasions.  At the task group meeting held on 15th 

April 2021, the Director of Economic Growth and Regeneration along with the 

Head of Economic Growth attended the meeting to discuss the bid process 

and respond to questions from Members of the group.  This was an evidence 

gathering meeting.   

 

The minutes of the Committee and Task Group meetings when this issue was 

considered are Appended to this report as Appendix B.   

 
2.3 The Report of the task group was submitted to Cabinet to consider on 8th June 2021.  

After some discussion Cabinet agreed to defer consideration of the item to the next 

Cabinet meeting in order that enquiries could be made with Democratic Services as 

to whether there was a report from the task group that could be presented to Cabinet 

along with the recommendations.   

2.4 As referred to in the Foreword to this report the current Chairman of the Overview 

and Scrutiny Committee was not a member of Overview & Scrutiny when the Report 

was prepared and did not participate in the task group or in the drafting of the original 

Report.  He has agreed to produce a fuller Report for consideration by Cabinet. 

 

3 FINDINGS 

 

3.1 The reasons given by the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 

for the failure of the City Council’s bid have already been adumbrated above 

(paragraph 1.3).  They may be summarized as: (i) very low BCR, far below the 

Page 22



threshold set by HMG; (ii) lack of evidence of public engagement; (iii) insufficient 

clarity relating to delivery, in particular inadequate contingencies, poorly explained 

rationales, and a lack of evidence of realism (optimism bias); (iv) a failure to put 

Council and private-sector funding commitments in place; and (v) inadequate 

progress on connected matters (e.g., negotiations with market traders).  This Report 

will briefly deal with these in turn, before considering a number of substantive 

elements of the bid which caused concern to the members of the task group. The 

Report will turn finally to general questions of process not addressed elsewhere in 

the Report.  

 

 

3.2 Low Cost-Benefit Ratio 

 

3.2.1 HMG’s criteria for bids included a ‘BCR’ (benefit-to-cost ratio, more usually referred 

to as a cost-benefit ratio) of +2.0 or better.  That is to say, that for every £1 spent 

under the bid, at least £2 of benefits should accrue to the local economy.  The City 

Council’s bid opened with a statement to the effect that we recognized that our bid 

failed to meet this criterion, having actually a negative BCR of -0.48.  For every pound 

spent, then, there would only be 52 pence of benefit to the area.  Given this analysis, 

it is hard to avoid the question of why a bid was submitted at all.  However, the so-

called ‘gateway’ criteria were met and funding of £150,000 was given to the Council 

allowing expertise to be bought in to improve the bid.  The net benefit of this money 

was to improve the BCR to a positive +0.27, meaning that for every pound spent 

£1.27 of benefits would be achieved.  This was still a very long way below the 

threshold. 

 

3.2.2 The robustness of the economic assumptions underlying the stated BCRs is also a 

matter which ought to have been questioned before any bid was submitted.  While it 

is not certain that they were not robust, it is equally unclear that the various possible 

outturns were given adequate consideration.  For instance, a programme of 

investment improving a town centre environment, and capital investment in town 

centre land, might well act as correctives for market failure and a stimulus for 

increasing land values.  Indeed, that is part of the rationale of such investment.  The 

engagement of economic analysts, perhaps from the university, might have resulted 

in a different view being taken of the BCR achievable from the proposals.  This 

seems not to have been the only area where choice of consultants and the design of 

consultation processes could have been better. 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS: 

 

That Officers ensure in future bids that consultants have a local 

knowledge base, and that use is made of expertise available in the area, 

including nearby universities. 

Page 23



That comparisons with other locales should be like-for-like: there is no 

benefit in comparing a seaside-based, seasonal tourist town with major 

city yields and operations. 

That a Capital Strategy policy be developed to include the purchase of 

land in Morecambe. 

 

 

 

3.3 Lack of Evidence of Public Engagement 

 

3.3.1 The Government letter identified this is a consideration.  The letter stated that 

HMG expected evidence of public backing for bids, but that this was lacking in 

Morecambe’s case because a public consultation had not been held.  It seems that 

the only consultee was Morecambe Coastal Communities Team (‘MCCT’), which 

was set up by the Council and comprised three councillors from one political 

grouping and two festival organizers.  Morecambe BID was listed but the 

management board was not in fact consulted.  Morecambe Town Council was also 

listed as a consultee, but again, members were not consulted: the chair at the time 

was one of the three councillors on the MCCT.  It is evident that HMG did not 

consider this to amount to public consultation at all.  MCCT does not appear to 

represent a sufficiently wide range of stakeholders and viewpoints. 

 

3.3.2 It is, perhaps, not surprising in the circumstances, that the bid was heavily reliant on 

the development/maintenance of festival events, the wider benefits of which are not 

demonstrated and may be questionable. 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS: 

 

(i) That any future bids involve consultation with a wider base of 

stakeholders, with a broader scope of interests. 

(ii) That all Morecambe councillors are invited to participate, from Town, 

City and County councils. 

 

3.4 Insufficient Clarity Relating to Delivery 

 

3.4.1 The Government letter contains the following paragraph: 

 

The picture on deliverability was more mixed.  There was a reasonable delivery plan and 

budget costings were generally clear.  However, contingencies were on the low side given the 

early nature of the projects and no allowance for optimism bias.  Risks existed on co-funding 

as council co-funding had not been expressly approved and the private sector funding was 

Page 24



not secured.  In some cases, it was not clear what the rationale was for calculating the level 

of FHSF grant required e.g. market hall.  Finally, with respect to contractual arrangements, it 

appeared that a great deal of work still needed to be undertaken on a number of complex 

projects including negotiations with market traders.  Consequently, there was a risk that not 

all funding would be deployed by 31 March 2024 when the FHSF grant would end. 

 

3.4.2 This is a fairly damning judgment on the bid put forward by the Council.  It is 

impossible to avoid asking why Council funding had not been approved and why 

private-sector funding was also not secured.  These would be, in anyone’s terms, 

basic matters to be established before the bid was put forward.  In the view of the 

task group, these are basic failings in approving the bid document. It is not clear that 

a proper business plan was put forward.  If not, why not?  Indeed, evidence seems to 

be lacking of business plans being prepared for major Council projects generally. 

Why is this?  An individual businessperson approaching a funding source would be 

expected to have a fully worked-out business plan to back their funding bids. 

 

3.4.3 The question of contingencies being ‘on the low side’ and ‘optimism bias’ are matters 

of professional judgment and the papers on which this Report is based do not give 

sufficient grounds for comment beyond saying that these points need to be borne in 

mind during preparation of future bids. 

 

 

 

3.5 Inadequate Progress on Connected Matters 

 

3.5.1 There seems to have been a lack of evidence put in to support the bid, in relation to 

connected matters, so any progress was not made clear (assuming progress had 

been made). 

 

3.6 The task group considered and made recommendations on a number of substantive 

specifics, viz.:  (1) ‘Destination Morecambe’; (2) ‘New Contemporary Heart’; (3) 

redevelopment of telephone exchange car park; (4) Winter Gardens provision; (5) 

‘Art Deco Revival’; (6) ‘Start-up St Laurence’; (7) ‘Animated Arndale’; and (8) 

Hyperfast broadband.  These will now be considered in turn and in that order. 

 

3.6.1 ‘Destination Morecambe’ 

 

3.6.1.1 This concerned ‘restructuring and reimagining how people arrive and connect with 

the town.  the bid was very vague on how this was to be achieved.  For instance, 

station platforms are open to the elements, but there was no suggestion of covering 

for protection of passengers.  There are no directional signs - passengers arrive to a 

‘void’ and at a loss of which way to turn, but this has not been addressed. There 

were no details on directing vehicles to the centre of town or the car parks 

Page 25



etc.   The Task Group was at a loss to find any positive suggestions as to what this 

would actually mean. 

 

 

RECOMMENDATION: 

 

That full consultation takes place with County highways, rail and Eden 

North to ensure a whole structured, environmentally-friendly transport 

plan is conceived for the area. 

 

 

3.6.2 ‘New Contemporary Heart’ 

 

3.6.2.1 The bid proposed one new indoor and two outdoor events areas, alongside the 

indoor facility at the Winter Gardens and the proposed events venue at Eden North, 

without any suggestions as to how all these areas would be sustainable, and no 

revenue budget from which they could be facilitated. 

 

3.6.2.2 In respect of the proposed indoor events space, the task group observes that the 

current ‘Festival Market’ was originally built as an indoor events space, but it only 

lasted a short time before it became a permanent market, because it was not 

sustainable as an indoor events venue, even at a time when the Council had its own 

large arts and events department.  The bid does not make clear why the proposed 

indoor events space would not merely be a repeat of the same mistake.  Moreover, 

the scheme does not make clear where the 80-plus existing businesses would be 

relocated. 

 

3.6.2.3 In respect of the additional outside events spaces, there is no rationale given for the 

establishment of these.  If these spaces were only in occasional use, and unused for 

most days in the year, it is hard to see what value they add.  Again, there is no 

mention of revenue funding to support festivals year-round. 

 

3.6.2.4 The task group noted that the Portas funding attempted to repurpose Victoria Street 

as the town’s ‘high street’ was unsuccessful.  The group believed that the Promenade 

will always be Morecambe’s ‘high street’ and the bid missed the chance to direct 

people from the Promenade into the various business-based streets behind. 

 

RECOMMENDATION: 

 

That more sustainable regeneration proposals are developed following 

wider consultation. 

 

  

Page 26



 

3.6.3 Development of Telephone Exchange Car Park 

 

3.6.3.1 The task group found that there was no clear rationale for developing more retail 

premises when there are so many retail premises in Morecambe that are empty at 

the present time.   

 

RECOMMENDATION: 

 

That conversion of empty business premises and new build of housing 

should be undertaken throughout the town centre, to bring back the 

community feel of the whole central area. 

 

3.6.4 Winter Gardens 

 

3.6.4.1 The task group approved that aspect of the bid which concerned the provision of 

essential new infrastructure at the Winter Gardens, to increase capacity, 

opportunities and viability. 

 

RECOMMENDATION: 

 

That this aspect is an essential part of Morecambe’s future and should be 

a part of any future bid of a similar nature. 

 

3.6.5 Art Deco Revival 

 

3.6.5.1 The task group agreed with the principle of bringing former department store 

buildings back into use, as the bid proposed.  However, it was unclear in the bid how 

this was to be achieved. 

 

3.6.6 Start-up St Laurence 

 

3.6.6.1 The proposal here was the provision of high-quality workspace in order to boost 

Morecambe’s ‘offer’ to business.  The task group considered that more information 

was needed on this aspect of the bid and observed that the cost of this seems 

extremely high. 

  

Page 27



 

3.6.7 ‘Animated Arndale’ 

 

3.6.7.1 This came with the strapline ‘creating flexible spaces to activate traditional shopping 

core’.  The task group was unclear what this actually meant.  Would it, for instance, 

mean another void events area?  Again, more detail is required in future, including 

specifics on use and sustainability, lacking in the bid.  Questions of detail will need to 

be addressed; for instance, would the current problematic access to the 

delivery/service area be changed? 

 

3.6.8 Hyperfast Broadband 

 

3.6.8.1 This involved installation of engineered servicing to facilitate hyperfast broadband 

provision for Morecambe town centre.  The task group considered this to be an 

essential development, the future of which should not be blighted by the failure of 

this bid. 

 

RECOMMENDATION: 

 

That the Council tries to source other funding for this essential purpose. 

 

 

4 CONCLUSIONS 

 

4.1 Morecambe represents a clear case for intervention to revive a struggling tourist-

based economy, and to restore a sense of purpose, pride and community cohesion.  

The town ought to succeed in bids such as the FHSF and was indeed expected to do 

so.  That the bid failed was due to multiple factors, which have been identified and 

discussed in this Report.   

 

4.2 There would seem to be various reasons for the unsuccessful bid.  These include 

over confidence and a lack of use of expertise and experience in the local area.  Not 

enough local consultation was undertaken in the pre-bid processes.  There is also 

the need for a more open and wider consultation from a wider range of people with 

an interest and expertise in the relevant field, elected members of the City Council 

and relevant town and/or parish councils, and the wider public   

 

Without a change in outlook and attitudes, there is little likelihood of learning from 

past errors to improve success rates in the future.   

 

Page 28



4.3 A culture of transparency and accountability, coupled with a willingness to listen to a 

wide range of voices and adapt proposals to take account of outside views, would 

probably lead to greater success in future bids and proposals.  A more business-like 

approach to planned investments is also needed, involving the development on each 

occasion of proper business plans, revenue projections, and criteria for failure (e.g., 

‘the project will be considered to have failed if: (a) the cost exceeds budget by more 

than 10%; or (b) practical completion is more than 6 months behind schedule…’), 

and proper oversight of major projects, bids and proposals needs to be maintained at 

all stages, to avoid a silo situation, where one senior officer is in complete control 

from start to finish.  Nevertheless, there should be a senior officer who has 

‘ownership’ of a project or bid, and will be held accountable if it fails (as well as being 

given due credit where it succeeds). 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS: 

(iv) That this bid is not reused/recycled in the future, as it is outdated 

and no longer fit for purpose post-COVID. 

(v) That a new Morecambe Area Action Plan is drafted with full 

participation of all Morecambe councillors and with business 

representatives. 

(vi) That for clarity, an Executive Summary be attached to officers’ 

reports on, which also defines the original Council brief, tasks 

undertaken, personnel involved and third party outsourcing 

responsibilities. 

(vii) That, as a rule, final bids (which ultimately involve spending 

commitments by the Council) should be signed off by the 

Departmental Head, the Chief Executive, the portfolio-holder and 

the Leader of the Council. 

 

  

Page 29



Appendix B 

 

 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee meeting – 10th March 2021 

The Chairman welcomed the Corporate Director for Economic Growth and 
Regeneration, the Cabinet Member with responsibility for Sustainable Economic 
Prosperity and the Cabinet Member with responsibility for Economic Recovery & 
Resilience to the meeting. 
 
The Corporate Director for Economic Growth and Regeneration provided the 
Committee with an overview of the recent Future High Street bid for Morecambe.  
 
Members were advised of the application process and the reasons the Ministry of 
Housing, Communities and Local Government gave for the bid being unsuccessful. 
The bid was one of many Lancashire bids that were not successful with only one in the 
county securing funding. 
 
It was suggested that an Informal Task Group be established to consider the bid and 
report back to the next meeting of the Committee and that the 2 Cabinet Members be 
invited to the April meeting to consider the Task Group’s findings. 
 
Resolved :- 
 
(1) That the Corporate Director for Economic Growth and Regeneration and the 

Cabinet Members be thanked for their attendance at the meeting. 
 
(2) That an Informal Task Group be established to consider the bid and report back 

to the next meeting of the Committee. 
 
(3) That the 2 Cabinet Members be invited to the April meeting to consider the Task 

Group’s findings. 
 

Task Group Meeting – 30th March 2021 

The Informal Task Group had a general discussion about the Future High Street 

Morecambe bid.   

As it was such a lengthy document, it was agreed that the consideration of the 

document would be split between two groups and reported back to the next 

meeting of the Group. 

Task Group Meeting – 15th April 2021 

The Director for Economic Growth and Regeneration gave the Group a detailed 

overview of the process that was undertaken in submitting the bid for the Future 

High Streets funding. Members of the Group were guided through the criteria and 

the complexities of putting the bid together and how resource intensive this was. 

The Group went on to discuss the issue of land value in Morecambe and the benefit 

cost ratio the Government applied to such projects which put Morecambe at a huge 

disadvantage. 

Page 30



Members of the Group asked a number of questions relating to the bid and how 

Morecambe’s chances could be improved for future bids. 

The Chair thanked the Director of Economic Development and Regeneration and 

the Head of Economic Development for their attendance and valuable input into the 

meeting.  

Overview and Scrutiny Committee meeting – 28th April 2021 

The Chairman presented the recommendations of the Morecambe Future High 

Street Bid Informal Task Group. It was reported that the informal group had studied 

the failed bid and had a number of positive suggestions to assist with future bids for 

funding for the district that the City Council made. 

The Committee considered each recommendation individually and made comments.   

The Report of the task group was submitted to Cabinet to consider on 8th June 

2021.   

 

Page 31



Page 32



Page 33



The Lancaster City Surface Water Management Plan (copy attached for your 
information) identifies the preferred surface water management strategy for 
mitigating surface water flood risks around the city centre.  
 
It was produced in 2021 by the county council's consultants, Jacobs, with input from 
all the flood risk management authorities (specifically: officers from the lead local 
flood authority, the local highway authority, Lancaster City Council, the Environment 
Agency and United Utilities). The key finding of the study was that an adaptive 
approach is required to bolster resilience to flooding, both now and in the face of 
climate change, with all stakeholders and partners continually working together over 
the long-term. The report makes it clear that every opportunity to attenuate rainfall in 
storm conditions should be used, to reduce the rate at which water enters 
underground drainage systems. In this way the potential for the drainage systems to 
be overwhelmed is reduced. 
 
Since the report was presented to partners, the government has issued a series of 
updated climate change predictions impacting on the future sea levels and rainfall 
scenarios accounted for in the report. These updates need to be captured within the 
study in order to confirm the recommended action plan included within the report, 
and the relative priorities that should be allocated to the different activities. Once that 
refresh is complete, a confirmed Action Plan will be established with a delivery plan 
and monitoring programme linking into the Lancashire Flood Risk Management 
Strategy, which the relevant partner organisations can use to inform your council of 
progress. I expect this process to take around 6 months, working within existing 
cycles of liaison meetings. 
 
Until the report and the Action Plan have been refreshed and confirmed, and a 
relevant delivery plan and monitoring programme have been established, there will 
be no collected evidence to share with the Scrutiny Committee and it would therefore 
not be appropriate for the county council to attend the meeting on 6 March. 
 
To supplement this work to update the Surface Water Management Plan, I have 
established a liaison with your officers in the Engineers and Planning teams to 
explore how best to use the Surface Water Management Plan to influence the 
surface water management plans included with various emerging development 
projects, and to explore whether we can secure any DEFRA investment funds that 
might be available to contribute to works that better protect homes from flooding. 
 
I trust this advice will be helpful to your Committee. 
 
Rachel Crompton (she/her) 
Principal Flood Risk Officer 
Lancashire County Council 
 

Page 34Agenda Item 6



  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 
Lancaster City Surface Water Management Plan 

SWMP Report & Action Plan 

B2319000-JAC-ZZ-LC-RP-Z-1101 | P02 

March 2021 

Lancashire County Council 

ML/CAS/LCC/16/523/1 

SWM P R epo rt & Actio n Pl an  

Lancashir e Co un ty C ouncil  

 

 

P
age 35



SWMP Report & Action Plan 
 

 

 

 

B2319000-JAC-ZZ-LC-RP-Z-1101  i 

Lancaster City Surface Water Management Plan 

Project No: B2319000 

Document Title: SWMP Report & Action Plan 

Document No.: B2319000-JAC-ZZ-LC-RP-Z-1101 

Revision: P02 

Document Status: Final 

Date: March 2021 

Client Name: Lancashire County Council 

Client No: ML/CAS/LCC/16/523/1 

Project Manager: Chris Isherwood 

Author: Rhys Kibble & Krystina Roope 

File Name: B2319000-JAC-ZZ-LC-RP-Z-1101-P02 - Lancaster SWMP 

 Jacobs U.K. Limited 

  

5 First Street 

Manchester 

M15 4GU 

  

  

www.jacobs.com 

© Copyright 2021 Jacobs U.K. Limited. The concepts and information contained in this document are the 

property of Jacobs. Use or copying of this document in whole or in part without the written permission of Jacobs 

constitutes an infringement of copyright. 

Limitation:  This document has been prepared on behalf of, and for the exclusive use of Jacobs’ client, and is subject to, and 

issued in accordance with, the provisions of the contract between Jacobs and the client.  Jacobs accepts no liability or 

responsibility whatsoever for, or in respect of, any use of, or reliance upon, this document by any third party.  

Document history and status 

Revision Date Description Author Checked Reviewed Approved 

P01 Nov 20 Draft for client 

review 

R Kibble 

K Roope 

C Isherwood C Isherwood C Isherwood 

P02 March 

21 

Final review 

following client 

comments 

R Kibble 

K Roope 

C Isherwood C Isherwood C Isherwood 

       

       

       

       

 

 

 

P
age 36



SWMP Report & Action Plan 
 

 

 

 

B2319000-JAC-ZZ-LC-RP-Z-1101  i 

Contents 

1. Background ............................................................................................................... 1 

1.1 December 2015 Floods .................................................................................................... 1 

1.2 Post-Event Flood Risk Management Actions ........................................................... 3 

2. Preparation ................................................................................................................ 4 

2.1 Why a Surface Water Management Plan? .................................................................. 4 

2.2 Study area............................................................................................................................... 6 

2.3 Partnership Working ........................................................................................................... 7 

3. Risk Assessment ....................................................................................................... 8 

3.1 Introduction ........................................................................................................................... 8 

3.2 Approach ................................................................................................................................ 8 

3.3 Catchment Characteristics and Flood Mechanisms ............................................. 13 

3.4 Catchment A: Upper Caton Road ................................................................................ 14 

3.5 Catchment B: Lower Caton Road ................................................................................. 17 

3.6 Catchment C: City Centre................................................................................................ 20 

3.7 Catchment D: Upland....................................................................................................... 24 

3.8 Catchment E: Lucy Brook ................................................................................................ 26 

3.9 Catchment F: Marsh .......................................................................................................... 28 

3.10 Surface Water Flood Consequences........................................................................... 30 

4. Options .................................................................................................................... 40 

4.1 Introduction ......................................................................................................................... 40 

4.2 Surface Water Flood Risk Management Strategy ................................................. 40 

4.3 Identify Measures and Options .................................................................................... 43 

4.4 Catchment A: Upper Caton Road - Options ............................................................ 45 

4.5 Catchment B: Lower Caton Road - Options ............................................................. 46 

4.6 Catchment C: City Centre - Options ........................................................................... 47 

4.7 Catchment D: Upland – Options.................................................................................. 49 

5. Implementation & Review ................................................................................... 50 

5.1 Action Plan .......................................................................................................................... 50 

5.2 Implementation ................................................................................................................. 50 

5.3 Review ................................................................................................................................... 50 

5.4 Monitoring ........................................................................................................................... 50 

 

Appendix A. Existing datasets, plans, studies and investigations 

Appendix B. Roles and responsibilities 

Appendix C. References 

 

 

 

 

P
age 37



SWMP Report & Action Plan 
 

 

 

 

B2319000-JAC-ZZ-LC-RP-Z-1101  1 

1. Background 

1.1 December 2015 Floods 

December 2015 was an extraordinary month in both meteorological and 

hydrological terms, with some of the most widespread and severe flooding 

witnessed in the UK. 

In the period preceding December 2015, November was a stormy month, with a 

series of vigorous depressions bringing heavy rainfall and strong winds. These 

included three named storms: Storms Abigail, Barney and Clodagh. Whilst notable 

daily rainfalls were registered, the primary feature of the heavy rainfall was its 

persistence with rain falling almost every day throughout this period. The rainfall 

totals in the North West were more than twice the normal for the region (215%), 

with eleven catchments across Cumbria, Lancashire and Yorkshire for which the 

rainfall for November was second highest on record (since 1910) and second only to 

November 20091. 

The above average rainfall in November 2015 effectively caused high ground and 

lower-lying areas to become saturated, decreasing its hydraulic capacity and in 

effect reducing the ability of the soil to absorb future rainfall.  

Over the period of December 2015, slow-moving low-pressure systems (including 

the named storms Desmond, Eva and Frank), driven by a sustained moist south-

westerly airflow, brought record-breaking levels of rainfall, which resulted in 

exceptional flow levels within major rivers across Lancashire and Cumbria. Several 

major flood events followed causing widespread and severe impacts with around 

16,000 properties flooded in England in December alone2. In January, the 

Association of British Insurers (ABI) estimated the final bill for the flood damage 

caused by storms Desmond, Eva and Frank to homes, businesses and motor vehicles 

to be £1.3 billion3. 

Throughout Lancashire, approximately 2,500 homes across 229 separate 

communities were flooded4. The City of Lancaster was one of the worst affected 

areas over the period of the 4th – 7th December 2015. 

The cause of flooding in Lancaster appears complex. During this event, the River 

Lune reached a flow of 1,742m3/s at the Caton gauging station, the highest flow 

ever recorded on the Lune and a new record for an English river at the time. These 

high flows and level resulted in the Lune overtopping its banks and flooding the 

Lansil Industrial Estate. Although the Lune played a part, anecdotal evidence and 

observations made during the event suggest that other sources and mechanisms 

including surface water runoff, may have played an important role when focusing on 

the City Centre. With persistent heavy and intense rainfall, urban drainage networks 

were overloaded, with local topography and high levels in the River Lune causing 

tide locked culverts, leaving nowhere for the water to go, and ultimately causing the 

flooding within the City centre. River levels dropped over the 48 hours after the 

flooding event; however, surface water drainage networks in parts of the City 

continued to be exceeded causing continual extensive but shallow surface water 

flooding, particularly around the Damside Street and North Road area. 

Whilst the City centre has been subject to localised flooding events in the past, it has 

not experienced such a significant incident as the December 2015 floods, with the 

combination of flood sources resulting in approximately 332 properties / businesses 

flooded throughout the City. In addition, overtopping of the River Lune also affected 

an electricity substation, on Caton Road, which resulted in approximately 61,000 

homes and businesses being without power for nearly 48 hours. The flooding also 

damaged private gardens, garages and out-buildings, business premises, 

agricultural property and many items of critical public infrastructure including roads, 

bridges and retaining walls, water treatment plants, power and communications 

installations, and essential community buildings such as schools, village and town 

halls5.  

During the flooding and recovery period, the police, fire and rescue service, and NHS 

provided immediate emergency support to those in need. Risk Management 

Authorities (RMAs) including Lancashire County Council, the Environment Agency, 

United Utilities and Lancaster City Council also played a major role undertaking 

flood risk activities and ensuring the free flow of communication and collaborative 

works between other parties and the local community. These activities occurred for 

several weeks after the event as the disruption of the flood event and subsequent 

recovery phase continued within the City.  

P
age 38



SWMP Report & Action Plan 
 

 

 

 

B2319000-JAC-ZZ-LC-RP-Z-1101  2 

Figure 1-1: December 2015 flood extents 

   
Lansil Industrial Estate 

Lancaster Bus Station 

P
age 39



SWMP Report & Action Plan 
 

 

 

 

B2319000-JAC-ZZ-LC-RP-Z-1101  3 

1.2 Post-Event Flood Risk Management Actions  

Given the severity of the flooding in December 2015, the Environment Agency are 

currently delivering a £10.8million scheme to provide 2.8km (1.7 miles) of 

enhanced flood defences to provide protection from the River Lune to Lansil 

Industrial Estate, Riverside Industrial Estate, and Caton Road Retail Park from fluvial 

flooding. The work started in January 2020 with the works substantially completing 

in early 2021. Additional landscaping and tree planting works will be taking place in 

Spring 2021. 

Lancashire County Council as Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) and other RMAs 

including the Environment Agency, United Utilities, Lancaster City Council also 

started to work together to undertake several key instigations, surveys and studies to 

understand and manage the risk of surface water flooding within City centre.  A 

timeline of these works is provided below.  

Figure 1-2: Timeline of key instigations, surveys and studies 

Dec 

2015 

 Major flood 

event impacts 

City Centre 

RMA respond to flood event and undertake 

repairs, investigation and improvement works. 

Oct 

2016 

Publication of 

Section 19 

Investigation 

Report and 

District Flood 

Reports 

The Council publish its investigation under the 

requirements of S19 of the FWMA 2010 into how 

communities were flooded during the December 

2015 event. The investigation recommends RMA 

support to the Environment Agency on 

progressing Phase 3 of the Lancaster FAS and 

additional work to reduce the risks of surface 

water flooding around the City. 

Dec 

2016 

Multi-agency 

Steering 

Group 

A Steering Group is formed between Lancaster 

City Council, United Utilities and the Environment 

Agency, with Lancashire County Council leading 

as the lead flood risk authority. 

Mar 

2017 

Catchment 

Study 

Defra, the Environment Agency, Lancaster City 

Council and Lancashire County Council commit 

funds to undertake a Catchment Study to 

understand the possible sources, probability, 

mechanics, and consequences of extreme surface 

water flood events within the City centre. 

Sept 

2018 

Catchment 

Study 

workshop 

The results of the catchment study are presented 

to the Steering Group including discussions on 

potential strategic options to reduce surface 

water flood risk. 

Mar 

2019 

Investigations 

and Surveys 

The Steering Group commission a detailed survey 

of the Mill Race drainage system, a surface water 

management study along Caton Road (referred 

to as Phase 3a), and this City centre Surface 

Water Management Plan. 

Dec 

2019 

Mill Race 

Survey 

A 3D laser scan of the Mill Race underneath the 

City is undertaken over the summer of 2019 and 

CCTV survey in summer 2020 with data collected 

to understand its exact location and condition of 

the culvert.  

Jan 

2020 

SWMP 

Workshop 

A workshop held to provide partners with an 

opportunity to share local knowledge and discuss 

how surface water flood risks can be managed 

collectively through various existing or future 

investments, plans and policies.  

Mar 

2021 
Final SWMP 

Publication of this final SWMP report, which is 

ultimately the amalgamation of the above works 

in one coherent document, which then sets out 

the future strategy for reducing the risk of surface 

water flooding in the City centre.  

P
age 40



SWMP Report & Action Plan 
 

 

 

 

B2319000-JAC-ZZ-LC-RP-Z-1101  4 

2. Preparation 

2.1 Why a Surface Water Management Plan?  

Since March 2017, Lancashire County Council in partnership with other RMAs have 

commissioned Jacobs UK Ltd to undertake several investigations, studies and 

surveys, as outlined in the timeline in Section 1.2. Each of these aims to develop the 

understanding of surface water flood risk across the City centre, the role in which 

existing surface water drainage assets may play, and the potential for possible flood 

management or alleviation works to take place.  

Following the completion of the Catchment Study in 20186 and given the unique 

geographical and urban constraints within Lancaster, it was clear that no single 

solution would be able to address the risk of surface water flooding. A longer-term 

strategic vision would therefore be required that allows all partners and 

stakeholders to work together to improve flood resilience by making the best land 

use and development choices, protecting people and places, and responding to and 

recovering from flooding and coastal change, whilst all the time adapting to climate 

change.  

It was therefore agreed that the completion of a Surface Water Management Plan 

(SWMP) would provide the most suitable vehicle to progress the development of 

this vision. This will be achieved by bringing partners and stakeholders together to 

understand the causes and effects of surface water flooding and agree the most 

cost-effective way of managing surface water flood risk over the long term. This 

could utilise existing capital investment, operational and maintenance programmes, 

and/or non-flood risk plans, policies and strategies.  

The framework for undertaking SWMPs is set out in the national  SWMP Technical 

Guidance, which was published by Defra in 20107 and was written for Local 

Authorities to assist them as they co-ordinate and lead local flood risk management 

 
i
 Consideration of sewer flooding in ‘dry weather’ resulting from blockage, collapse or pumping station 

mechanical failure is excluded from SWMPs as this is for the sole concern of the sewerage undertaker.  

activities as required under the Flood and Water Management Act 2010. Figure 2-1 

helps to illustrates this framework and the specific study objectives. 

By working through the four main stages, the aim of the SWMP is ultimately to 

establish a long-term action plan to manage surface water. The implementation of 

this strategy should then be monitored and reviewed, with partners and 

stakeholders regularly meeting to provide updates on actions and agree further 

work if necessary. 

In this context surface water flooding describes flooding from: 

▪ Surface water runoff as a result of high intensity rainfall when water is ponding 

or flowing over the ground surface (including overland flows from the 

urban/rural fringe entering the built-up area) before it enters the 

underground drainage network or watercourse, or cannot enter it because the 

network is full to capacity, thus causing flooding (known as pluvial flooding). 

▪ Flooding from groundwater (including overland flows resulting from 

groundwater sources) where groundwater is defined as all water which is 

below the surface of the ground and in direct contact with the ground or 

subsoil. 

▪ Sewer floodingi; flooding which occurs when the capacity of underground 

systems is exceeded due to heavy rainfall, resulting in flooding inside and 

outside of buildings. Note that the normal discharge of sewers and drains 

through outfalls may be impeded by high water levels in receiving waters as a 

result of wet weather or tidal conditions. 

▪ Flooding from open-channel and culverted watercourses, which receive most 

of their flow from inside the urban area and perform an urban drainage 

function. 

By resilience, we mean “The capacity of people and places to plan for, better 

protect, respond to and recover from flooding and coastal change.”   

P
age 41



SWMP Report & Action Plan 
 

 

 

 

B2319000-JAC-ZZ-LC-RP-Z-1101  5 

Figure 2-1: SWMP framework and study objectives 

 
1. PREPARATION 

The first stage of a SWMP study focuses on 

preparing and scoping the requirements of 

the study.  

A multi-agency Steering Group was formed 

at the beginning of the Catchment Study and 

strategic aims and objectives defined. These, 

along with findings of the Catchment Study, 

have helped define the objectives and scope 

of the SWMP.  

2. RISK ASSESSMENT OBJECTIVES 

This stage has largely been informed by the 

results of the Catchment Study and includes: 

▪ A data review of existing data, studies and 

surveys undertake post 2015; 

▪ Site visits with stakeholders to gain an 

understanding of hydrological systems 

such as drainage / sewer networks; 

▪ a detailed narrative of surface water flood 

mechanisms. This includes mapping of 

predictive surface water flood data, so that 

a detailed understanding of the study area 

can be visualised, understood and 

quantified; and 

▪ consideration of the consequences of 

surface water flooding, now and in the 

future, so that priorities can be established 

merits of different mitigation strategies 

compared. 

4. IMPLEMENTATION & REVIEW OBJECTIVES 

This stage focuses on preparing an 

implementation strategy (i.e. the Action Plan), 

delivering the agreed actions and monitoring 

the implementation of these actions. The 

Action Plan shows how partners and 

stakeholders will work together to finance and 

implement the preferred strategy. 

This stage was completed with the Steering 

Group and the project partners as part of the 

review and approval process of this SWMP. 

 

 
3. OPTIONS OBJECTIVES 

The first objective of this stage focuses on 

the development of a long-term surface 

water management strategy to reduce 

the risk of surface water flooding in the 

City that aligns with wider stakeholder 

responsibilities and priorities. This 

strategy was informed by the findings of 

the SWMP workshop.  

Following the development of this 

strategy, the next objective is to identify 

effective, affordable, achievable and, 

cost-beneficial measures (or options) that 

help to achieve the objectives and goal of 

the strategy. These shortlisted options 

would then be taken through to the 

Action Plan.  

 

 

P
age 42



SWMP Report & Action Plan 
 

 

 

 

B2319000-JAC-ZZ-LC-RP-Z-1101 | P02  6 

2.2 Study area 

The City of Lancaster is situated on the northern end of the Lancashire plain on the 

River Lune between the fells of the Forest of Bowland to the east and Morecambe 

Bay to the west. The historic City is predominately a residential area but is the main 

administrative centre for both Lancaster District and north Lancashire, providing a 

range of commercial and business functions for its residents and the wider rural 

district. 

The City is strategically placed on the national road network (M6), the rail network 

(West Coast Mainline) and is located on the edge of Morecambe Bay, The Lake 

District National Park, The Yorkshire Dales National Park and two Areas of 

Outstanding Natural Beauty.  

The City is home to two universities; Lancaster University and the University of 

Cumbria, which makes Lancaster a centre for knowledge and learning which benefits 

not only the local economy but also the wider region. Lancaster also has a wealth of 

history dating back to Roman times. It is dominated by Lancaster Castle and the 

numerous historic buildings within its core. 

The focus of this SWMP is the known areas of surface water flooding during the 

December 2015 floods, including Caton Road, the City centre, and St. Georges Quay. 

The SWMP study area is however driven by the natural surface water catchment and 

the urban drainage area catchment, as illustrated in Figure 2-2. 

Figure 2-2: SWMP study area 

  

P
age 43



SWMP Report & Action Plan 
 

 

 

 

B2319000-JAC-ZZ-LC-RP-Z-1101 | P02  7 

2.3 Partnership Working 

Lancashire County Council, as LLFA, led the delivery of this SWMP. They were 

supported by several other partners and stakeholders who have a duty, 

responsibility or interest for flood risk management within the City.  

Identifying and engaging with the right authorities, organisations, individuals or 

groups who are, or could become, interested in, involved in or affected by, or have 

an effect on, flood risk management policies and activities, at the right level, and at 

the most appropriate stage, will be essential in achieving integrated and efficient 

flood risk mitigation where multiple organisations are involved.  

Some partners and stakeholders will need engaging throughout as statutory 

consultees, others hold specific data or information that will need integrating into 

the study, others will have greater input into the design or implementation of any 

flood risk management actions recommended, whilst potential beneficiaries will 

also need consulting prior to contributions sought.  This becomes critical in 

locations like Lancaster, when it is inevitable that multiple targeting interventions 

will be required that will rely heavily upon external stakeholders, including (for 

example) third party funding contributions and/or planning-led initiatives. 

Ultimately, this will only become a reality if stakeholders are given the opportunity 

to fully participate in the development of the scheme, at every stage, and contribute 

to the decision-making process.  

2.3.1 Multi-agency steering group 

A multi-agency Steering Group was established in December 2016 following the 

publication of the Lancaster Section 19 Investigation Report and District Flood 

Reports into the December 2015 floods. This group was formed to commission the 

Catchment Study and consisted of the key Risk Management Authorities (RMAs) 

that cover Lancaster. RMAs and their roles and responsibilities within flood risk 

management are set out in the Flood and Water Management Act (2010). Appendix 

B provides further details on the role and responsibilities of each RMA.  

The multi-agency Steering Group have been consulted at key stages of the SWMP 

process as highlighted in Figure 2-3 and referred to through this report.  

Figure 2-3: Multi-agency Steering Group 

 

P
age 44



SWMP Report & Action Plan 
 

 

 

 

B2319000-JAC-ZZ-LC-RP-Z-1101 | P02  8 

3. Risk Assessment 

3.1 Introduction 

This section of the SWMP provides a risk assessment of surface water flooding within 

the City centre. Since there is a history of surface water flooding in the city (Section 

3.2.5) and areas of high flood risk are known (referred to as flood hotspots), this 

detailed risk assessment aims to enhance the understanding of flood source, 

frequencies (probability), mechanics and consequences, knowing that potential 

mitigation measures will need to be considered at the next stage of the SWMP 

process (Section 4, Options).  

3.2 Approach 

This assessment has been informed by a range of existing data and information 

including the results of the purpose-built 1D-2D integrated hydraulic model 

developed as part of the Catchment Study previously undertaken and new survey of 

the Mill Race. 

3.2.1 Existing data and information 

To begin any risk assessment, maximum use should be made of existing data and 

information including previous studies and investigations. Much of this data and 

information has been collected by RMAs as part of their specific roles and 

responsibilities. This was then supplemented by information provided by other 

stakeholders, including data on surface water drainage assets and local evidence of 

historical flooding incidents.  

Table A.1 in Appendix A contains a list of key datasets and outlines how these have 

been used to inform the risk assessment. Table A.2, also in Appendix A, provides an 

overview of with key findings and recommendations from previous plans, studies, 

and investigations.  

3.2.2 Site visits 

As part of the Catchment Study, on the 5th October 2017, a site visit was undertaken 

by Jacobs UK Ltd, the multi-agency Steering Group and additional RMA staff 

members with specific expertise. The objectives of the site visit were to:  

▪ Help bring issues to life around the December 2015 flood event; 

▪ Gain an understanding of hydrological systems such as rivers and drainage / 

sewer networks; 

▪ Identify local site characteristics that may influence flooding mechanisms; and 

▪ Identity wider opportunities and constraints that may influence flood risk 

management measures.  

The October 2017 site visit was then supplemented by a second site visit by Jacobs 

UK Ltd on 12th December 2017 with a focus on understanding the surface water 

catchment and urban features and how these may translate into the 1D-2D 

integrated hydraulic model to be developed as part of the Catchment Study.  

3.2.3 Hydraulic modelling 

As part of the Catchment Study in 2018, a purpose-built 1D-2D integrated hydraulic 

model of the City centre was developed to provide a useful tool that would define 

the frequency and consequence of surface water flooding across a range of design 

rainfall events and climate change scenarios. The integrated hydraulic model itself 

was built in 2D using TUFLOW8, with the 1D component modelled using ESTRY (a 

1D modelling software included in TUFLOW), with both elements used to represent: 

▪ Direct rainfall on the study area; 

▪ Overland flow through the built environment; and 

▪ Interaction between the surface, the sewer network, and watercourses.  

To simulate surface water flooding across the area of interest, the hydraulic model 

uses the Direct Rainfall approach, which consists of applying a rainfall hyetograph 

representative of a storm event to every active cell within the 2D surface model.  

P
age 45



SWMP Report & Action Plan 
 

 

 

 

B2319000-JAC-ZZ-LC-RP-Z-1101 | P02  9 

During a simulated event, the hydraulic model computes the rainfall that would be 

absorbed through natural infiltration into the ground, the rainfall runoff that would 

be routed overland by gravity and the runoff volume that would drain into and be 

conveyed through the storm drainage network. The overland flow routed through 

the built environment (2D surface model) and the flow conveyed through the 

drainage system are dynamically linked at each manhole. In a similar manner, there 

is also a dynamic link between the drainage system and the pipes discharging into 

River Lune and other local watercourses. Figure 3-1 provides an overview of the 

general model schematic.  

A suite of model outputs was produced including detailed flood depth maps. Further 

details of the modelling approach and key findings can be found in the Catchment 

Study report. 

Annual Exceedance Probability Event 

This report uses the term annual exceedance probability (AEP) to express flood 

frequency. This is a better approach when presenting hydraulic model results in 

comparison to the annual maximum return period. This is due to the 

misconception that return periods are associated with a regular occurrence rather 

than an average recurrence interval e.g. the 100-year flood will not only occur 

every 100-years but has a 1% chance of being exceeded in any year. However, to 

aid the understanding of flood frequency, the table below provides a comparison 

of AEP to return periods. 

 

AEP 20% 10% 5% 3.33% 1.33% 1% 0.5% 

Return 

Period 
5-yr 10-yr 20-yr 30-yr 75-yr 100-yr 200-yr 

 

The hydraulic model has been found to offer a good representation of flood 

mechanisms and identifies known overland flood flow routes and areas of ponding, 

which have been validated against historical surface water flooding datasets (e.g. 

December 2015 flood outlines and wrack marks) and anecdotal information from 

RMAs.  The model itself is based upon best available information at the time of its 

construction including surface water drainage network datasets and best practice 

hydrological estimation methodologies.  However, with any hydraulic model, several 

assumptions remain. Whilst these do not limited the usefulness of the model for the 

SWMP, they will be important to remember during Section 3.3, which describes the 

surface water flooding mechanisms. These include:  

▪ The hydraulic model does not include a detailed representation of the highway 

drainage network i.e. road gullies and pipes, as this is considered too detailed 

for this type of model. 

▪ An outline representation of the Mill Race is included based upon best available 

information from United Utilities’ InfoWorks ICM model. The model does not 

include any survey data discussed in Section 3.2.4 as this was collected after 

the Catchment Study was complete. 

▪ At the time of model development, the Lancaster Phase 3 FAS, which includes a 

fluvial flood defence scheme along the bank of the River Lune adjacent to the 

Riverside Park Industrial Estate and the Lansil Industrial Estate had not been 

constructed. The hydraulic modelling however assumed it to be present and 

represented the defence as a “glass wall” boundary condition.  

▪ Whilst the model includes the contributing surface water catchment around 

Junction 34 of the M6, the model pre-dates the construction of the Bay 

Gateway road scheme and therefore, does not include any associated changes 

to topographical or the surface water drainage network. 

▪ A storm duration of 6 hours was found to be critical for various areas including 

the city centre.  However, for the catchment of Newton Beck, the critical storm 

duration was found to be 1hr. Some areas within the Lansil Industrial State and 

the Riverside Industrial State showed a critical storm duration between 8hrs to 

10hrs. The model has not been calibrated due to lack of gauged data for pluvial 

events.  

▪ Two baseline scenarios have been considered, these are the Do-Minimum and 

the Do-Nothing scenarios. Both scenarios assume a mean high-water spring 

(MHWS) as tidal boundary condition for the outlets into the River Lune and as a 

result free flow conditions of surface water drainage outfalls.  

P
age 46



SWMP Report & Action Plan 
 

 

 

 

B2319000-JAC-ZZ-LC-RP-Z-1101  10 

Figure 3-1: General model schematisation 

P
age 47



SWMP Report & Action Plan 
 

 

 

 

B2319000-JAC-ZZ-LC-RP-Z-1101  11 

3.2.4 Mill Race surveys 

The historic Mill Race in the City centre, which dates back to 1610, has over time 

been gradually covered over by structures and buildings, lost with the building of 

railway sidings and the Kingsway, or subsumed within local drainage system.  

The Mill Race was included in the 1D-2D integrated hydraulic model of the city 

centre as a key drainage network using the 1991 survey and network data provided 

by United Utilities. The hydraulic model results show that during a rainfall event, the 

Mill Race carries a significant amount of flow in comparison with the combined 

sewer pipes that run parallel to it. Blockage sensitivity testing carried out also shows 

that any reduction in capacity increases surface water flood depths at Bulk Road, 

Damside Street and Cable Street.  

Although represented in the 1D-2D integrated hydraulic model, there remained a 

significant data gap regarding condition, connectivity, capacity and its role within 

surface water drainage across the city centre. Following completion of the 

Catchment Study in 2018, Lancashire County Council commissioned additional work 

in July 2018, which included 3D laser scanning survey and CCTV of the Mill Race to: 

▪ Confirm its alignment with consideration to ownership and affected parties; 

▪ Understand the combined systems and interactions / functionality; 

▪ Understand specific storage capacity (although further modelling will be 

required);  

▪ Identify origin and consideration to 'Jelle Beck' and significance as a 

watercourse and out fall condition;  

▪ Consider future specific flow monitoring; and 

▪ Understand opportunities for possible future use in Lancaster flood alleviation.  

A full suite of digital deliverables was created including 3D topographic survey, 360 

colour HDR imagery, 3D surface mesh datasets and CCTV. Further details of the 

survey approach and key findings can be found in the Mill Race Survey report9.   

3.2.5 Flood History 

Historical flood incident data are a critical source of information to understand flood 

locations. This information can also be used to understand the history of flood 

incidents within a location and changes to flooding patterns over time. 

According to the data provided by the Environment Agency, the main historical 

flood mechanisms recorded are overtopping of channel banks and defences along 

the River Lune and Lune estuary as a result of heavy rainfall events (for example in 

1872, 1903 1919, 1985 and 1995), whilst tidal and coastal events have overtopped 

embankments and quaysides (for example in 1977, 1983 and 2002)10.  

However, whilst Lancaster City centre has been subjected to localised flooding 

associated with a range of fluvial, tidal and surface water flood events, the flooding 

that the City experienced on the 5th December 2015 as a result of Storm Desmond 

remains the most significant incident.  

Table 3-1 provides an overview of the larger known surface water flood events 

affecting the City centre. Using data provided by the Environment Agency, Figure 

3-2 helps to illustrate the extent and location of areas within the City centre affected 

by these flood events. There are no records of surface water flooding prior to 2000.  

Table 3-1: Known surface water flood events, mechanisms and consequences 

Date Flood Source / Mechanism Flood Consequence 

12th Jan 

2000 

High river levels along the River Lune causing 

local drainage and surface water flooding.  

Flooding in Halton and Lancaster. 

5th Dec 

2013 

A storm coinciding with high tides caused the 

large storm surge on the River Lune in 60 years. 

This caused some flooding along the Lune at 

Ladies Walk and the subway between the 

Millennium Bridge and Lune Street
11. 

No reliable figures on numbers of 

properties flooded. It is reported that the 

Quay Flood Barrier held and protected 

property from major flooding at St 

George’s Quay. 

5th Dec 

2015  

Prolonged and heavy rainfall through the 

month leading to December coupled with an 

intense rainfall event associated with Storm 

332 properties known to have suffered 

from internal flooding within the City 

centre.  

P
age 48



SWMP Report & Action Plan 
 

 

 

 

B2319000-JAC-ZZ-LC-RP-Z-1101  12 

Date Flood Source / Mechanism Flood Consequence 

Desmond resulting both fluvial and surface 

water flooding across Lancaster. This included 

overtopping of the River Lune upstream of 

Skerton Weir and overwhelmed drainages 

systems leading to surface water flooding 

within the City centre.  

The rain gauge at Hazelrigg (Lancaster 

University) recorded 59.7mm of rainfall in 24-

hours
4

. 

Overtopping of the River Lune also 

affected an electricity substation, on 

Caton Road, which resulted in 

approximately 60,000 homes and 

businesses being without power for nearly 

48 hours
4

.   

19th 

July 

2017.  

Intense rainfall overwhelmed highway drains 

with water ponding in low lying areas of the city. 

Highways drains and sewers were reported to 

be partially blocked with leaf litter and 

rubbish
12

.   

Flooding was also experience on 30th July 

2017; however, no information is available on 

sources or consequences. 

No reliable figures on number of 

properties of flooded but photographs 

show flooding of non-residential 

properties along Church Street
13. 

Firefighters attended nine properties to 

pump out water or isolate electrics
14. 

22nd - 

23rd 

Nov 

2017 

On the night of 22nd - 23rd November 2017, a 

heavy intensity rainstorm was recorded 

travelling from the Irish Sea coast at Blackpool 

to the north-easterly extent of Lancaster 

District.  

The rain gauge at Hazelrigg (Lancaster 

University) recorded 73.6mm of rainfall in 

24 hours - the highest level in more than 50-

years since the centre started weather 

observations.  

The resulting rainfall overwhelmed public 

sewers and highway drainage systems, resulting 

in surface water flooding within the City 

centre
15

. 

Surface water flooding of roads, homes, 

businesses and open space.  

A total of 41 properties reported flooding 

across 39 streets, with 16 properties 

flooded internally.  

 

Figure 3-2: Historical flood events 

 

P
age 49



SWMP Report & Action Plan 
 

 

 

 

B2319000-JAC-ZZ-LC-RP-Z-1101  13 

3.3 Catchment Characteristics and Flood Mechanisms 

Together, all data introduced above helps to build a conceptual understanding of 

surface water flooding mechanisms as described next in Section 3.3, with the results 

of the integrated hydraulic modelling used to assess flood consequences such as 

number of properties at risk and likely economic flood damages (Section 3.10).  

3.3.1 Catchments 

To help build the conceptual understand of surface water flood risk, the three 

surface water catchments as defined by the Catchment Study has been further 

divided into six sub-catchments as shown in Figure 3-3, including: 

▪ Sub-catchment A: Upper Caton Road 

▪ Sub-catchment B: Lower Caton Road 

▪ Sub-catchment C: City Centre 

▪ Sub-catchment D: Upland 

▪ Sub-catchment E: Lucy Brook 

▪ Sub-catchment F: Marsh 

Whilst these sub-catchments help to compartmentalise the surface water issues, 

these are not hard boundaries, and as illustrated by the hydraulic model results, 

roads and subsurface drainage will act as surface water pathways between each sub-

catchment.  

It will be important to keep this in mind throughout the later sections of this report 

when discussing possible options and why targeted incremental interventions across 

all sub-catchments will be required to achieve the overall goal.  

Figure 3-3 Surface water sub-catchments 

 

P
age 50



SWMP Report & Action Plan 
 

 

 

 

B2319000-JAC-ZZ-LC-RP-Z-1101  14 

3.4 Catchment A: Upper Caton Road 

3.4.1 Catchment Characteristics 

The Upper Caton Road catchment lies in the north-eastern extent of the Lancaster 

surface water catchment (Figure 3-4). It is bounded by the River Lune to the north, 

the Lune Aqueduct (Lancaster Canal) to the west, and high ground to the south and 

east. The head of the catchment lies in the south, and peaks at an elevation of 75 

metres Above Ordnance Datum (mAOD). High ground extends north from this peak 

as a ridge along the eastern catchment boundary, where the elevation drops slightly 

to 55 mAOD. High ground also exists to the south of Long Bank Wood (50 mAOD).  

Figure 3-4: Upper Caton Road sub-catchment 

 

The catchment slopes steeply northwest in the south and east, but most of the north 

and west are relatively flat and lie at an elevation of less than 20 mAOD, which 

comprises the base of the Lune Valley. The area of land situated between the River 

Lune and Caton Road forms the lowest part of the catchment, lying at a similar 

elevation to, or only 1-2m higher, than the banks of the River Lune (7-10 mAOD). 

Another key feature influencing the topography in the catchment is the M6 

motorway and the Bay Gateway junction, which runs north-south through the centre 

of the catchment and forms a raised embankment that has the potential to effect 

surface water runoff. Historical and present-day Ordnance Survey maps show the 

area surrounding the junction as a marsh, i.e. an area with potential for wet and 

boggy ground conditions.  

Land use throughout large parts of the catchment, and on higher ground, is 

agricultural with small areas of woodland. Urbanisation has been confined to the 

low-lying reaches including the Riverside Park Industrial Estate, the Lancaster 

Business Park, and the Park and Ride (adjacent to the M6 / Bay Gateway junction).  

The River Lune flows southwest along the catchment’s northern boundary. It’s reach 

in this location lies beyond the normal tidal limit (generally considered as Skerton 

Weir6), but during high tide, backwater effects could be felt further upstream (to 

Halton Weir). During historical flood events, e.g. December 2015, this area did not 

benefit from formal flood defences. However, at the time of writing (Autumn 2020), 

the Environment Agency are constructing the Lancaster Phase 3 FAS. This comprises 

a flood wall along the left-hand bank of the River Lune from the Holiday Inn on 

Caton Road to a point approximately 150 m north of Skerton Bridge providing a 

Standard of Protection (SoP) up to the 1% AEP fluvial flood event. 

An unnamed Ordinary Watercourses issues from the area of high ground in the 

south of the catchment and flows north alongside the eastern M6 embankment. The 

watercourse turns west and flows through three culverts beneath the motorway, 

before continuing in open channel towards Lansil Golf Course. The watercourse is 

culverted through the golf course (in twin 450 mm pipes), and beneath Caton Road. 

At Caton Road there is a restriction in flow, caused by the downsizing of the twin 

450mm pipes, to twin 150 mm diameter pipes. Downstream of this restriction (on 

the north side of Caton Road), the culvert is upsized to a single 750 mm pipe. The 

P
age 51



SWMP Report & Action Plan 
 

 

 

 

B2319000-JAC-ZZ-LC-RP-Z-1101  15 

watercourse is then culverted under most of the Riverside Park Industrial Estate, 

before eventually discharging into the River Lune via a Tideflex non-return valve 

structure. The watercourse is joined by several smaller tributaries that flow 

northwards, issuing from Long Bank Wood, or from the western M6 embankment in 

the south. Several small sections of Ordinary Watercourse are also shown on 

Ordnance Survey maps in the east of the catchment, two of which originate from 

springs visible on historical maps. It’s unknown if these are hydrologically connected 

to the main Ordinary Watercourse that flows through Lansil Golf Course.  

Lancaster Business Park is served by separate foul and surface water sewers, with 

foul waste pumped out of the catchment to Riverside Pumping Station (located in 

Catchment C: City Centre). Surface water is drained to a point on Caton Road, 

opposite the Holiday Inn, where it enters the highway drainage network. The 

highway drainage network then discharges into the River Lune behind the Holiday 

Inn. A combined sewer system serves the Riverside Industrial Estate (in part), which 

drains southwest into the Lower Caton Road catchment.  

Soils across most of the catchment are described as loamy and clayey soils16, 

although historical borehole records show more of a sandy soil to be present, with 

sandy and loamy soils in the west17. Mapped superficial geology in the west of the 

catchment (by the Riverside Park Industrial Estate and the Lancaster Business Park) 

comprises made ground, with alluvium and river terrace deposits, overlying 

glaciofluvial sands and gravels. Historical borehole records show the lithology of 

these deposits to be highly permeable, comprising ballast (coarse stone and sand) 

and/or sand and gravel, to a depth of between 5-17 metres below ground level 

(mbgl). At the time of drilling, groundwater was recorded between 1-2 mbgl, and 

could indicate generally shallow groundwater levels within this area. Glacial till is 

mapped in the southwest of the catchment and was found in historical boreholes, 

underlying the sand and gravel deposits, described as a clay with gravel. Below the 

till, a bedrock of interbedded sandstone, gritstone and marl was encountered at 

depths of around 20-30 mbgl, belonging to the Roeburndale Member of the Silsden 

Formation.  

 
ii An aquifer is a saturated permeable geological unit that stores groundwater and allows it to flow under normal 

conditions. Where groundwater flows from an aquifer into a watercourse, this is defined as baseflow. It is 

In the north of the catchment, glacio-fluvial sands and gravels are present to a 

depth of between 7-11 mbgl, directly overlying bedrock, with groundwater 

encountered up to 1.8 mbgl. In the south and east, glacial till is mapped and 

described as a sandy clay; although there are several small areas where the till is 

absent, including in the far south where the main Ordinary Watercourse issues. 

Historical borehole records along the route of the M6 motorway show a series of 

sand, and sand and gravel deposits to a depth of 3-6 mbgl, either overlying glacial 

till, or bedrock where the till is absent. These borehole records pre-date motorway 

construction and could therefore indicate that parts of the south and east of the 

catchment are covered in more permeable sand, or sand and gravel deposits that 

are not mapped, although this is not certain. Bedrock in the north, south and east of 

the catchment is the Pendle Grit Member of the Pendleton Formation, comprising 

permeable interbedded sandstone and siltstone. 

3.4.2 Flood Mechanisms 

Surface water flooding due to direct rainfall runoff 

▪ Potential for significant surface water runoff generation from steep slopes in 

the south and east of the catchment. This may be enhanced by lower 

permeability soils and glacial till deposits, which likely limit infiltration and 

corresponding recharge rates to the underlying superficial aquiferii. 

▪ A degree of natural surface water attenuation would likely occur in topographic 

lows to the west of Moss Syke Wood, as well as the M6 motorway junction and 

the Caton Road Park and Ride.  

▪ The 1D-2D integrated hydraulic model outputs show two main surface water 

flow paths during the 1.33% AEP pluvial event (Figure 3-5). One flow path 

forms the rainfall-runoff response for the unnamed Ordinary Watercourse. 

When the Lansil Golf Course and Caton Road culverts surcharge, flood flows 

continue west towards the Riverside Park Industrial Estate. A second flow path 

originates when the M6 (western slip road) culvert surcharges, with flood flows 

routed northwards onto Caton Road Park and Ride, where they combine with 

possible, in the right hydrogeological setting, for groundwater flows to increase fluvial flood risk and vice 

versa for high river levels/tidal locking to increase groundwater levels in an adjacent aquifer.  

P
age 52



SWMP Report & Action Plan 
 

 

 

 

B2319000-JAC-ZZ-LC-RP-Z-1101  16 

runoff from Hudson Farm in the northeast of the catchment. Flows are then 

conveyed along Caton Road and are intercepted (in part) by highway drainage. 

Figure 3-5: Upper Caton Road surface water flood risk map 

 

Fluvial flooding from unnamed Ordinary Watercourse 

▪ The Caton Road culvert along the unnamed Ordinary Watercourse surcharges 

during events more frequent than the 50% AEP pluvial event and contributes 

to the surface water flow paths described. 

▪ Peak water levels within the River Lune are above the soffit level of the 

watercourse outfall during events more frequent than the 50% AEP fluvial 

flood event, which could prevent flows from discharging and contribute to 

increased flooding upstream (see Table 3.8 in the Catchment Study). 

Direct groundwater flooding 

▪ Made ground deposits and superficial geology are expected to be highly 

permeable in the north and west of the catchment, giving rise to rapid 

responses in groundwater levels following recharge events. At times, 

groundwater levels may be shallow, and approach the ground surface in the 

low-lying parts of the catchment. This may cause flooding to below ground 

infrastructure, such as basements, cellars etc. where present.  

▪ Where there are no significant sub-surface barriers, there is potential for water 

levels within the River Lune and the alluvial / sand and gravel aquifers to be in 

hydraulic continuity. When river levels are high, pressure heads could recharge 

the aquifer(s), and cause groundwater levels to rise away from the flood 

defences, even when the river flows remain in bank. 

▪ Where foundations for the Phase 3 FAS comprise continuous below-ground 

structures, e.g. sheet piles, groundwater flows may be prevented from 

discharging into the River Lune as baseflow, and cause groundwater levels to be 

artificially higher on the upgradient side, thus increasing groundwater flood 

risk. This would also be the case (at a localised / property level) where building 

foundations, below ground chambers etc. are present and lie perpendicular to 

the groundwater flow direction.  

Groundwater contribution to other flood sources 

▪ A shallow water table in parts of the catchment may limit rainfall infiltration, 

increasing the rate of runoff and surface water flooding. Potential groundwater 

ingress into drainage and sewer systems could reduce their efficiency for 

conveying surface water and cause them to surcharge at an earlier onset.  

Highway drainage and sewerage infrastructure 

▪ During prolonged or heavy rainfall events, the drainage and sewer systems may 

start to surcharge, and contribute to the surface water flow paths. If water levels 

in the River Lune rise above soffit level of surface water outfalls, flows could 

become locked, leading to networks surcharging and flooding during more 

frequent pluvial events.  

P
age 53



SWMP Report & Action Plan 
 

 

 

 

B2319000-JAC-ZZ-LC-RP-Z-1101  17 

3.5 Catchment B: Lower Caton Road 

3.5.1 Catchment Characteristics 

The River Lune marks the western boundary of the Lower Caton Road catchment 

(Figure 3-6), with high ground bordering the catchment to the north, east and south. 

The topography generally slopes steeply westwards, towards the River Lune. 

However, there are several ridges of higher ground which run north-south within the 

catchment. Between these ridges lie several basin-like areas, which are likely to 

promote the ponding of surface water and shallow groundwater.  

Figure 3-6: Lower Caton Road sub-catchment 

 

The Lancaster Canal runs south to north through the west of the catchment, east of 

Caton Road, which could influence the topography and surface water flow paths 

within the pluvial catchment. The highest part of the catchment is in the southeast, 

which lies at an elevation of approximately 90 mAOD. The lowest-lying area is 

situated to the west of Caton Road, lying approximately 1-2 m above the banks of 

the River Lune (at 7-10 mAOD). 

Land use in the north and east of the catchment is predominantly agricultural, with 

patches of woodland and some areas of marsh shown on historical maps. The 

residential areas of Ridge and Newton occupy the southwest of the catchment, 

either side of the Lancaster Canal. In the southeast, Lancaster Cemetery lies within 

the vicinity of a small residential area, and HM Prison Lancaster Farms. Industrial 

land uses are confined to the lowest-lying area, situated along Caton Road. 

Newton Beck is the main Ordinary Watercourse, and likely originates from the 

residential area to the west of Lancaster Cemetery. Newton Beck flows north 

through the centre of the catchment, before turning west to the north of the Ridge 

residential area. As it flows west, Newton Beck passes through culverts beneath the 

Lancaster Canal, Caton Road, and Standfast Barracks, before discharging into the 

River Lune. Several tributaries are shown to issue from either side of Ridge Farm and 

converge with the beck in the centre of the catchment.  

The stretch of the River Lune that borders this catchment includes Skerton Weir, 

which is generally considered to be the normal tidal limit. However, during high tide, 

tidal influences can extend upstream as far as Halton Weir.  

The area to the west of the Lancaster Canal is primarily served by a combined sewer 

network, except for the northern part of the Lansil Industrial Estate. The latter is 

served by a separate foul / surface water system, with the surface water system 

discharging into Newton Beck. The combined network also includes flows which 

originate from the Riverside Industrial Estate. This combined system ultimately 

feeds into the Riverside Pumping Station in the City centre. The area to the east of 

Lancaster Canal is primarily served by a separate foul / surface water sewer network, 

although some areas are served by a combined system. The surface water network 

discharges into Newton Beck, upstream of the Lancaster Canal, whereas the foul and 

combined networks feed into the Riverside Pumping Station. 

P
age 54



SWMP Report & Action Plan 
 

 

 

 

B2319000-JAC-ZZ-LC-RP-Z-1101  18 

The Mill Race forms a key component of the drainage and sewerage infrastructure 

present within the catchment (see Mill Race survey report9 for more information). 

The asset is known to receive inputs from the combined sewer and surface water 

drainage networks, but the original inlet from the River Lune is assumed to no 

longer receive fluvial inflows. Based on the results of a recent topographical survey9, 

the Mill Race was found to be situated at a relatively shallow depth (typically 

between 2 – 4 mbgl), with the potential to alter shallow groundwater flow regimes. 

Soils and geology within the catchment are complex. Most of the catchment 

comprises low permeability loam and clay soils, with loam and sandy loam soils 

located in the area to the west of the Lancaster Canal16. Made ground is expected to 

be present in the residential and industrial areas. Where encountered in historic 

boreholes, the deposit is generally described as comprising brick, concrete, stones, 

ash / clinker and similar materials, to depths of between 0.5-3.0 mbgl17. Alluvium is 

mapped between Caton Road and the River Lune and extends eastwards along the 

course of Newton Beck. Beneath the alluvium, in the west of the site, are sand and 

gravel deposits; either of glaciofluvial origin or comprising river terrace deposits. 

Across most of the catchment, and at depth beneath the other superficial deposits, 

is glacial till, described as a silty sandy clay with gravel. Drumlins are mapped 

throughout the catchment, creating the previously mentioned ridge features. 

A bedrock of interbedded sandstone and siltstone underlies most of the catchment, 

belonging to the Pendle Grit Member, with two sandstone units along parts of the 

eastern and northern catchment boundaries. In the northwest, the Roeburndale 

Member is shown to be present, comprising interbedded sandstone, gritstone and 

marl. Historical borehole data suggests that the Roeburndale Member may extend 

further south and is reached at depths of between 15-30 mbgl. 

3.5.2 Flood Mechanisms 

Surface water flooding due to direct rainfall runoff 

▪ Potential for significant surface water runoff generation from steep slopes in 

the east of the catchment. This may be enhanced by lower permeability soils 

and glacial till deposits, which likely limit infiltration and corresponding 

recharge rates to the underlying superficial aquifer. 

▪ A proportion of surface water flows are likely to be attenuated naturally within 

the topographic lows present between the ridges (drumlins) in the centre and 

east of the catchment. The northern and southern reaches of Newton Beck 

Ordinary Watercourse will also capture surface water runoff from the east 

(Figure 3-7).  

▪ The Lancaster Canal likely acts as a hydraulic barrier for surface water flows 

from the upper catchment. The canal footpath in the north, and Ridge Lane in 

the south, could convey runoff from the east of the canal, but flows are 

expected to be minimal due to areas of high ground which limits connectivity to 

the west. Direct rainfall to the west of the canal is shown by hydraulic model 

outputs to cause flooding of the Lansil Industrial Estate.  

Figure 3-7: Lower Caton Road surface water flood risk map 

 

P
age 55



SWMP Report & Action Plan 
 

 

 

 

B2319000-JAC-ZZ-LC-RP-Z-1101  19 

Fluvial flooding from Newton Beck 

▪ There is a low risk of fluvial flooding from this watercourse up to an including 

the 1% AEP flood event. Culvert capacities and high levels within the River Lune 

are not expected to cause fluvial flooding from Newton Beck.   

Direct groundwater flooding 

▪ There is a moderate risk of groundwater flooding in the northwest of the 

catchment18, as well as the areas surrounding Newton Beck, with a probability 

greater than the 1% AEP (Figure 3-8). This confirms the current understanding 

of groundwater flooding mechanisms within the catchment. 

▪ The Mill Race may present a semi-impermeable barrier to groundwater flows, 

and generally lies perpendicular to the main groundwater flow direction in the 

catchment. There is potential for groundwater levels to be artificially raised on 

the upgradient side of the asset, increasing localised groundwater flood risk. 

This may also be an issue due to local building foundations, below ground 

chambers etc.  

Groundwater contribution to other flood sources 

▪ A shallow water table in parts of the catchment may limit rainfall infiltration, 

increasing the rate of runoff and surface water flooding.  

▪ In addition to direct ingress into drainage and sewer systems, groundwater 

ingress into the Mill Race through misconnections, culverts, shafts, cracks etc. 

could reduce its capacity to convey surface water and sewer flows out of the 

catchment, causing the Mill Race, and associated surface water and sewer 

systems to surcharge at an earlier onset.  

Highway drainage and sewerage infrastructure 

▪ If water levels in the River Lune rise above soffit level of surface water outfalls, 

flows could become locked, leading to networks surcharging and flooding 

during more frequent pluvial events. The drainage and sewer network generally 

start to surcharge from the 2% AEP pluvial event, with exceedance surface 

water conveyed along Caton Road, either into the City Centre catchment or 

towards the Alexandra Barracks. 

Mill Race 

▪ A combination of inflows to the asset, from surface water drainage, combined 

sewer overflow (CSO) connections, and foul and surface water sewers, likely 

cause the Mill Race to surcharge during frequent pluvial flood events. This 

could lead to increased groundwater flood risk adjacent to the asset. 

Lancaster Canal 

▪ The hydraulic modelling identifies a risk of flood water overtopping the 

Lancaster Canal embankments at certain locations along its reach during heavy 

rainfall and strong winds. Flood flows would be routed westwards by the 

topography, and either cause direct flooding or enter drainage and sewerage 

systems (where possible).  

Figure 3-8: Lower Caton Road groundwater flood risk map 

 

P
age 56



SWMP Report & Action Plan 
 

 

 

 

B2319000-JAC-ZZ-LC-RP-Z-1101  20 

3.6 Catchment C: City Centre 

3.6.1 Catchment Characteristics 

The City Centre catchment is bounded by the River Lune to the northwest and an 

unnamed Ordinary Watercourse to the northeast, with high ground to the south, 

east, and west (Figure 3-9). The head of the catchment lies in the east, and peaks at 

an elevation of 105 mAOD.  

Figure 3-9: City Centre sub-catchment 

 

The catchment slopes steeply northwest in the south and east, but most of the north 

and west are relatively flat and lie at an elevation of less than 20 mAOD, which 

broadly correlates with the area to the west of the Lancaster Canal. Like the two 

Caton Road catchments, the area of land adjacent to the River Lune lies at a similar 

elevation to, or only 1-2m higher, than the riverbanks. The Lancaster Canal runs 

southwest to northeast through the centre of the catchment and is built into the 

hillside, with potential to alter surface water flow paths throughout the city.  

The catchment is heavily urbanised, with residential, commercial, and public 

buildings occupying the largest parts of the city. The industrial areas are 

predominantly located adjacent to the River Lune, in the lowest lying parts of the 

catchment. On the outskirts of the city are several recreational parks and green open 

spaces, including Williamson Park, Scotch Quarry Urban Park, Whalley Playing Field, 

and Highfield Recreation Ground; all situated in the far east of the catchment. 

Extensive quarrying has historically taken place in the south and east of the city, 

which will have altered ground conditions in these areas.  

The section of the River Lune that borders the City Centre catchment lies within the 

normal tidal limit, with river levels subject to not only typical tidal cycles and 

fluctuations, but also to higher magnitude tidal flooding events. An unnamed 

Ordinary Watercourse flows west through Whalley Playing Field in the north of 

catchment and enters culvert (via two twin 225mm diameter pipes) under Kentmere 

Road. This culvert conveys the Ordinary Watercourse northwards, at depths of 

approximately 5 mbgl, and discharges into Newton Beck in the Lower Caton Road 

catchment.  

The longest section of the Mill Race is located within the City Centre catchment. As 

identified through the Mill Race survey9, in addition to surface water connections, 

there are five CSOs which discharge into the asset at various locations along its 

reach. One of these CSOs is connected to a storm detention tank located beneath 

Lancaster Bus Station. Water collected by the Mill Race may include varying 

proportions of groundwater (due to ingress), surface water inflows from drainage 

and sewer systems, and CSO and foul system discharges. Springs are also known to 

issue at Calkeld Lane and Rosemary Lane, which are understood to drain into the 

existing surface water drainage network19. 

Most of Lancaster City centre is served by a combined sewer network, including two 

pumping stations (at Damside and Riverside), located in the northwest and 

northeast of the catchment, respectively. The Riverside Pumping Station conveys 

P
age 57



SWMP Report & Action Plan 
 

 

 

 

B2319000-JAC-ZZ-LC-RP-Z-1101  21 

flows to Lancaster Wastewater Treatment Works (WwTW) and has an associated 

CSO. The CSO spills into the River Lune when the pump capacity is exceeded. The 

Damside Pumping Station conveys flows from the Mill Race into the combined 

sewer network under low flow conditions. If flows within the Mill Race exceed the 

pumping capacity at Damside, water will discharge into the Lune Estuary. If 

discharge is impeded by high river levels, this could increase the risk of the Mill Race 

surcharge and the risk of flooding. 

Water quality is generally expected to be poor within the catchment, based on Water 

Framework Directive (WFD) classification of the Lune Transitional WFD Water Body 

(currently failing Environmental Quality Standards (EQS) for several priority 

hazardous substances). This is supported by ground investigation records from the 

construction of the Bus Station storm detention tank19, which identified several 

Controlled Water Screening Criteria exceedances around Damside Street, for both 

organic and inorganic substances. These pollutants likely transmit via the Mill Race 

to the Lancaster WwTW. Contaminant pathways to groundwater and surface water 

bodies are also expected. 

Mapped soils in the east of the catchment comprise low permeability loams and 

clays, whereas loam and sandy loam soils cover the centre and western parts of the 

catchment16. Given the degree of urbanisation in the city centre, made ground 

deposits are expected to be extensive, comprising varying lithologies, and extending 

to depths of between 0.5-5 mbgl17.  

In mapping and historical borehole records, superficial deposits are shown to be 

absent from the Primrose, Moorlands and Freehold areas, as well as from 

Williamson Park in the east. Where superficial deposits are shown, they 

predominantly comprise alluvium, glacio-fluvial sands and gravels, and / or river 

terrace deposits, typically located in the lowest lying areas in the west of the 

catchment, with glacial till elsewhere. Sands and gravels were generally proven to 

depths of between 5-12 mbgl in historical boreholes, over till or bedrock. The 

glacial till is described as a variably silty sandy clay with gravel. The shallowest 

groundwater level encountered whilst drilling the historical boreholes was 2.2 mbgl. 

Available groundwater level monitoring data collected between 24th February and 

12th June 2012, however, show groundwater levels of between 0.2-3.1 mbgl during 

this period, in the area around Damside Street. Bedrock underlying the catchment is 

the Pendle Grit Member, comprising interbedded sandstone and siltstone. In the 

north of the catchment, bedrock was proven at depths of between 9-12 mbgl.  

3.6.2 Flood Mechanisms 

Surface water flooding due to direct rainfall runoff 

▪ Similar mechanisms for significant surface water runoff generation in the east 

as the Caton Road catchments; however, limited degree of natural attenuation 

for surface water flows, due to absence of topographic depressions and 

increased areas of hard standing. The hydraulic modelling outputs show the 

main areas of flooding are around Parliament Street and Bridge Lane / Cable 

Street (Figure 3-10).  

Figure 3-10: City Centre surface water flood risk map 

 

P
age 58



SWMP Report & Action Plan 
 

 

 

 

B2319000-JAC-ZZ-LC-RP-Z-1101  22 

▪ The Lancaster Canal likely acts as a partial barrier to surface water flows from 

the east, but the hydraulic modelling outputs show that runoff is routed along 

Quarry Road, Nelson Street, and Moor Lane, providing connectivity to the west 

of the catchment. Model outputs also show a prominent surface water flow 

path along Caton Road (which enters from the Lower Caton Road catchment) 

and is conveyed to the industrial area to the south of Parliament Street. Inflows 

also occur from the Upland catchment, via Penny Street and King Street.  

Fluvial flooding from unnamed Ordinary Watercourse 

▪ The watercourse that flows through Whalley Playing Field may cause localised 

flooding when the Kentmere Road culvert surcharges during pluvial events 

greater than the 20% AEP.  

▪ A historical watercourse used to exist beneath Rosemary Lane and connect to 

the Mill Race. This flow path may still exist. 

Direct groundwater flooding 

▪ Similar geology and groundwater level responses expected in the west of the 

catchment as that described for the west / north of the Caton Road catchments.  

▪ There is a moderate risk of groundwater flooding in the northwest of the 

catchment18, with a probability of greater than the 1% AEP (Figure 3-11). This 

confirms the current understanding of groundwater flooding mechanisms 

within the catchment.  

▪ The Mill Race may present a semi-impermeable barrier to groundwater flows, 

and generally lies perpendicular to the main groundwater flow direction in the 

catchment. There is potential for groundwater levels to be artificially raised on 

the upgradient side of the asset, increasing localised groundwater flood risk. 

This may also be an issue due to local building foundations, below ground 

chambers etc.  

▪ In addition, below-ground infrastructure associated with recent development 

around Damside Street and Rosemary Lane has been constructed below the 

level of the water table, and within the alluvial aquifer. There is potential for 

these to act as a barrier to groundwater flows, causing groundwater levels on 

their upgradient side to rise and increase groundwater flood risk to adjacent 

properties.  

Figure 3-11: City Centre groundwater flood risk map 

 

Groundwater contribution to other flood sources 

▪ A shallow water table in parts of the catchment may limit rainfall infiltration, 

increasing the rate of runoff and surface water flooding.  

▪ In addition to direct ingress into drainage and sewer systems, groundwater 

ingress into the Mill Race through misconnections, culverts, shafts, cracks etc. 

could reduce its capacity to convey surface water and sewer flows out of the 

catchment, causing the Mill Race, and associated surface water and sewer 

systems to surcharge at an earlier onset.  

P
age 59



SWMP Report & Action Plan 
 

 

 

 

B2319000-JAC-ZZ-LC-RP-Z-1101  23 

▪ In addition, natural springs are known to issue at Calkeld Street and Rosemary 

Lane, which are understood to drain into the existing surface water drainage 

network, i.e. further reducing its capacity to convey surface water.  

Highway drainage and sewerage infrastructure 

▪ The drainage and sewer network in the west of the catchment generally starts 

to surcharge during the 5% AEP pluvial event, with the greatest flood depths 

occurring at Parliament Street and Bridge Lane / Cable Street.  

▪ If water levels in the River Lune rise above soffit level of surface water outfalls, 

flows could become locked, leading to networks surcharging and flooding 

during more frequent pluvial events.  

Mill Race 

▪ A combination of inflows to the asset, from surface water drainage, CSO 

connections, and foul and surface water sewers, likely cause the Mill Race to 

surcharge during frequent pluvial flood events. This could lead to increased 

groundwater flood risk adjacent to the asset. 

▪ In addition, the outfall for the Mill Race is located within the City Centre 

catchment and is pumped during low flows. Once the pump rate is exceeded 

(potentially during low magnitude pluvial flood events), the Mill Race 

discharges into the River Lune.  

▪ Water levels within the River Lune rise above the top of the Mill Race outfall 

during at least the 50% AEP fluvial flood event, which would likely cause 

hydraulic locking of the asset. This would potentially increase risk of 

surcharging upgradient. 

Other 

▪ The hydraulic modelling identifies a risk of flood water overtopping the 

Lancaster Canal embankments at certain locations along its reach during heavy 

rainfall and strong winds. Flood flows would be routed westwards by the 

topography, and either cause direct flooding or enter drainage and sewerage 

systems (where possible).  

Figure 3.12: Surface water flooding Church Street – July 2017 

 

 

 

 

P
age 60



SWMP Report & Action Plan 
 

 

 

 

B2319000-JAC-ZZ-LC-RP-Z-1101  24 

3.7 Catchment D: Upland 

3.7.1 Catchment Characteristics 

The Upland catchment lies at the southernmost extent of the Lancaster surface 

water catchment. The Lancaster Canal runs along the entire western catchment 

boundary (Figure 3-13), whilst high ground forms the northern, eastern and 

southern catchment boundaries. The City Centre catchment borders the catchment 

to the north and east.  

Figure 3-13: Upland Catchment 

 

The head of the pluvial catchment lies in the far east of the catchment, around 

Golgotha, and reaches an elevation of 84 mAOD. The topography slopes steeply 

westwards towards the Lancaster Canal, with the upgradient canal embankment 

situated at an elevation of between 22-25 mAOD. A second area of high ground 

exists in the southwest (around Haverbreaks), which peaks at 50 mAOD. The 

Lancaster railway line runs north-south through the west of the catchment and its 

embankments would likely influence local topography and corresponding surface 

water routing within its vicinity.  

The primary land uses within the catchment include residential areas, at Bowerham, 

The Greaves and Haverbreaks, as well as public buildings, such as the Royal 

Lancaster Infirmary (situated in the north of the catchment). Green spaces include 

Greaves Park, as well as areas east of the Lancaster Canal and either side of the 

railway line. In the far south of the catchment, to the south of Wellington Road, lies a 

playing field which used to contain a large fishpond and Greaves Quarry.  

There are no watercourses present within the Upland catchment. The catchment is 

drained by a combined sewer system, which drains north, and passes water into the 

City Centre catchment. The hydrological catchment could also contribute water to 

Lucy Brook (located 150 m west) via surface water runoff and / or groundwater (as 

baseflow). 

Freely draining loamy soils are present across most of the catchment, with low 

permeability loam and clay soils in the far east of the catchment16. Made ground is 

mapped in the southeast corner of the catchment, although its extent is likely to be 

larger given the residential land use throughout the catchment. Glacial till, 

comprising a silty sandy gravelly clay, is thought to be present across most of the 

area, except for two small patches in the east, around Greaves Park, and in part of 

the Bowerham residential area17. Glacio-fluvial sands and gravels are mapped in the 

lowest lying part of the catchment, in the west, adjacent to the Lancaster Canal. 

Within a slight topographic depression in the Bowerham residential area, lies a thin 

strip of lacustrine deposits, comprising clays and silts.  

Bedrock underlying the entire catchment comprises interbedded sandstone and 

siltstone, belonging to the Pendle Grit Member. A cluster of historical borehole 

records located immediately south of the catchment boundary show that bedrock 

was reached at depths of between 4-9 mbgl. 

P
age 61



SWMP Report & Action Plan 
 

 

 

 

B2319000-JAC-ZZ-LC-RP-Z-1101  25 

3.7.2 Flood Mechanisms 

Surface water flooding due to direct rainfall runoff 

▪ Similar mechanisms as for the Caton Road and City Centre catchments, with 

potential for significant surface water runoff generation in the east of the 

catchment.  

▪ A minor degree of natural attenuation for surface water flows predicted in the 

localised topographic depression within the Bowerham residential area. 

▪ The hydraulic modelling outputs show two main flow paths during the 1.3% 

AEP pluvial event (Figure 3-14). One flow path originates to the south of the 

Bowerham residential area and conveys runoff northwards through the 

topographic depression within which the properties are located. Runoff is 

shown to spill onto Bowerham Road, and at this point separates into the two 

main flow paths. Flows are either conveyed northwards through the City Centre 

catchment, or are diverted west, and flow through the western half of the 

catchment towards the canal.  

Direct groundwater flooding 

▪ Groundwater levels are not expected to be particularly shallow across the 

catchment, due to the presence of generally low permeability glacial till. The 

exception is the area to the east of the railway bridge, and upgradient of the 

canal. In this location, the water table may approach the ground surface 

following direct recharge to the glaciofluvial aquifer (underlain by till). 

Groundwater contribution to other flood sources 

▪ A potentially shallow water table (at times, i.e. following periods of intense or 

sustained rainfall/recharge saturating the ground) in the area described above, 

may limit rainfall infiltration rates, and increase the risk of localised surface 

water ponding in this area. This may increase volumes of surface water entering 

the drainage network. 

 

 

Highway drainage and sewerage infrastructure 

▪ The drainage and sewer network generally start to surcharge during the 10% 

AEP pluvial event and contributes to the main surface water flow paths 

described above.  

Figure 3-14: Upland surface water flood risk map 

 

 

P
age 62



SWMP Report & Action Plan 
 

 

 

 

B2319000-JAC-ZZ-LC-RP-Z-1101  26 

3.8 Catchment E: Lucy Brook 

3.8.1 Catchment Characteristics 

Further west lies the Lucy Brook catchment, with the Lancaster Canal running along 

the entire south-eastern catchment boundary (Figure 3-15). High ground (and the 

heads of the hydrological catchment), extends to the north, south and west, in the 

form of small raised hillocks. These localised areas of high ground peak at an 

elevation of between 31-36 mAOD. 

Figure 3-15: Lucy Brook sub-catchment 

 

The small ridge of high ground along the north-eastern catchment boundary, and 

that separates the sub-catchment from the City Centre, reaches a maximum 

elevation of around 27 mAOD. Elsewhere within the catchment, the ground surface 

broadly lies at an elevation of between 10-15 mAOD and forms a relatively flat low-

lying valley. The railway embankment runs north-south through the east of the 

catchment and likely influences surface water mechanisms in this area.  

Land use within the catchment is predominantly agricultural, with residential areas 

(Abraham Heights, Aldcliffe and areas to the east of the railway embankment) 

confined to the edges of the catchment; i.e. on slightly higher ground. 

Lucy Brook Ordinary Watercourse is shown by Ordnance Survey maps to issue from 

an area immediately north of Aldcliffe Road, in the far southeast of the catchment. 

The brook flows north along the toe of the railway embankment, before turning west 

and entering culvert under Cromwell Road. The watercourse continues to flow west 

and then northwest through the catchment, predominantly in open channel, where 

it eventually exits the catchment via its western boundary into the adjoining Marsh 

sub-catchment. Two springs are shown on Ordnance Survey maps in the centre and 

southeast of the catchment, indicating potential for shallow groundwater conditions. 

The area of Abraham Heights is served by a separate surface water / foul sewer 

network, with surface water discharged directly into the River Lune. The residential 

areas in the north and east of the catchment are served by a combined sewer 

network, which ultimately feeds into the Lancaster WwTW (via Willow Lane Pumping 

Station located in the Marsh catchment).  

Freely draining loamy soils dominate the catchment16. The presence of made 

ground is confirmed by historical borehole data in the north and east of the 

catchment17. Generally, tarmacadam was encountered, overlying topsoil and sand to 

depths of 1-2 mbgl. Superficial deposits comprise glacial till underneath most of the 

catchment, with drumlins identified in the west, north and east, including the area 

known as Abraham Heights. The till is described as a sandy silty clay with gravel and 

sandstone fragments in historical boreholes in the north and east of the catchment, 

proven to depths of around 3-7 mbgl. Generally, no groundwater was encountered 

at the time of drilling the historical boreholes.  

P
age 63



SWMP Report & Action Plan 
 

 

 

 

B2319000-JAC-ZZ-LC-RP-Z-1101  27 

Glacio-fluvial sands and gravels are shown in the centre and east of the catchment 

and are recorded as underlying the glacial till in historical boreholes in the east and 

northeast, reaching depths of more than 12 mbgl in places. Alluvium is mapped 

along the course of Lucy Brook and its historical tributaries, with adjacent patches of 

peat. Bedrock across most of the catchment comprises interbedded sandstone and 

siltstone, belonging to the Pendle Grit Member, but the Roeburndale Member, 

comprising interbedded siltstone, mudstone and sandstone is expected to be 

present, at depth, in the west. 

3.8.2 Flood Mechanisms 

Surface water flooding due to direct rainfall runoff 

▪ Potential for significant surface water runoff generation within the catchment is 

likely to be low due to the limited catchment extent. But the presence of 

localised mounds of high ground are expected to route runoff towards the low-

lying, flat basin areas, where surface water attenuation is possible. 

▪ The Lancaster Canal acts as a partial barrier to surface water flows from the 

east, but the hydraulic modelling show that runoff originating from the 

Bowerham residential area, could be routed along Aldcliffe Yard and crosses 

the canal; i.e. providing connectivity between the two catchments. 

▪ The hydraulic modelling shows that the main flow path created is associated 

with Lucy Brook Ordinary Watercourse (Figure 3-16). This is formed by one flow 

path that originates to the east of Abraham Heights and conveys runoff 

southwards to join Lucy Brook and a second flow path from the south, 

originating from the residential area of Aldcliffe. There is potential for the 

Brookholme Farm culvert to surcharge and cause out of bank flooding, 

although is unconfirmed due to hydraulic model data gaps.  

Direct groundwater flooding 

▪ In the low-lying areas within the catchment, which correspond well with the 

mapped extent of unconfined sand and gravel superficial aquifers, as well as 

peat deposits, the water table may approach the ground surface following 

periods of prolonged or intense rainfall (evidenced by the presence of springs). 

Elsewhere, groundwater is likely to be confined by glacial till.  

Groundwater contribution to other flood sources 

▪ A potentially shallow water table (at times) in the low-lying areas, as well as the 

presence of glacial till elsewhere, may limit rainfall infiltration rates and 

increase the risk of localised surface water flooding in the catchment. This may 

increase volumes of surface water entering the drainage network. 

Figure 3-16: Lucy Brook surface water flood risk map 

 

Highway drainage and sewerage infrastructure 

▪ The risk of flooding associated with drainage and sewer systems is generally 

thought to be low in the catchment, with little evidence of sewer surcharging 

from the hydraulic model results. The exception is the area around Carr House 

Lane / railway underpass, where the network starts to surcharge during the 

10% AEP pluvial event.  

P
age 64



SWMP Report & Action Plan 
 

 

 

 

B2319000-JAC-ZZ-LC-RP-Z-1101  28 

3.9 Catchment F: Marsh 

3.9.1 Catchment Characteristics 

The Marsh catchment comprises a predominantly flat, low-lying area of land that 

forms part of the River Lune floodplain and estuary. The catchment is bounded to 

the south and east by the Lucy Brook and City Centre catchments respectively, and 

the River Lune to the north (Figure 3-17). The western catchment boundary broadly 

correlates with the mapped extent of linear fluvial and tidal flood defences. 

Figure 3-17: Marsh sub-catchment 

 

Most of the catchment lies at an elevation of between 5-7 mAOD, lying 1-2m higher 

than the banks of the River Lune (around 4-5 mAOD in this location). There are 

several localised areas of high ground, present along the southern and eastern 

catchment boundaries, where the ground surface reaches an elevation of between 

30-35 mAOD. These small hillocks likely control surface water, fluvial, and shallow 

groundwater flow paths entering the catchment from areas of high ground to the 

south. Lancaster train station and the railway line are situated on a north-south 

trending embankment in the east of the catchment, which likely also influences 

hydrological inputs from the surrounding area.  

Land use in the catchment is varied and includes the residential areas of Marsh and 

Abraham Heights in the centre, while the Lune Industrial Estate and Willow Business 

Park lie to the east of New Quay Road. Agricultural grazing land dominates the 

catchment in the west, adjacent to the Lune estuary. In the northeast (around 

Lancaster Castle), lie multiple recreation areas, as well as St George’s Quay. 

The Marsh sub-catchment marks the southernmost extent of the River Lune within 

the overarching Lancaster study area. The potential tidal influence experienced 

along this section of the river will be greater than the City Centre and Caton Road 

catchments, due to its proximity to the Lune Estuary. The linear flood defences 

present along the entire length of this sub-catchment’s western boundary, 

(constructed as part of the Lancaster Phases 1 and 2), are thought to provide a 0.1% 

AEP SoP against tidal flooding.  

Lucy Brook Ordinary Watercourse enters the catchment from the southeast and 

flows in a north-westerly direction, parallel to Willow Lane. The watercourse is 

thought to flow northwest, in and out of culvert, until it eventually discharges into 

the Lune Estuary in the far southwest corner of the catchment. In a field, 

immediately upgradient of the outfall, are several ponds which appear to be natural 

in origin. In addition, it appears that several drainage ditches connect into Lucy 

Brook along its reach throughout the catchment.  

A combined sewer system serves most of the catchment, although the residential 

area of Abraham Heights and St George’s Quay in the north are served by a separate 

foul and surface water network. The Marsh sub-catchment includes one of the main 

outflow points for the Lancaster surface water catchment, with the Willow Lane 

Pumping Station conveying flows to Lancaster WwTW.  

P
age 65



SWMP Report & Action Plan 
 

 

 

 

B2319000-JAC-ZZ-LC-RP-Z-1101  29 

Most of the catchment comprises loamy and sandy soils, with naturally high 

groundwater and a peaty surface16. Freely draining loamy soils are thought to be 

present in the south and east. Made ground is expected across large parts of the 

catchment, but particularly in the industrial areas close to the River Lune. Historical 

borehole data confirms the presence of made ground to depths of between 1-3 

mbgl in the centre and north of the catchment, comprised of sand, clinker gravel 

and concrete17. Mapped superficial geology shows alluvium overlying glaciofluvial 

sands and gravels throughout most of the catchment, except in the south and east. 

Historical borehole data shows significant thicknesses of gravel deposits, reaching 

depths of between 17-48 mbgl in the north of the catchment. Elsewhere, glacial till 

comprising sandy silty clay with gravel is mapped in the south, with drumlins shown 

to be present along the southern and eastern catchment boundaries. During drilling 

of historical boreholes within the catchment, groundwater was reportedly struck at a 

depth of up to 2.3 mbgl. 

Bedrock underlying most of the catchment is the Roeburndale Member, comprising 

interbedded siltstone, mudstone, and sandstone, with a single sandstone unit 

present in the centre of the catchment. A north-south trending fault cuts across the 

bedrock in the west and separates the Roeburndale Member from the Collyhurst 

Sandstone Formation, and the adjoining Cumbrian Coast Group. The Pendle Grit 

Member sandstone is mapped in the far eastern edge of the catchment. 

3.9.2 Flood Mechanisms 

Surface water flooding due to direct rainfall runoff 

▪ Like the Lucy Brook catchment, there is limited potential for significant surface 

water flow paths to be created due to the flat topography. 

▪ The hydraulic modelling shows three main flow paths during the 1.3% AEP 

pluvial event (Figure 3-18). However, these are mainly associated with flooding 

from Lucy Brook. At Freeman’s Wood, the flooding splits, with a proportion of 

flows conveyed north along Willow Lane that spills into the adjacent business 

park.  

Figure 3-18: Marsh surface water flood risk map 

 

Direct groundwater flooding 

▪ Made ground deposits and superficial geology are expected to be highly 

permeable in the north and west of the catchment, giving rise to rapid 

responses in groundwater levels following recharge events (either directly or 

from being in potential hydraulic continuity with the Lune). At times, 

groundwater levels may be shallow, and approach the ground surface in the 

low-lying parts of the catchment. This may cause flooding to below ground 

infrastructure, such as basements, cellars etc. where present.  

▪ Where there are no significant sub-surface barriers, there is potential for water 

levels within the River Lune and the alluvial / sand and gravel aquifers to be in 

hydraulic continuity. When river levels are high, pressure heads could recharge 

the aquifer(s), and cause groundwater levels to rise away from the flood 

defences, even when the river flows remain in bank. 

P
age 66



SWMP Report & Action Plan 
 

 

 

 

B2319000-JAC-ZZ-LC-RP-Z-1101  30 

3.10 Surface Water Flood Consequences 

3.10.1 Quantifying flood risk 

Using the outputs of the 1D-2D integrated hydraulic model it is possible to quantify 

current and future risk of surface water flooding across the City centre by 

considering the potential impacts on: 

▪ Properties, including residential and businesses, and resulting direct, indirect 

and intangible economic damages that could be incurred should those 

properties flood internally; 

▪ Vulnerable and critical infrastructure such as electricity substations, police 

stations, hospitals etc.; and the 

▪ Environment, such as impacts on water quality in the receiving and downstream 

watercourses either directly through surface water runoff, or indirectly via 

combined sewer overflows. 

Section 4 of the Catchment Study provides further detail on the methodology 

adopted to estimate properties at risk and resulting economic damages with 

detailed results provided at sub-catchment level. The following sections provide an 

overview of the results. All figures stated assume a present-day (Do-Minimum) 

scenario unless otherwise stated. 

Do-Minimum scenario 

The Do-Minimum scenario is defined as the minimum amount of action or 

intervention necessary to deliver the legal requirement or sustain the standard of 

service of the asset. It therefore assumes that maintenance is carried out and 

culverts and gullies remain clear of blockages over the full appraisal period. 

Blockages are however still assumed along the Mill Race as it is known that there 

is currently no maintenance carried out on this asset. For present day, the impact 

of climate change over epoch 1 (5% uplift) on rainfall intensity is still considered, 

with a MHWS tidal level assuming free flow of surface water discharges. 

3.10.2 Properties at Risk 

Table 3-2 and Table 3-3 illustrate the cumulative number of properties at risk of 

surface water flooding across the city for various rainfall events during the present-

day scenario.  

Table 3-2: Residential properties at risk of flooding  

Sub-Catchments 
AEP / Number of Properties 

50% 20% 5% 3.33% 1.3% 1% 0.5% 

A: Upper Caton Road 2 3 3 4 4 4 5 

B: Lower Caton Road 21 35 50 51 74 83 100 

C: City Centre 40 62 112 129 194 224 281 

D: Upland 28 40 64 77 100 105 117 

E: Lucy  38 43 55 69 86 92 126 

F: Marsh 23 42 96 119 261 304 362 

Table 3-3: Non-residential properties at risk of flooding  

Sub-Catchments 
AEP / Number of Properties 

50% 20% 5% 3.33% 1.3% 1% 0.5% 

A: Upper Caton Road 9 14 28 30 38 39 41 

B: Lower Caton Road 15 23 40 45 61 68 101 

C: City Centre 49 70 106 127 171 183 216 

D: Upland 5 10 13 13 16 16 18 

E: Lucy  3 4 12 12 14 15 15 

F: Marsh 3 5 15 18 29 30 38 

P
age 67



SWMP Report & Action Plan 
 

 

 

 

B2319000-JAC-ZZ-LC-RP-Z-1101  31 

3.10.3 Economic flood damages 

The consequence of flooding in monetary terms is estimated through the 

calculation of economic flood damages using standardised guidelines and figures 

provided in the Environment Agency’s Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management 

Appraisal Guidance (FCERM-AG)20, and the Middlesex University’s Flood Hazard 

Research Centre’s Multi-Coloured Manual (MCM)21.  

The calculation of flood damages considers:  

▪ Residential and non-residential direct damages resulting from flood water 

inundating a property; 

▪ Vehicle damages; 

▪ Indirect non-residential damages; 

▪ Emergency service costs; and 

▪ Costs associated with evacuation and providing temporary accommodation.  

Flood damages estimates are then calculated for:  

▪ A single, specific storm event i.e. a 1% AEP rainfall event; 

▪ Average annual damages (AAD) i.e. the annual average damages expected to 

be incurred each year considering the probability of each storm event 

occurring; and 

▪ Total present value (PV) damages over a longer appraisal period (in this case 

100-years) i.e. considers the impact of climate change and discounted rates on 

the AAD over the appraisal period.  

Each stage of the calculation process provides a useful insight into flood risk.  

Damages incurred during a single storm event 

Figure 3-19 illustrates the split of damages incurred due to surface water flooding 

across a range of single storm events modelled.  

This includes total damages across the six sub-catchments (Upper Caton, Lower 

Caton, City centre, Upland, Lucy Brook and Marsh catchments). 

Figure 3-19: Damages per AEP event 

 

£ M

£5 M

£10 M

£15 M

£20 M

£25 M

£30 M

£35 M

£40 M

50% AEP 20% AEP 5% AEP 3.33% AEP 1.33% AEP 1% AEP 0.5% AEP

Residential Damage Non-Residential Damage

Vehicle Damage Indirect Damage (Non-Residential)

Emergency Services Costs Evacuation Costs

P
age 68



SWMP Report & Action Plan 
 

 

 

 

B2319000-JAC-ZZ-LC-RP-Z-1101  32 

As shown in Table 3-2, more residential properties are at risk across the six sub-

catchments in total. However, as shown in Figure 3-19, non-residential damages 

account for the largest proportion (approx. 60%) of direct damages, in comparison 

to residential direct damages (approx. 30%). Other indirect or intangible damages 

account for approximately 10% of the total damages incurred.  

This is observed across all storm events modelled, although the percentage on non-

residential damages does increase with more extreme rainfall events. Figure 3-20 

helps to illustrate this percentage split for the 3.33% AEP event.  

Figure 3-20: Damages (3.33% AEP event)  

 

It can also be observed from Figure 3-19 that non-residential damages significant 

increase from the 5% AEP and again and the 1.33% AEP. A similar step is also 

present in residential properties at risk. This may indicate exceedance thresholds 

where surface water drainage networks become overloaded or when flood depths 

exceed residential properties thresholds at scale.  

Figure 3.21 helps to illustrate the type of non-residential property at risk. As can be 

seen, there is a large proportion of warehouses, offices, and manufacturing 

properties potentially as expected within the industrial estates along Caton Road. 

Retail, offices and hospitality are more expected within the city centre.  

Figure 3.21: Type of non-residential property at risk (1.33% AEP event)  

 

30%

57%

1%

2%

5%
5%

Residential Damage Non-Residential Damage

Vehicle Damage Indirect Damage (Non-Residential)

Emergency Services Costs Evacuation Costs

36%

30%

21%

5%
4%

2% 1% 1%

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

35%

40% P
age 69



SWMP Report & Action Plan 
 

 

 

 

B2319000-JAC-ZZ-LC-RP-Z-1101  33 

Effects of climate change of future flood damages 

The likelihood and intensity of summer rainfall events is predicted to increase in the 

North West of England as a result of climate change. Consequently, surface water 

flooding may become more frequent and severe in the future.  

To assess the effects of climate change, UKCP09 projections associated with the 

central estimate on rainfall intensity allowances have been modelled across the full 

range of storm events. A climate change uplift allowance for peak tidal levels has 

also been applied to understand the impact on surface water discharges. The 

climate change uplifts have been applied in line with the 2016 Environment Agency 

guidance for Flood risk assessments22 as outlined in Table 3.4. Further details of the 

approach are outlined in the Catchment Study.  

Table 3.4: Climate change allowances (total potential change anticipated). 

Source Epoch 1: ‘2020s’ 

(2018 to 2039) 

Epoch 2: ‘2050s’ 

(2040 to 2069) 

Epoch 3: ‘2080s’ 

(2070 to 2115) 

Rainfall 5% 10% 20% 

Tidal levels 108.5mm 343.5mm 870.5mm 

Figure 3-22 illustrates to total direct damage that could be incurred across each 

storm event as well as the impact of climate change across each of the three epochs.  

The figure shows a relatively minor increase in direct damages between Epoch 1 and 

Epoch 2, suggesting a lack of sensitivity to an additional 5% in rainfall over the next 

20 to 40 years. This could also suggest that during the present-day scenarios (Epoch 

1), most of the urban drainage network would already be overwhelmed during high 

frequency events and the additional rainfall is unlikely to change the pattern of 

flooding. 

However, the figure also shows that during Epoch 3, there is a considerable increase 

in damages predicted, particularly during high magnitude/lower frequency events. 

This shows the catchment is sensitive to an increase in rainfall of 20% which could 

suggest a tipping point either further overloading of critical drainage infrastructure, 

additional flood hotspots or property thresholds being exceeded.  

Figure 3-22: Effects of climate change on damages per AEP event  

 

£ M

£5 M

£10 M

£15 M

£20 M

£25 M

£30 M

£35 M

50% 20% 5% 3.33% 1.3% 1% 0.5%

Residential (Epoch 1) Residential (Epoch 2) Residential (Epoch 3)

Non-Residential (Epoch 1) Non-Residential (Epoch 2) Non-Residential (Epoch 3)

P
age 70



SWMP Report & Action Plan 
 

 

 

 

B2319000-JAC-ZZ-LC-RP-Z-1101  34 

Present value damages 

Table 3-5 provides an overview of the total PV damages incurred over the full 100-

year appraisal period. These have been provided on a sub-catchment basis for both 

residential and non-residential properties.  

Figure 3-23 illustrates the distribution of properties at risk of flooding and their 

associated PV damages.  

Table 3-5: Total PV damages 

Sub-Catchment Residential  Non-Res Other Total 

A: Upper Caton Road £0.49 m £28.08 m £1.50 m £30.07 m 

B: Lower Caton Road £3.41 m £8.11 m £0.69 m £12.21 m 

C: City Centre £8.37 m £11.57 m £1.79 m £21.73 m 

D: Upland £4.94 m £0.17 m £0.70 m £5.81 m 

E: Lucy Brook £6.30 m £1.04 m £0.45 m £7.79 m 

F: Marsh £8.34 m £0.95 m £1.83 m £11.12 m 

Total £31.85 m £49.92 m £6.96 m £88.73 m 

Figure 3-23: Present Value damages per property 

 

 

P
age 71



 

SWMP Report & Action Plan 
 

 

 

 

B2319000-JAC-ZZ-LC-RP-Z-1101  35 

3.10.4 Infrastructure at risk 

Flooding of vulnerable or critical infrastructure can have a significant impact on the 

communities that they serve. Not only is there a potential direct impact or damage 

associated with the infrastructure becoming inundated (e.g. damage to road 

surface), the loss of service can also have wider reaching impacts. For example, the 

flooding of the Caton Road substation during Storm Desmond resulted in the loss of 

power for 61,000 properties. This resulted in far reaching impacts including the loss 

of mobile phone coverage, the internet and household lighting and heating23.  

The serviceability of an infrastructure also plays an important role in post-flood 

recovery and response. If hospitals or fire stations, which need to remain operational 

during times of flood are unable to, impacts associated with flooding can be 

prolonged and intensified. This could result in further social and economic impacts 

which are not considered when calculating property damages.  

Figure 3-24 helps to illustrate the immediate response required to the substation 

flooding in Lancaster including generators brought into Lancaster from as far away 

as the West Country and Northern Ireland and re-laying of high voltage cables 

outside the substation. Table 3-6 provides an overview of vulnerable or critical 

infrastructure at risk of surface water flooding in Lancaster based on the hydraulic 

modelling results.  

Figure 3-24: Response required due to substation flooding23 

 

Table 3-6: Vulnerable and critical infrastructure and services at risk 

Infrastructure Onset Comments 

Royal Lancaster 

Infirmary 

20% AEP Approximately 50% of the site is at risk from shallow (<250mm) 

flooding predicted to approximately up to 1% AEP event. Flood 

depths are predicted increase in some areas of the site up to 

400mm during events >1% AEP. 

Lancaster 

Community Fire & 

Ambulance 

Station 

20% AEP The site at Cable Street is at risk of shallow (<250mm) flooding 

during the 5% AEP event. The site will become surround by 

floodwater of up to 200mm during 1% AEP event. Flood depths in 

excess of 500mm are predicted along surrounding roads during 

1.33% AEP, which could impede access. 

Lancaster Police 

Station 

> 0.2% 

AEP 

The station at Thurnham Street would remain free from floodwater 

up to the 0.2% AEP event.  

Lancaster City Bus 

Station 

1% AEP The station at Cable Street is at risk of shallow (<250mm) flooding 

during the 1% AEP event. Flooding to surrounding roads is 

predicted up to 500mm during the 1.3% AEP event.  

Mannin Way 

substations 

10% AEP Onset of flooding during the 10% AEP event to depths of 

approximately 250mm. These increase through various flood events 

to a maximum of 350mm during the 1% AEP event. 

Lansil Way 

substations 

5% AEP Early onset of flooding, however, depths are predicted to be shallow 

(<100mm) across all modelled return periods. 

Kingsway Retail 

Park 

1.3% AEP Flooding to the site would likely occur from the 1.3% AEP event 

onwards, with maximum flood depths anticipated to be 150mm 

(1.33% AEP event) to 250mm (1% AEP event) 

Spring Garden 

Street substations 

20% AEP Primary substation for Lancaster (along with Caton Road), flooding 

of the site onsets at 20% AEP event to a depth of approximately 

150mm. This increases to a maximum of 250mm up to the 1% AEP 

event. 

Caton Road 

substation 

10% AEP Model results suggest that the substation is at risk of flooding 

during a 10% AEP event. However, this substation flooded during 

Storm Desmond and measures have since been taken to protect the 

site against a 0.1% AEP event. 

P
age 72



 

SWMP Report & Action Plan 
 

 

 

 

B2319000-JAC-ZZ-LC-RP-Z-1101  36 

3.10.5 Resilient Route Network 

The Resilient Route Network is conceptualised as the minimum road network 

Lancashire County Council will strive to be keep continuously open, as far as is 

practicably possible, in severe weather to protect essential economic activity and 

provide access to key services. It ensures continuity of travel across neighbouring 

local authority boundaries by providing access to the strategic road network.  

Figure 3-25: Resilient Route Network in and around Lancaster 

 

 
iii 250mm has been chosen to demonstrate where use of roads could become difficult based on Defra research24 

into flood hazards, where depths of less than 250mm usually represent a low hazard unless high velocities 

(>2m/s) are encountered. 

Figure 3-25 shows the resilient route network identified through the City centre. 

According to the results of the hydraulic modelling, much of the network is 

predicted to experience either no or shallow (<250mmiii) surface water flooding 

during all rainfall events modelled. However, there are five locations that could 

experience deeper (>250mm) surface water flooding. Flooding at these locations 

could impact on emergency service responses, and general use by the public, during 

and after a flood event.  

These locations are shown in Figure 3-25, with information on predicted flood 

depths presented in Table 3-7. Flooding at PRN1 and PRN2 would cause major 

disruption for commuters entering / leaving to city from Junction 34 of the M6. Due 

to Lancaster’s one-way system, flooding at RRN3, RRN4 and RRN5 would also 

prevent people and services moving through the city centre with very few alternative 

routes available.  

Table 3-7: Flooding depths at locations along the Resilient Route Network  

Figure 

Reference  

Location AEP / Flood Depth (mm) 

5% 1.33% 1%  

RRN1 Bay Gateway Junction 400 500 600 

RRN2 Caton Road/Mannin Way 400 400 500 

RRN3 Caton Road (Lawsons Quay) 500 750 800 

RRN4 Cable Street 500 800 900 

RRN5 Rosemary Lane/Chapel Street 205 400 400 

  

P
age 73



 

SWMP Report & Action Plan 
 

 

 

 

B2319000-JAC-ZZ-LC-RP-Z-1101  37 

Flood hazards (combining flood depths and velocities), as defined by the Defra and 

the Environment Agency methodology24, provides a useful alternative dataset for 

assessing flood risk. This is particularly useful dataset to understand the risk of 

flooding along the road network especially where fast flowing water (like those 

observed in Lancaster) can cause significant disruption even if flood depths are 

shallow. 

Table 3-8 provides the flood hazards across the Resilient Route Network, using the 

following definitions: 

▪ Low (Caution) - flood zone with shallow flowing water or deep standing water 

▪ Moderate (Dangerous for some (i.e. children)) - flood zone with deep or fast 

flowing water 

▪ Significant (Dangerous for most people) - a flood zone with deep, fast flowing 

water 

▪ Extreme (Dangerous for all (including emergency services)) - flood zone with 

deep, fast flowing water 

Table 3-8: Hazard ratings for flooded locations along the Resilient Route Network  

Figure 

Reference  

Location AEP / Hazard Rating 

5% 1.33% 1%  

RRN1 Bay Gateway Junction Moderate Significant Significant 

RRN2 Caton Road/Mannin Way Moderate Moderate Significant 

RRN3 Caton Road (Lawsons Quay) Significant Significant Significant 

RRN4 Cable Street Significant Significant Significant 

RRN5 Rosemary Lane/Chapel Street Low Significant Significant 

Whilst no “extreme” flood hazards on the Resilient Route Network have been 

identified, the findings presented in Table 3-8 suggest that parts of the network 

would be hazardous during relatively low magnitude events i.e. 5% AEP around the 

City centre. Much of the network within the whole catchment would experience 

enough flooding during higher magnitude events i.e. greater than 1.33% AEP to 

make travel difficult and dangerous. This would likely hinder the day to day activities 

of the general public, whilst making emergency operations such as evacuations 

more challenging. 

3.10.6 Risk to future development 

Lancaster City Council have implemented several strategic initiatives designed to 

regenerate disadvantaged areas, remove barriers to investment and enable 

sustainable economic growth25.  Across the City Centre, these include: 

▪ Lancaster Square Routes - public realm improvement works (between 2011-

12 and March and November 2014) to rejuvenate the important historic city 

centre and included Market Square, Market Street, Cheapside, Horseshoe 

Corner and Penny Street.  

▪ Beyond the Castle – improvement works of a 14 ha of urban green space 

around Lancaster Castle and down to St George's Quay.  

▪ The Canal Quarter – redevelopment of a 6.69 ha derelict and under-used site 

with a mix of uses including 1,000 new dwellings and business and retails 

opportunities before 2023. 

▪ Luneside East Regeneration Project – regeneration of a new quarter of the city 

with a mix of residential, commercial space, high quality open spaces and 

walking and cycling routes. This is located on a 7ha site located on the south 

banks of the River Lune on Lancaster’s historic St George’s Quay. 

The City Centre is also expanding. The largest proposed development includes:  

▪ Land at Ridge Farm and Cuckoo Farm – an existing 120 ha undeveloped site, 

consisting of pastoral farmland, pockets of woodland and copse and areas of 

Lansil Golf Course, to deliver in the region of 1,000 new homes over the course 

of the plan period and beyond into the next plan period26. 

  

P
age 74



 

SWMP Report & Action Plan 
 

 

 

 

B2319000-JAC-ZZ-LC-RP-Z-1101  38 

Strategic approach to development and flood risk 

Managing and reducing flood risk throughout the city can play an important role in 

supporting the area’s regeneration and growth prospects by making it more 

attractive to businesses and putting it on a par with other potential locations. This 

includes managing the risk of flooding to transportation links, making access more 

resilient along with potentially positive impacts on insurance costs.  

Reducing flood risk may also provide scope to broaden the economic base and 

resilience of the area by allowing types of businesses to locate there that might 

otherwise not have been permitted due to planning regulations and restricted land 

use due to the level of flood risk.  

The recently adopted Local Plan (adopted Summer 2020iv) has identified several 

Strategic and Development Management policies that should support sustainable 

management of surface water through the City, including:  

▪ Strategic Policy 8: Protecting the natural environment (particularly the 

expectation that development should be designed in such a way as to not 

create new flooding issues in future or exacerbate current problems) 

▪ Development Management 29: Key design principles (particularly 

consideration of SuDS and Green Infrastructure) 

▪ Development Management 34: Surface water run-off and sustainable drainage 

(particularly consideration of Surface Water Drainage hierarchy, attenuation 

measures and biodiversity) 

▪ Development Management 36: Protecting water resources and infrastructure 

(particularly capture of ‘grey water’ and use of SuDS) 

▪ Development Management 43: Green infrastructure (particularly extension of 

existing green space/corridor frameworks) 

 
iv The Local Plan is currently undergoing review, following the declaration of a Climate Emergency by Lancaster 

City Council in January 2019. This includes a further look at the role green-blue infrastructure plays in the 

planning process 

Site-specific approach to development and flood risk 

At a site level, regeneration and new development also provide an opportunity to 

reduce existing flood risk or to create capacity in the downstream drainage system 

through careful master-planning and the implementation of sustainable drainage 

systems (SuDS). 

Whilst the risk of surface water flooding to these sites has not been explicitly 

assessed within this SWMP. It will therefore be important that Lancaster City Council 

and individual developers consider the surface water flood risk identified within this 

study at the earliest stage of the planning process.  

It is recommended that these developments adhere to specific policy relating to 

surface water management in this document in addition to the requirements of the 

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF). 

3.10.7 Water quality  

The Water Framework Directive (WFD) requires all water bodies (defined as “a 

discrete and significant element of surface water” including part/all of a river, canal 

or stream) in Europe to achieve both good chemical status and good ecological 

status.  The Environment Agency are the competent authority in England for 

delivering WFD targets, as well as assessing Ecological and Chemical status of all 

water bodies.  

Ecological status is based on biological, physico-chemical and hydromorphological 

quality elements which assessed as being High, Good, Moderate, Poor or Bad. High 

status means no or very minor human alterations, and Bad status means a severe 

deviation in biological quality elements from reference conditions. Chemical status 

is determined by assessing compliance with environmental standards for chemicals 

that are listed in the Environmental Quality Standards (EQS) Directive. To achieve 

P
age 75



 

SWMP Report & Action Plan 
 

 

 

 

B2319000-JAC-ZZ-LC-RP-Z-1101  39 

Good status requires every EQS to be met, with a single failure resulting in a status 

of Fail. 

Within the Lancaster City, there are three WFD water bodies: 

▪ Lune transitional water body, which covers the River Lune downstream of 

Skerton Weir to Glasson (approximately 6km downstream of Lancaster) 

▪ Lune confluence Wenning to tidal surface water body, covers the River Lune 

from Skerton Weir to Hornby (approximately 6km upstream of Lancaster) 

▪ Lancaster Canal (cruising section), an artificial water body which runs through 

Lancaster but runs from Carnforth to Preston (approximately 71.5km)  

Table 3-9 summarises the baseline conditions for these WFD water bodies Cycle 2 

(2019) data collected by the Environment Agency27. 

Table 3-9: Baselines WFD water body classifications 

Water body name Water body ID Ecological 

status 

Chemical 

status 

Lune GB531207212100 Bad Fail 

Lune confluence Wenning to tidal GB112072065980 Moderate Fail 

Lancaster Canal GB71210228 Moderate Fail 

Whilst the Environment Agency are responsible for compliance with WFD targets 

and overseeing delivery of WFD mitigation measures, it is recognised that all the 

RMAs can assist in the improvement of WFD status and water body quality through 

sustainable management of surface water. 

Impact on water quality from surface water flooding 

Surface water flooding, particularly in urban areas, can significantly impact on water 

quality in receiving water bodies, in this case the River Lune and the Lancaster Canal. 

This can include direct and indirect impacts such as: 

▪ Urban surface water runoff, which can wash pollutants and contaminates (e.g. 

from roads) directly into watercourses or via surface water drainage systems; 

▪ Structural deficiency and misconnections in drainage systems; and 

▪ Indirect impacts, such as discharges from combined sewer overflows. 

This is particularly relevant to the Lune transitional water body, which is failing to 

achieve good status largely on account of diffuse source pollution from urban 

developments (including transport) and sewage discharge (point discharge)27. 

Management 

River Basin Management Plans (RBMPs) provide a framework for protecting and 

enhancing the benefits provided by the water environment. The RBMP for the North 

West sets out seven significant water management issues, with the issues most likely 

being faced in Lancaster being pollution from wastewater, pollution from towns, 

cities and transport and physical modifications. Future aims of the RBMP for the 

Lune catchment include expanding the Lower Lune Restoration Project to enhance 

riparian (riverside) habitats and use of SuDS in Lancaster to combat urban pollution. 

P
age 76



SWMP Report & Action Plan 
 

 

 

 

B2319000-JAC-ZZ-LC-RP-Z-1101  40 

4. Options 

4.1 Introduction 

This section of the SWMP discusses how surface water flooding across these sub-

catchments could be managed in the future by considering a range of structural, 

non-structural and adaptation measures, with those suitable and deliverable 

measures taken forward into the SWMP Action Plan found in Table 5.1 in Section 5.  

The measures identified and options developed have been informed by the findings 

presented in Section 2 (Risk Assessment) of this SWMP including local knowledge of 

the catchment, historical flood records, the perceived understanding of flooding 

mechanism, and the location of at-risk properties. 

Given this understanding, this section focuses on four sub-catchments where the 

greatest risk of surface water flooding has been identified, including:  

▪ Catchment A: Upper Caton Road 

▪ Catchment B: Caton Road 

▪ Catchment C: City centre; and  

▪ Catchment D: Upland  

 

Measures and Options 

In this SWMP, a measure is defined as a proposed individual action or procedure 

intended to minimise current and future surface water flood risk or wholly or 

partially meet other agreed objectives of the SWMP. An option (or options) is 

made up of either a single, or a combination of previously defined measures. 

 

4.2 Surface Water Flood Risk Management Strategy 

Prior to identifying suitable measures, it is first necessary to define the overall 

surface water flood risk management strategy, which includes: 

▪ The overall goal of what we are aiming to achieve; and 

▪ Specific objectives to address the flood risk and associated problems. 

By defining a strategy collaboratively with relevant stakeholders and partners will 

also improve the way adaptation measures (identified later in this section) are 

eventually integrated into daily activities, projects, long-term strategic investment 

plans, and strategies for places and catchments.  

As acknowledged in the National Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management 

Strategy, a strategic approach will allow RMAs and partners to work together to: 

▪ Deliver practical and innovative actions that help to bolster resilience to flood in 

local places; 

▪ Make greater use of nature-based solutions that take a catchment led approach 

to managing the flow of water to improve resilience to floods; 

▪ Maximise opportunities to work with farmers and land managers to help them 

adapt their businesses and practices to be resilient to flooding; 

▪ Develop adaptive pathways in local places that equip practitioners and policy 

makers to better plan for future flood and adapt to future climate hazards; 

▪ Put greater focus on providing timely and quality planning advice that helps 

avoid inappropriate development in areas at risk of flooding; 

▪ Leave the environment in a better state by contributing to environmental net 

gain for new development proposals; 

Ensure that spending on flood resilience contributes to job creation and 

sustainable growth in local places; 

▪ Mainstream property flood resilience measures and to ‘build back better’ after 

flooding to reduce damages and enable faster recovery for local communities 

P
age 77



SWMP Report & Action Plan 
 

 

 

 

B2319000-JAC-ZZ-LC-RP-Z-1101  41 

▪ Provide expert advice on how infrastructure providers (road, rail, water and 

power supplies) can ensure their investments are more resilient to future 

flooding avoiding disruption to peoples’ lives and livelihoods; 

▪ Support communities to better prepare and respond to flooding, including 

transforming how people receive flood warnings; 

▪ Ensure people and businesses receive the support they need from all those 

involved in recovery so they can get back to normal quicker after flooding; 

▪ Help support communities with managing the long-term mental health impacts 

from flooding; 

▪ Develop the skills and capabilities needed to better support communities to 

adapt to future flooding; and 

▪ Become a world leader in the research and innovation of flood risk 

management to better protect current and future generations. 

4.2.1 SWMP Workshop 

Using the framework set out in the SWMP Technical Guidance and guiding principles 

within the National Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy, a 

workshop was held with the multi-agency Steering Group (Figure 2-3) to: 

▪ Share the findings of the Risk Assessment to provide a common understanding 

of surface water flood risk across the City centre; 

▪ Discuss RMA statutory responsibilities and duties with regards to flood risk 

management and their specific priorities within the City of Lancaster; 

▪ Understand what partners are doing or have planned in the City centre that 

may directly or indirectly influence future flood risk;  

▪ Discuss how surface water flood risk can be managed collectively in the future. 

Appendix B contains findings of the SWMP Workshop including an overview of 

individual RMA flood risk management objectives identified. These findings have 

then been used to define the Goal and Strategic Objectives. 

 

Flood Risk Management Goal 

The goal of the strategy is to reduce the risk of surface water flood risk in 

Lancaster City.  

However, it must be acknowledged that it will be impossible to completely 

eliminate the possibility of flooding. Therefore, an adaptive approach is required 

to bolster resilience to flooding, both now and in the face of climate change, with 

all stakeholders and partners continually working together over the long-term to:  

▪ Making the right investment and planning decisions to secure sustainable 

growth and environmental improvements, as well as infrastructure resilient 

to flooding; and 

▪ Ensuring that ‘at risk’ businesses, residents and visitors in the City 

understand what is required to be adequately prepared for, and resilient to, 

extreme flood events. 

To help deliver this goal across the City, the follow five strategic objectives have 

been defined. Further detail on what these mean for the City centre is provided on 

the following page.  

Strategic Objectives 

▪ SO1: Provide a collective understanding of existing and future surface 

water flood risk  

▪ SO2: Reduce the vulnerability and cost to City businesses, residents and 

visitors from flooding 

▪ SO3: Respond effectively in the event of flooding by providing emergency 

assistance to those in need 

▪ SO4: Assist in recovery enabling the City residents and businesses to 

resume normal activities promptly 

▪ SO5: Monitor and review appropriateness of strategies, plans and actions 

P
age 78



SWMP Report & Action Plan 
 

 

 

B2319000-JAC-ZZ-LC-RP-Z-1101  42 

SO1: Provide a collective understanding of existing and future surface water 

flood risk 
 SO2: Reduce the vulnerability and cost to City businesses, residents and visitors from 

flooding 

1 Building relationships with ‘at risk’ businesses and residents to improve 

awareness of the risks they face by sharing information in consistent and 

digestible way; 

2 Communicating changes in risk to those who are most likely to be affected; 

and 

3 Establish community/flood action groups to facilitate exchange of information 

between the public and RMAs. 

 1 Adopting a partnership approach to the delivery of schemes and works that:  

▪ reduce the likelihood and/or impact of surface water flooding to residential and 

commercial properties; 

▪ improve property resistance and resilience; 

▪ have low maintenance costs and are adaptable to the impacts of climate change; 

▪ reduce unsatisfactory discharges (permitted and non-permitted, as well as direct 

and indirect) into the River Lune;  

▪ reduce internal and external sewer flooding; 

▪ relieve pressure on the highway and combined sewerage network; and, 

▪ enhance the resilience of critical infrastructure. 

2 Prioritising interventions that deliver multiple benefits, specifically:  

▪ low carbon / carbon neutral measures; 

▪ improvements to air and water quality;  

▪ amenity and biodiversity enhancements; 

▪ creating new, and maintain existing, ecological corridors; and, 

▪ enhancements to the public realm which allow people to connect with the 

natural environment through greening of urban space. 

3 Ensuring that early in the design and master planning process (within the City 

catchment), City centre regeneration, development and transportation plans: 

▪ adopt sustainable drainage techniques (SuDS) to capture and attenuate surface 

water runoff, and follow the hierarchy of surface water discharge to limit 

discharge to the public sewer network; 

▪ consider the retrofit of nature-based solution (e.g. urban green parks, walls and 

roofs);  

▪ provide betterment (not just ‘no impact’); and, 

▪ embody the principle of environmental net gain. 

4 Supporting businesses in the development of continuity and preparedness plans. 

SO3: Respond effectively in the event of flooding by providing emergency 

assistance to those in need by: 

 

1 Maintaining emergency response plans that: 

▪ provide clear roles and responsibilities; 

▪ identify higher risk properties and more vulnerable communities; and 

▪ identify safe access and egress routes. 

2 Maintaining a Resilient Route Network.  

 

SO4: Assist in recovery enabling the City residents and businesses to resume 

normal activities promptly by: 

 

1 Understanding the critical needs of ‘at risk’ communities to allow for 

prioritisation of resources post-flood event. 

2 Supporting affected businesses and residents in obtaining / providing 

emergency funding to affect repair work. 

3 Offering guidance on the actions and measures that can be taken to improve 

resilience to future flood events, for example selection of Property Level 

Protection measures. 

 

SO5: Monitor and review appropriateness of strategies, plans and actions by:  

1 Collecting and sharing of flood data and information. 

2 Undertaking Section 19 Investigations. 

3 Reprioritizing schemes and works as necessary to meet changing priorities.  

 

P
age 79



SWMP Report & Action Plan 
 

 

 

B2319000-JAC-ZZ-LC-RP-Z-1101  43 

4.3 Identify Measures and Options 

4.3.1 Structural, non-structural and adaptation measures 

Given the understanding of flood mechanisms outlined in Section 2 (Risk 

Assessment) of this SWMP, a long list of structural, non-structural and adaptation 

measures have been identified (Table 4-1) to help deliver the five strategic 

objectives.  

These measures have been identified using the source-pathway-receptor model. 

Each measure will provide different levels of resilience from surface water flooding, 

have a range of benefits and costs associated with them, and could be delivered by 

multiple stakeholders and partners.   

Source-pathway-receptor model:  

▪ Source control measures aim to reduce the rate and volume to surface water 

runoff through infiltration or storage reducing the impact on receiving drainage 

catchments. Within an urban environment, source control of surface water 

runoff can be achieved using the Sustainable Drainage Systems (SUDS) 

approach to drainage. Within rural upper catchments, these could include 

Natural Flood Management (NFM) techniques.  

▪ Pathway measures seek to manage overland and underground flow pathways 

of water. Within an urban environment, they include traditional hard 

engineering solutions to increase pipe capacities to remove pinch points or 

provide additional storage or measures along roads to contain or redirect 

overland flows. Measures along more natural watercourses could include 

enhanced maintenance or reconnecting the floodplain; and  

▪ Receptor measures which can help reduce the impact (consequence) of 

flooding on receptors such as people, property and the environment. Measures 

such as property level resilience is often considered as a last resort but can be 

beneficial when focusing on individual high-risk properties, especially where no 

other measures or scheme is viable.  

4.3.2 Shortlisting measures  

Given the findings of the risk assessment and using professional judgement and 

experience, the longlist of measures identified has been qualitatively assessed in 

terms of their suitability to manage or reduce flood risk across each of the four main 

surface water sub-catchments in Lancaster. 

Each measure has been scored using the following system: 

✓✓ These measures on their own will help to reduce the number of properties 

flooded, or a reduction in the depth of flooding (or duration) to a length of 

road. These measures can be delivered (and funded) by one or a 

combination of the RMAs. 

✓ These measures can help reduce the overall level of risk but may form part 

of a wider option or strategy across the study area as whole. They may 

require buy-in from landowners and require partnership funding to deliver. 

They may be best delivered through other planning and infrastructure 

investment programmes. 

 These measures are unlikely to be cost beneficial or may be difficult to 

deliver due to one or several social, political, economic or environmental 

barriers and constraints. 

 These measures are not applicable given the understanding of surface water 

flooding mechanisms and the location of properties at risk. 

4.3.3 Options 

Using the measures identified in Table 4-1, a shortlist of options has been 

developed for each sub-catchment. These options are considered as technically 

viable in achieving Strategic Objective 2 (reduce the vulnerability and cost to City 

businesses, residents and visitors from flooding). In addition, further considerations 

and opportunities are identified for each sub-catchment which may help achieve 

Strategic Objective 1 (further improving the collective understanding of flooding 

mechanisms) as well as minor improvements to local risk issues.  

P
age 80



SWMP Report & Action Plan 
 

 

 

B2319000-JAC-ZZ-LC-RP-Z-1101  44 

Table 4-1: Sub-catchment suitability and deliverability 

Structural, non-structural, resilience 

and resistance measures 

Upper 

Caton 

Road 

Lower 

Caton 

Road 

City 

Centre 
Upland 

S
o

u
rc

e
 

Green roofs  ✓ ✓✓ ✓ 

Soakaways     

Swales  ✓ ✓ ✓ 

Permeable paving  ✓ ✓✓ ✓ 

Rainwater harvesting  ✓ ✓ ✓ 

Detention basins ✓✓  ✓✓ ✓ 

Underground attenuation tanks     

Natural Flood Management ✓✓    

P
a

th
w

a
y 

Increasing capacity in highway 

and surface water sewers 
✓ ✓ ✓ ✓✓ 

Separation of foul and surface 

water sewers 
 ✓✓ ✓✓ ✓✓ 

Offline storage  ✓ ✓ ✓ 

Efficient use of the Mill Race  ✓ ✓✓  

Utilise Lancaster Canal   ✓ ✓ 

Increased channel capacity     

Increased culvert capacity ✓  ✓✓  

Reviewed maintenance regimes  ✓ ✓ ✓ 

Managing overland flows ✓  ✓✓ ✓ 

Floodwalls or embankments ✓  ✓ ✓ 

Structural, non-structural, resilience 

and resistance measures 

Upper 

Caton 

Road 

Lower 

Caton 

Road 

City 

Centre 
Upland 

Land management practices ✓    

R
e

ce
p

to
r 

Improved flood warnings ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ 

Pumping stations ✓✓  ✓✓ ✓ 

Temporary flood defences      

Social change, education and 

awareness 
 ✓ ✓ ✓✓ 

Property Level Protection ✓ ✓✓ ✓✓ ✓✓ 

Flood and contingency planning ✓ ✓ ✓✓ ✓ 

Community engagement 

programmes (businesses) 
✓✓ ✓ ✓✓  

Community engagement 

programmes (homeowners) 
 ✓ ✓ ✓✓ 

P
la

n
s 

an
d

 P
o

li
ci

e
s Strategic planning ✓ ✓✓ ✓✓ ✓✓ 

Development control ✓ ✓ ✓✓ ✓ 

Enhanced surface water drainage 

design criteria and policy 
  ✓✓  

Sub-catchment flood recovery 

plans 
✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ 

P
age 81



SWMP Report & Action Plan 
 

 

 

B2319000-JAC-ZZ-LC-RP-Z-1101  45 

4.4 Catchment A: Upper Caton Road - Options 

Shortlisted options for this catchment are listed below, with indicative locations 

shown in Figure 4-1. 

▪ Upstream flood storage (e.g. detention basins) would capture and attenuate 

surface water runoff generated upstream of the M6 during extreme rainfall 

events to alleviate pressure on existing capacity issues downstream along the 

watercourse, culverts at Bay Gateway Junction and through Lansil Golf Course.  

▪ Natural Flood Management (NFM) would help to re-naturalise of parts of the 

catchment and slow the speed with which surface water runoff passes through 

the catchment. This could be coupled with de-culverting of the watercourse 

through Lansil Golf Course to increase capacity and capture additional overland 

flows, whilst other measures such as tree planting in the upper catchment 

would reduce runoff volumes and rates once they have matured.  

▪ Increasing capacity in highway drainage and surface water sewers would allow 

more surface water to be drained from Caton Road, reducing the level and 

extent of surface water flooding occurring along the highway, as well as surface 

water runoff entering Riverside Industrial Estate.  

▪ Pumping stations could be used to address residual risks associated with 

surface water outfalls to the River Lune becoming hydraulically locked by high 

water levels, preventing a surcharging of the upstream surface water network.  

Considerations and Further Opportunities 

▪ Ground Investigation (GI) data from Lancaster Phase 3 could be used to better 

characterise the ground and groundwater conditions and confirm the 

contribution of groundwater to the current flooding mechanisms. This could 

also help design and implement appropriate mitigation measures, such as 

targeted pumping or addressing any drainage / sewerage asset condition issues 

to prevent groundwater ingress. 

▪ Future sub-surface structures within the alluvial aquifer should be avoided due 

to potential impacts on groundwater levels. Where possible efforts should be 

made to reclaim aquifer storage by altering sub-surface land uses within the 

western part of the catchment.  

Figure 4-1: Upper Caton Road - indicative option locations 

 

Alignment with Stakeholder Objectives 

▪ SuDS would support Lancaster City Council (Planning) and Lancashire County 

Council (FRM) objectives in enhancing ecological corridors as well as local 

biodiversity and environmental conditions. 

▪ NFM and SuDS would align with United Utilities objectives by reducing runoff 

volumes entering their networks and improving water quality. 

▪ Reducing the probability and depth of surface water flooding along Caton 

Road would help Lancaster City Council (Civil Contingency) maintain their 

Resilient Road Network.   

P
age 82



SWMP Report & Action Plan 
 

 

 

B2319000-JAC-ZZ-LC-RP-Z-1101  46 

4.5 Catchment B: Lower Caton Road - Options 

▪ Shortlisted options for this catchment are listed below, with indicative locations 

shown in Figure 4-2.  

▪ Increasing capacity in surface water drainage network by installing separate 

foul and surface water sewers, increasing sewers capacity, or retrofitting SuDS 

along the highway. These measures would aim to improve efficiency in the 

network and reduce residual surface water flows along Caton Road (which acts 

a critical flow path). Separation could provide the opportunity to discharge 

surface water runoff directly to the River Lune instead of pumping to United 

Utilities WwTW, relieving pressure on the downstream networks and the City 

centre catchment.  

▪ Retrofitting SuDS (such as green roofs and rainwater harvesting) would 

complement this approach and generally help to reduce runoff entering the 

network downstream. 

▪ Property Level Protection (PLP) targeted at specific areas in Ridge and the 

Lansil Industrial Estate, where localised flooding is anticipated, could improve 

overall flood resilience during extreme rainfall events. Through the Lansil 

Industrial Estate PLP should be consider along with any residual fluvial flood 

risk following completion of the Phase 3 FAS.  

Considerations and Further Opportunities  

▪ NFM measures have already been delivered along Newton Beck. As the fluvial 

catchment generally presents a low flood risk given its natural attenuation, 

there is little value in implementing further measures along the beck.  

▪ Hydraulic modelling suggests that the Lancaster Canal may overtop between 

Ridge and Newton during an extreme rainfall event. Further investigation and 

engagement with the Canals and Rivers Trust should be considered in order to 

better understand this potential flooding mechanism. 

GI would help to better characterise the ground and groundwater conditions in the 

catchment, to confirm the contribution of groundwater to the current flooding 

mechanisms identified, and to design and implement appropriate mitigation 

measures, such as re-instatement of aquifer storage by removal of sub-surface 

structures (such as basements or old foundations), targeted pumping, etc.  

Figure 4-2: Lower Caton Road - indicative option locations 

 

 

Alignment with Stakeholder Objectives 

▪ Reducing the probability and depth of surface water flooding along Caton 

Road would help Lancaster City Council (Civil Contingency) maintain their 

Resilient Road Network.   

▪ Delivery of PLP would help Lancaster City Council improve overall community 

resilience to surface water flooding (along with residual fluvial risks) and the 

impacts of climate change.  

P
age 83



SWMP Report & Action Plan 
 

 

 

B2319000-JAC-ZZ-LC-RP-Z-1101  47 

4.6 Catchment C: City Centre - Options 

Shortlisted options for this catchment are listed below, with indicative locations 

shown in Figure 4-3. 

▪ Retrofitting SuDS within the dense city centre would help to capture and 

attenuate urban runoff and alleviate pressure on the combined sewer network. 

These measures would be particularly beneficial in existing green areas such as 

Whalley Recreation Ground, Scotch Quarry Urban Park and Williamson Park, 

and through the creation of new ‘pocket parks’ throughout the city to replace 

existing brownfield sites (such as existing car parks). Uptake of source control 

measures within the west of the catchment (e.g. green roofs, rainwater 

harvesting, permeable paving) and the removal of sub-surface features such as 

basements and redundant foundations (known to increase risk of groundwater 

flooding) could also help to reclaim aquifer storage. 

▪ Improving capacity of the existing surface water network is likely to be critical 

long-term option in reducing risk of surface water flooding though the City 

centre. This could require the uptake of several complementary measures: 

- Exploiting the Mill Race as a surface water drainage asset. This could 

provide significant benefits to high risk areas around Parliament Street and 

Cable Street. This would require a significant long-term investment from 

multiple stakeholders and partners to deal with condition issues, 

misconnections and removal of foul networks.  

- Increasing pumping capacity at the two United Utilities pumping stations 

would improve the ability to pump water from the Mill Race to Lancaster 

WwTW during wet weather conditions, would reduce levels in the Mill Race 

(and risk of surcharging), the risk posed by hydraulic locking of the outfall, 

and provide water quality benefits by reducing CSO spills in to the Lune 

Estuary.  

- Separation of foul and surface water sewers and increasing capacity in 

highway drainage along key flow paths, such as Moor Lane and Penny 

Street, would likely provide significant benefit to downstream receptors.  

▪ Delivering strategic city centre regeneration sites at Lawsons Quay and Lune 

Industrial Estate and the Canal Quarter provide excellent opportunities to 

deliver Nature Based Solutions (inc. SuDS) that help to reduce flood risk and 

multiple benefits including water quality. Regional SuDS located in strategic 

sites also provide alterative drainage locations for neighbouring developments 

or infrastructure improvements.  

▪ Developing location specific surface water drainage policy or design criteria 

would help to ensuring that developers manage surface water runoff in line 

with the NPPF and/or provide overall betterment by applying stricter discharge 

criteria. This should also acknowledge the risk posed by groundwater flooding, 

particularly in the west of the catchment, and could be used to restrict 

subsurface structures. 

Figure 4-3: City Centre - indicative option locations 

 

P
age 84



SWMP Report & Action Plan 
 

 

 

B2319000-JAC-ZZ-LC-RP-Z-1101  48 

Considerations and Further Opportunities 

▪ Future sub-surface structures, such as basements or building foundations, 

within the alluvial aquifer should be avoided due to potential impacts on 

groundwater flooding. Where possible efforts should be made to reclaim 

aquifer storage by altering sub-surface land uses (for example through the 

removal of redundant basement walls) within the western part of the 

catchment.  

▪ Retrofitting SuDS in existing topographic depressions within Scotch Quarry 

Urban Park and Williamson Park could provide additional enhancement of pre-

existing quarry locations.  

▪ New ‘Pocket Parks’ would provide wider visual and amenity benefits, tackle air 

quality issues and help to reduce the long-term impacts associated with climate 

change in a densely urban environment. These could also support strategic 

planning policies including a cohesive strategy to address car park use.  

▪ Addressing sewer and Mill Race condition issues would provide additional water 

quality improvements. This may increase the number of different funding 

sources available for future measures. 

▪ Given the lack of open watercourses in the catchment, the Lancaster Canal 

could be considered as a strategic asset for managing surface water runoff, 

giving some control over the volumes of surface water which are passed 

through the catchment from east to west. Consultation with the Canal and 

Rivers Trust, as well as consideration of the Canal Quarter redevelopment 

scheme would be required. 

▪ There is potential for groundwater flooding to occur within the more permeable 

deposits of the River Lune Floodplain, which may be masked by fluvial / pluvial 

flood events. Ground investigation is therefore recommended to better 

characterise the ground and groundwater conditions in the catchment, to 

confirm the contribution of groundwater to the current flooding mechanisms 

identified, and to design and implement appropriate mitigation measures. Such 

measures may include (but are not limited to) re-instatement of aquifer storage 

by removal of removal of sub-surface structures e.g. redundant basements, 

targeted pumping, etc. 

Alignment with Stakeholder Objectives 

▪ The options identified would help Lancaster City Council (Regeneration and 

Planning) and Lancashire County Council (FRM) achieve key objectives, 

including: 

o Improving amenity value and air quality within the urban realm 

o Enhancing biodiversity 

o Providing new ecological corridors and maximise opportunities for green 

space in the city centre 

o Improving water quality 

▪ By reducing overall flood risk issues in the city centre, it will drive economic 

growth by removing potential barriers for investment.  

P
age 85



SWMP Report & Action Plan 
 

 

 

B2319000-JAC-ZZ-LC-RP-Z-1101  49 

4.7 Catchment D: Upland – Options 

Shortlisted options for this catchment are listed below, with indicative locations 

shown in Figure 4-4. 

▪ Delivering small- and large-scale SuDS would have local benefits as well as 

attenuate flows entering the surface water drainage network, draining towards 

the City centre and Lucy Brook. Areas where SuDS would provide the greatest 

benefit are: 

- Bowerham residential area for widespread, small-scale SuDS measures 

such as rainwater harvesting, permeable paving, and rain gardens. Delivery 

of initiatives to drive social change, through education and awareness 

could help to improve uptake and acceptance of these measures. 

- Greaves Park could be used to deliver large-scale SuDS measures such as 

swales or storage areas/ponds, which could be landscaped to complement 

and enhance the existing green space. 

- Lancaster Royal Infirmary could be used to deliver various small-scale 

measures such as green roofs (following a structural survey) and rain 

gardens. These would provide other opportunities such as rainwater 

harvesting and visual amenity enhancement for positive health benefits. 

▪ The uptake of SuDS would help to reduce surface water runoff entering the 

drainage system; however, a lack of capacity in the highway drainage / sewer 

network also contributes to flooding in the catchment. Separating foul and 

surface water sewers and/or increasing capacity in highway drainage and 

surface water sewers would be appropriate measures to consider along two 

main flow paths through the catchment on Bowerham Road and Greaves Road. 

This would also help reduce the amount of surface water being passed 

downstream into the City Centre catchment.  

Considerations and Further Opportunities  

▪ Options delivered in this catchment would likely provide in-direct benefits to 

both the City Centre and Lucy Brook catchments, by slowing runoff 

rates/reducing runoff volumes. 

Figure 4-4: Upland - indicative option locations 

 

 

Alignment with Stakeholder Objectives 

▪ SuDS would support Lancaster City Council (Planning) and Lancashire County 

Council (FRM) objectives in enhancing ecological corridors as well as local 

biodiversity and environmental conditions. 

▪ Co-investment in SuDS at catchment scale could reduce the need for hard 

engineering solutions and/or could provide additional benefits through a 

natural capital approach to ensure these solutions are cost beneficial.  

P
age 86



SWMP Report & Action Plan 
 

 

 

B2319000-JAC-ZZ-LC-RP-Z-1101  50 

5. Implementation & Review 

5.1 Action Plan 

Based on the findings of the risk assessment, this SWMP has identified a wide range 

of actions, that when delivered over time, would help to reduce the risk of surface 

water flood risk in Lancaster City.  

An Action Plan has been developed to outline the responsibilities and 

recommendations of structural, non-structural and adaptation measures identified 

(Table 4-1) and shortlisted. The final SWMP Action Plan is shown in Table 5.1 on the 

following page. 

5.2 Implementation  

Proposed actions have been classified into the following categories of priority:  

▪ Short term: Actions to be undertaken within the next one to three years;  

▪ Medium term: Actions to be undertaken within the next one to five years; and  

▪ Long term: Actions to be undertaken beyond five years 

The actions will be led by one of the RMAs linking to their role and responsibilities as 

set out in Appendix B. Some of these actions will be a continuation of activities 

already undertaken or planned, whilst others challenge the RMAs to improve 

existing process or procedures.  

Whilst the actions have been reviewed and agreed upon by the RMAs, timing and 

deliverability is still dependent on other factors, such as the capital budgets and 

other local or regional priorities. 

5.3 Review 

The actions outlined within the Action Plan have been agreed to by all parties, it is 

therefore the responsibility of the various authorities to ensure these are 

undertaken.  

Lancashire County Council, as LLFA, should undertake a minimum annual review of 

the High and Medium priority actions to ensure actions are being implemented and 

progress is being made by relevant partners and stakeholders. This allows forward 

financial planning in line with external partners and internal budget allocations. The 

local Making Space for Water Groups may provide the opportunity for this 

discussion. Low priority actions should be reviewed on a two to three-year cycle. 

5.4 Monitoring 

The Multi-agency Steering Group should continue beyond the completion of this 

SWMP, in order to discuss the implementation of the proposed actions, review 

opportunities for operational efficiency and any legislative change.  

As a minimum, the SWMP Technical Guidance recommends that the whole Action 

Plan should be reviewed and updated once every six years, but there are 

circumstances which might trigger a review and/or an update of the Action Plan in 

the interim or in some cases annually:  

▪ Occurrence of flood incident (an event that might trigger a Section 19 

Investigation);  

▪ Additional data or modelling becoming available, which may alter the 

understanding of risk within the study area;  

▪ Outcome of investment decisions by partners is different to the preferred 

approach, which may require a revision to the action plan; and  

▪ Additional development or other changes in the catchment which affect the 

surface water flood risk.  

 

P
age 87



SWMP Report & Action Plan 
 

 

 

 

B2319000-JAC-ZZ-LC-RP-Z-1101   51 

Table 5.1: SWMP Action Plan 

Ref Action Type Description Outcome Opportunities Stakeholders Priority 

A.1 Publish SWMP Engagement 

Sharing the information and findings of the SWMP with: 

▪ Multi-agency steering group 

▪ Key stakeholders and partners 

▪ At risk communities and businesses  

▪ Build a collective understanding of 

surface water flooding risk. 

▪ Ensure ownership of this Action Plan. 

▪ Increase uptake of local measures.  

▪ Engagement could help to identify 

further partnership working 

opportunities and similarities 

between different programmes of 

work.   

Action Owner: 

Lancashire County Council 

Short-

term 

B.1 
Caton Road Foul 

Sewer Works 
Quick Win 

The existing foul sewer has been laid through the culverted watercourse that 

links the catchment upstream of Lansil Golf Course with the River Lune. This 

currently restricts flows through the culvert. The foul sewer pipe should be 

moved in this section and the watercourse culvert repaired.   

▪ Reinstate culvert capacity and reduce 

the risk of surface water flooding to 

Golf Course and Caton Road. 

▪ Reduces risk of flooding to Resilient 

Road Network.  

Action Owner: 

United Utilities 

Short-

term 

B.2 

Upper Caton Road 

Surface Water 

Management 

Scheme 

Quick Win 

Develop and implement scheme to address residual surface water flooding 

risks following completion of the River Lune Phase 3 FAS. The scheme should 

focus on reducing surface water runoff reaching Caton Road with a focus on 

upstream attenuation, via small scale capital works, and local highway 

improvements.  

▪ Reduce surface water flood risk to 

Caton Road. 

▪ Support delivery of the Lancaster 

Phase 3 FAS fluvial defences.  

▪ Delivery NFM in the upper 

catchment. 

▪ Biodiversity enhancement via SuDS.  

Action Owner: 

Lancashire County Council 

Stakeholder Support: 

Environment Agency 

Lancaster City Council 

River Lune Trust 

Short-

term 

C.1 
River Lune Outfall 

Survey 
Survey 

A survey of the River Lune outfalls was undertaken by ANDIDRAIN in 2017 

with a location plan developed and photographs taken.  

A second survey should be undertaken to collect invert/soffit levels of outfalls, 

which can then be used to update the 1D-2D integrated model of the city 

centre and assess residual risk associated with hydraulic locking. 

▪ Collecting additional data and 

information to develop 

understanding of flood risk 

mechanisms.  

▪ Inform need for local measures such 

as pumping stations.  

▪ Improved understanding could 

inform future operation and 

maintenance plans.  

Action Owner: 

Lancashire County Council 

Stakeholder Support: 

Environment Agency 

Lancaster City Council 

United Utilities 

Short-

term 

C.2 

River Lune Ground 

Investigation and 

Groundwater 

Assessment 

Investigation 

and Study 

A ground investigation in the more permeable deposits of the River Lune 

floodplain should be undertaken to better characterise the ground and 

groundwater conditions. This should include a: 

▪ Ground investigation and groundwater monitoring plan 

▪ Data collection exercise 

▪ Detailed groundwater level and flow assessment 

▪ Conceptual understanding of groundwater contributions to flooding 

problems 

▪ Confirm the contribution of 

groundwater to the current flooding 

mechanisms identified; and to 

▪ Design and implement appropriate 

mitigation measures. 

▪ Inform future blue / green 

infrastructure strategies. 

▪ Inform strategic development 

policies. 

▪ Inform Mill Race Strategy 

▪ Inform Flood Risk Assessments for 

future development applications.  

Action Owner: 

Lancashire County Council 

Stakeholder Support: 

Environment Agency 

Lancaster City Council 

Short-

term 

E.1 Mill Race Strategy Strategy 

The Mill Race is an existing drainage asset, but this SWMP has shown there is a 

potential for enhancement opportunities to help reduce surface water flood 

risk. However, several existing and future constraints would need to be 

addressed. Using the findings of the Catchment Study and Mill Race survey, it 

is recommended that a strategy for the Mill Race is developed to define: 

▪ Existing function and ownership of the Mill Race 

▪ Stakeholder objectives / priorities (short to long term) 

▪ Opportunities and constraints  

▪ Potential benefits available  

▪ Likely options to achieve benefits  

▪ Capital costs and long-term operational and maintenance costs 

▪ Next steps 

▪ Define the purpose of the Mill Race 

to support complementary future 

capital work and investment. 

▪ Improved efficiency of operation to 

support surface water management.  

▪ Clear ownership responsibilities. 

▪ Improved water quality in Lune 

Estuary. 

▪ Potential to reduce treatment and 

operational costs for United Utilities. 

▪ Reduced risk of asset failure. 

Action Owner: 

Lancashire County Council 

Stakeholder Support: 

Environment Agency 

Lancaster City Council 

United Utilities 

Medium-

term 

P
age 88



SWMP Report & Action Plan 
 

 

 

 

B2319000-JAC-ZZ-LC-RP-Z-1101   52 

Ref Action Type Description Outcome Opportunities Stakeholders Priority 

E.2 

Lancaster 

Integrated 

Drainage Area 

Strategy (IDAS) 

and Drainage & 

Wastewater 

Management Plans 

(DWMPs) 

Strategy 

Over the current and next asset management plan (AMP) period, United 

Utilities will be developing strategies and plans to identify and prioritise flood 

and pollution risks, as well as long-term solutions to manage risk and ensure 

long term network resilience.   

This will include the preparation on Integrated Drainage Area Strategy (IDAS) 

and Drainage & Wastewater Management Plans (DWMPs).  

It is critical that these strategies and plans consider the findings the 1D-2D 

integrated hydraulic modelling, and how the shortlisted options and actions 

presenting in this SWMP can help United Utilities achieve their business plan 

goal and objectives.  

This should include an integrated catchment management and natural capital 

approach, which is well aligned to the opportunities presented in this SWMP.  

Delivery of a resilient drainage network 

by supporting a combination of 

measures across the City centre, 

including: 

▪ Action E.1: Mill Race Strategy 

▪ Action F.2: Retrofit SuDS feasibility 

assessment 

▪ Action G.1: Increased sewer capacity  

▪ Help tackle future demands from city 

centre growth and climate change.  

▪ Reduction in capital and operating 

costs.  

▪ Environmental improvements.  

Action Owner: 

United Utilities 

Stakeholder Support: 

Lancashire County Council 

Lancaster City Council 

Environment Agency 

 

Short-

term 

F.1 

City Centre Pocket 

Park Feasibility 

Assessment 

Feasibility 

Assessment 

As part of the Lancaster District Parking Strategy there is a need to review the 

use of existing parking places to ensure the best use of space over the long 

term. Many of the city centre car parks are located on derelict brownfield sites 

with potential future development pressures.  

There is an opportunity to consider changing to use of these sites to pocket 

parks within the urban area including the use of SuDS to manage better 

surface water runoff.  

This feasibility assessment should consider the suitability and viability of 

pocket parks with the aim of identify those worth taking forwards as part of the 

wider city centre regeneration and transport strategy.  

▪ Pocket parks would help to reduce 

the amount of surface water entering 

the combine sewer network and 

overland flows reaching the City 

centre. 

▪ Removing existing subsurface 

structures will help to reclaim aquifer 

storage.  

▪ Improved urban realm. 

▪ Help to manage long term impacts 

associated with climate change (e.g. 

urban heat island effects and air 

quality) 

Action Owner: 

Lancaster City Council 

Stakeholder Support: 

Lancashire County Council 

Environment Agency 

United Utilities 

Medium-

term 

F.2 

Lancaster City 

Retrofit SuDS 

Feasibility 

Assessment 

Feasibility 

Assessment 

Feasibility assessment to identify opportunities for retrofit SuDS projects and 

to develop outline designs. Feasibility assessment should consider: 

▪ Open green space and urban areas across Upland and City centre 

catchment   

▪ Street and neighbourhood level SuDS 

▪ Locations and measures that help to provide multiple benefits and could 

attract co-investment  

▪ Community engagement.  

This would lead into a business case for a catchment wide SuDS project or 

individual retrofit schemes.  

▪ Viable SuDS schemes to reduce 

volumes of surface water reaching 

sewers and therefore risk of existing 

sewer capacity being exceeded. 

▪ Reduce frequency and volume of 

discharges CSOs and therefore 

improved water quality in Lune 

Estuary. 

▪ Reduce treatment and operational 

costs for WwTWs and pumping 

stations. 

▪ Improved urban realm. 

▪ Link green spaces within catchments 

and improve biodiversity. 

Action Owner: 

Lancashire County Council 

Stakeholder Support: 

Lancaster City Council 

United Utilities 

Medium-

term 

F.3 

Lancaster Canal 

Feasibility 

Assessment 

Feasibility 

Assessment 

Feasibility assessment to understand whether the Lancaster Canal could be 

used for capturing, storing and transporting surface water throughout the city. 

This should consider: 

▪ Canal infrastructure and condition 

▪ Historical and predictive flood risk issues 

▪ Technical viability of using the canal as surface water discharge location 

and/or flood storage. This should consider a range of factors such as length 

of pond, proximity to controlled and uncontrolled inflows, amount that 

upstream and downstream locks are being used, navigable depth and canal 

freeboard, as well as discharge locations and volumes. 

▪ How the system could be operated and maintained including opportunities 

for smart systems to inform real time management; 

▪ Any engineering, environmental and legal implications to overcome 

▪ To reduce surface water runoff 

entering the City centre catchment 

from east of the canal. 

▪ Possibility to address other residual 

flood risk associated with the canal 

which are currently unknown.  

▪ Support regeneration of Canal 

Quarter. 

▪ Enhance aesthetics of Lancaster 

Canal. 

Action Owner: 

Canal and Rivers Trust 

Stakeholder Support: 

Lancashire County Council 

Lancaster City Council 

Environment Agency 

Long-

term 

P
age 89



SWMP Report & Action Plan 
 

 

 

 

B2319000-JAC-ZZ-LC-RP-Z-1101   53 

Ref Action Type Description Outcome Opportunities Stakeholders Priority 

G.1 

Lancaster Sewer 

Capacity 

Improvements 

Capital 

Scheme 

Implement a dedicated programme to address capacity issues by 

implementing several activities including, but not limited to, sewer upsizing, 

surface water removal and the construction of more surface water capacity and 

the use of SuDS.  

Where found to be cost beneficial this should include traditional hydraulic 

solutions along combined sewers within the Lower Caton Road, City Centre and 

Upland sub-catchments. This should consider: 

▪ Identifying significant physical blockers, such as services, and operational 

blockers, such as pumping station capabilities; and 

▪ Whole life cost benefit of separation.  

This should be informed by the IDAS and DWMP programme and completed in 

time to inform the next UU price review for the next Asset Management Plan 

(AMP) cycle if not already included.  

▪ Focus on reducing flood risk at 

properties that have experienced 

flooding multiple times.  

▪ Traditional hydraulic solutions 

should be considered in combination 

with catchment scale solutions such 

as SuDS to provide wider benefits.  

Action Owner: 

United Utilities 

Stakeholder Support: 

Lancashire County Council 

Lancaster City Council 

Environment Agency 

Long-

term 

H.1 

Lancaster Property 

Level Protection 

Planning, 

Incentivizing and 

Implementation 

Programme 

Programme 

Both businesses and properties in Lancaster received central government 

grants to implement property level protection (PLP) measures following the 

December 2015 floods. There was only partial uptake and the process / advice 

could have been improved.  

PLP can help to build second or third lines of physical defence as one of a 

combination of community-level measures.  

A Lancashire wide or city centre guidance document and procedure would help 

improve awareness, ensure the right products are selected, standardize 

operating procedures around implementation including ‘resilient 

reinstatement’ or ‘building back better’ procedures (including incentivization) 

following an event. 

▪ Understand the best types / 

locations of PLP measures. 

▪ Improve communication to raise, 

build and maintain individuals flood 

risk awareness and to encourage 

community ownership and action.  

▪ Provide better independent advice 

about how to implement PLP and 

integrate them into overall flood 

resilience measures. 

▪ Standard operating procedures on 

how such a resilient reinstatement 

process will look and function 

operationally 

▪ This could involve training of those 

undertaking surveys or conducting 

the reinstatement 

Action Owner: 

Lancaster City Council 

Stakeholder Support: 

Lancashire County Council 

Environment Agency 

United Utilities 

Short-

term 

H.2 
Community 

Emergency Plan 
Plan 

A community emergency plan should be prepared covering the City centre 

using information and findings of this SWMP. This would likely include 

identification of local buildings that can act as community emergency centres 

and location of emergency equipment stock to assist residents in emergency 

situations.  

▪ Enhance community resilience by 

improving preparedness and 

recoverability to flooding.   

▪ Engagement could help to identify 

further partnership working 

opportunities. 

Action Owner: 

Flood Action Groups 

Stakeholder Support: 

Lancaster City Council 

Short-

term 

H.3 

Local surface water 

drainage policy and 

design standards  

Policy 

The use of local surface water and groundwater policy within the Local Plan or 

subsequent Spatial Planning Documents supported SuDS design standards 

could be used to ensure uptake in SuDS that aim to provide betterment and 

reduce flood risk (rather than aiming to achieve no impact). 

▪ Policies should inform strategic and 

local planning decisions. 

▪ Stricter control over how surface 

water and groundwater is 

investigated and managed to ensure 

risk is not overlooked and is 

effectively addressed.  

▪ Policies could attract central 

government funding for further 

investigations and modelling. 

▪ Tighter management of surface 

water can also lead to improved 

water quality and reduction in water 

entering sewer network.  

Action Owner: 

Lancaster City Council 

Stakeholder Support: 

Lancashire County Council 

Environment Agency 

United Utilities 

Short-

term 

 

 

 

 

P
age 90



SWMP Report & Action Plan 
 

 

 

 

B2319000-JAC-ZZ-LC-RP-Z-1101  54 

Appendix A. Existing datasets, plans, studies and investigations 

Table A.1: Existing datasets 

Dataset Data Owner Description Use in SWMP Study 

Flood Map for 

Planning 

Environment 

Agency 

National dataset identifying locations at risk from fluvial and 

tidal flooding along Main Rivers. 

Used to identify locations at risk from fluvial flooding from Main 

Rivers. 

Main Rivers Environment 

Agency 

National dataset showing locations of watercourses designated 

as Main Rivers. 

Used to identify Main Rivers. 

Detailed Rivers 

Network 

Environment 

Agency 
National dataset showing locations of all watercourses. Used to understand surface water networks and the 

identification on Ordinary Watercourses, as well as define surface 

water drainage catchments. 

Sewerage Asset 

Data 

United Utilities United Utilities GIS assets database showing public sewer 

network, pumping stations and wastewater treatment works. 

Used to understand the surface water networks, define drainage 

catchments and inform the detailed hydraulic model. 

Sewer network  United Utilities GIS data showing the foul, surface and combined sewer network 

and assets within Lancaster 

Used to support construction of hydraulic model, as well as 

understanding of how the sewer network operates  

National Receptor 

Database (NRD) 

Lancashire County 

Council 

National property dataset detailing property specific information 

and locations. 

Used to calculate economic flood damages and identify 

vulnerable infrastructure  

Canal Asset Data Canal & Rivers 

Trust 

Details of Canal & Rivers Trust assets including canal locations, 

embankments, locks and culverts 

Used to identify assets owned by the Canal & Rivers Trust. 

Gully locations Lancashire County 

Council 

GIS dataset detailing the location of highway gullies. Used to inform the detailed hydraulic model.  

Soilscapes Cranfield 

University 

Provides information on soil type as well as soil drainage e.g. 

infiltration. 

Used to understand infiltration potential of land within and 

surrounding Lancaster City. 

Superficial and 

bedrock geology/ 

borehole records 

British Geological 

Survey 

Details the extent, type, and composition of superficial and 

bedrock geology.  

Used to understand local geology to aid in assessing the 

potential for groundwater emergence at the surface. 

P
age 91



SWMP Report & Action Plan 
 

 

 

 

B2319000-JAC-ZZ-LC-RP-Z-1101  55 

Dataset Data Owner Description Use in SWMP Study 

Superficial and 

bedrock aquifer 

designation 

Environment 

Agency 

Provides information on superficial and bedrock aquifer 

designations. 

Used to understand local aquifers to aid in assessing the 

potential for groundwater emergence at the surface. 

Flooded property 

locations 

Environment 

Agency 

GIS data showing properties which flooded during the Nov 2017, 

July 2017, Dec 2015 and Dec 2013 events 

Identifying historically flooded properties to help understanding 

of flood mechanisms 

December 2015 

flood extents 

Environment 

Agency 

GIS data showing December 2015 flood extents Understand historical flood extents, and how these compare to 

modelled flood extents 

Historical flood 

maps 

Environment 

Agency and 

Lancashire County 

Council 

Datasets detailing reported incidents of flooding. Used to support anecdotal evidence and validate detail 

hydraulic modelling results.  

Integrated 

Catchment Model 

United Utilities  1D hydraulic model of Lancaster combined and surface water 

network 

Basis of 1D-2D integrated hydraulic model built during the 

Catchment Study.  

Geosmart 

Groundwater 

Flood Risk Map 

Geosmart Groundwater Flooding Risk Map To support understanding of where groundwater may be 

contributing to flooding issues alongside surface water 

Mill Race survey 

data 

Lancashire County 

Council 

3D topographic survey, 360 colour HDR imagery, 3D surface 

mesh datasets and CCTV survey of the Mill Race 

Provide understanding of Mill Race condition and function 

Lune Outfall 

Locations Study 

Environment 

Agency/Lancaster 

City Council 

Description of various outfalls along the River Lune from the M6 

to Millennium Bridge 

Identify outfall locations to the River Lune 

Bay Gateway 

junction drainage 

as built design 

Lancashire County 

Council 

As built design drawings showing highway drainage of the Bay 

Gateway/M6 Junction 

Understanding how the surface water drainage network in Upper 

Caton Road sub-catchment operates 

Resilient Route 

Network (RRN) 

Lancashire County 

Council 

GIS data showing the Resilient Route Network within Lancaster Understanding critical highways within Lancaster and how these 

could be impacted by flood events 

Phase 3 as built 

drawings 

Lancaster City 

Council 
As built drawings of the Phase 3 flood wall Understanding of dimensions, including footings and how this 

may affect groundwater flow 

P
age 92



SWMP Report & Action Plan 
 

 

 

 

B2319000-JAC-ZZ-LC-RP-Z-1101  56 

Table A.2: Previous plans, studies and investigations 

Study Purpose Main Findings Recommendations 

Lancaster FAS: 

Phase 1 and 2 28 

Business case developed for 

investment in the tidal defences 

downstream of the City centre.  

The preferred option was a floodwall along the southern bank 

of the River Lune extending as far upstream as St. George’s 

Quay. This has been demonstrated to provide a 0.1% AEP 

standard of protection to the City from tidal flooding. 

Environment Agency constructed Phases 1 and 2 

of the Lancaster Flood Alleviation Scheme (FAS) 

in 2008.  

Lancaster City 

Council Strategic 

Flood Risk 

Assessment29 

Strategic assessment of flood risk to 

inform the planning process locally. 

The report did not identify significant constraints to 

development. 

Future investment in maintenance, and possibly 

the raising of defences, to combat the potential 

impacts of climate change will be 

imperative to ensure that defences and other 

flood management assets represent a 

sustainable solution for the District in the long 

term. 

Lune Catchment 

Flood 

Management 

Plan30 

This CFMP identifies flood risk 

management policies to assist all 

key decision makers in the 

catchment. 

Lancaster was identified as an area of low to moderate flood 

risk where fluvial risk is generally being managed effectively. 

Continue to resist inappropriate development in 

areas of flood risk. 

December 2015: 

Section 19 flood 

investigation 

report4 

Investigation of the December 2015 

flood events with a particular focus 

on the statutory responsibilities and 

duties of flood risk management 

authorities during those storms. 

332 properties flooded internally, and electricity substation 

impacted resulting in 61,000 properties without power for 48 

hours. 

It was recommended that a bid should be made 

to access DEFRA funding for flood risk 

management studies and schemes. 

Lancashire and 

Blackpool Local 

Flood Risk 

Management 

Strategy 31 

Outlines how LCC intend to manage 

the risk from local sources of 

flooding over the assessment 

period. 

Identifies the strategic objectives for managing flood risk 

across the area including: 

Identification of RMAs and definition of responsibilities; 

Development of the understanding of local flood risks; 

Identifying funding opportunities for flood risk management 

works; and 

To deliver flood risk management schemes 

Recommendations are linked to the 

implementation of the strategic objectives. 

P
age 93



SWMP Report & Action Plan 
 

 

 

 

B2319000-JAC-ZZ-LC-RP-Z-1101  57 

Study Purpose Main Findings Recommendations 

November 2017: 

Section 19 flood 

investigation 

report15 

Investigation of the November 2017 

flood events with a particular focus 

on the statutory responsibilities and 

duties of flood risk management 

authorities during those storms. 

Flooding occurred in 39 streets across the city of Lancaster 

with 16 properties flooded internally. All local surface water 

drainage systems including local watercourses, public sewers 

and highway drainage systems, were overwhelmed by heavy 

rainfall leading to flooding of roads, homes, businesses and 

open space. 

It is noted that the EA Phase 3 scheme is 

underway, as is this SWMP which includes a 

survey of the Mill Race. 

Lancaster FAS: 

Phase 3 Strategic 

Outline Case 

(SOC)32 

Business case developed for 

investment in fluvial defences 

upstream of the city centre. 

It was found that there was an economic and strategic to 

support the development of flood walls along the River Lune. 

Construction of the scheme was recommended 

and is ongoing as of August 2020. 

Lancaster City 

Council Multi-

Agency Flooding 

Plan33  

Outlines Flood Warning Areas and 

surface water flooding hotspots 

around Lancaster. Defines the 

responsibilities of agencies and 

available resources during flood 

events.  

1455 properties lie within the Lancaster Quay Flood Warning 

Area which contains two surface water ‘hot-spots’. 

Recommendations are linked to the response of 

agencies and residents during flood events. 

 

P
age 94



SWMP Report & Action Plan 
 

 

 

 

B2319000-JAC-ZZ-LC-RP-Z-1101  58 

Appendix B. Roles and responsibilities 

B.1 Introduction 

The Flood and Water Management Act 2010 (FWMA) defines the role of each RMA 

including within the multi-agency Steering Group and their responsibilities for 

managing flooding in the UK. RMAs have powers and duties to manage the different 

forms for flooding that can occur. Those relevant to Lancaster are discussed in 

further detail below.  

Under the FWMA, all RMAs have a duty to co-operate with each other and to share 

data. A key theme of the Pitt Review was for flood risk management authorities to 

work in partnership to deliver flood risk management better to the benefit of their 

communities. 

B.2 Lancashire County Council 

Lead Local Flood Authority 

As LLFA, the Council has several duties and powers as laid out under the FWMA and 

Land Drainage Act (1991). They lead in managing local flood risks (i.e. risks of 

flooding from surface water, groundwater and Ordinary Watercourses). This includes 

ensuring co-operation between the RMAs in their area. Under the Act, LLFAs are 

required to: 

▪ Develop, maintain, apply and monitor a strategy for local flood risk 

management in its area; 

▪ Investigate significant local flooding incidents and publish the results of such 

investigations; 

▪ Develop and maintain a register of structures or features that might impact on 

flood risk; and 

▪ Manage the consenting process for works that are likely to affect the flow 

characteristics of Ordinary Watercourses in accordance with the requirements 

of the Land Drainage Act 1991. 

 

LLFAs also have powers to: 

▪ Undertake works for managing flood risk from surface runoff or groundwater; 

▪ Designate structures and features that affect flooding or coastal erosion; and 

▪ Take enforcement action where there is an obstruction to an Ordinary 

Watercourse. 

Highways Authority 

The County Council also holds the position as the local highway authority and under 

the Highways Act 1980 has a duty to maintain highways that are maintainable at 

public expense. This includes responsibility for highway drainage, as well as for the 

condition and safety of all highway assets including bridges and culverts. 

Lancashire County Council also have responsibilities under the Civil Contingencies 

Act 2004 which include identifying potential emergency incidents, as well as co-

ordinating incident response and recovery. 

B.3 Lancaster City Council 

Lancaster City Council is a RMA and also a key partner with regard to planning and 

local flood risk management. They have a duty to: 

▪ Exercise their flood risk management functions in a manner consistent with 

local and national strategies, and to have regard to those strategies in their 

other functions; and 

▪ To co-operate with other relevant authorities in the exercise of flood risk 

management functions, which may include the sharing of information with 

other relevant authorities. 

They also have powers to: 

▪ Designate structures and features that affect flooding or coastal erosion; and 

▪ Do works on Ordinary Watercourses. 

P
age 95



SWMP Report & Action Plan 
 

 

 

 

B2319000-JAC-ZZ-LC-RP-Z-1101  59 

Other departments within the City Council with direct or indirect responsibilities 

relevant to the management of surface water flooding include: 

▪ Planning and Development Control 

▪ Responsible for strategic initiatives designed to regenerate the city and 

surrounding areas; and 

▪ Responsible for reviewing planning applications and delivery of planning 

policy (including Local Plan). 

▪ Civil Contingencies 

▪ Responsible for identifying potential emergency incidents, as well as co-

ordinating incident response and recovery. 

B.4 United Utilities 

Under Section 94 of the Water Industry Act 1991, United Utilities as the water and 

sewerage company serving Lancaster, have a duty as sewage undertaker, to provide 

and maintain sewers for the drainage of buildings and associated paved areas within 

property boundaries. They are also responsible for transferred sewers under the 

‘Transfer of Private Sewer Regulations 2011’ and lateral drains, which communicate 

with the public sewers. 

With regards to local flood risk management, under the Flood and Water 

Management Act 2010, they have a duty to manage the risk of flooding to water 

supply and sewerage facilities and flooding which is directly caused by its assets (i.e. 

water or sewerage pipes).  They also must maintain a register of properties that have 

flooded due to hydraulic incapacity of the sewerage network.  

B.5 Environment Agency 

The Environment Agency is responsible for taking a strategic overview of the 

management of all sources of flooding and coastal erosion. This includes, for 

example:  

▪ Setting the direction for managing the risks through strategic plans;  

▪ Providing evidence and advice to inform Government policy and support 

others;  

▪ Working collaboratively to support the development of risk management skills 

and capacity; and  

▪ Providing a framework to support local delivery.  

The Agency also has operational responsibility for managing the risk of flooding 

from main rivers, reservoirs, estuaries and the sea, as well as being a coastal erosion 

risk management authority.  

As part of its strategic overview role, the Environment Agency has published 

a National Flood and Coastal Risk Management Strategy for England. The strategy 

provides a lot more information designed to ensure that the roles of all those 

involved in managing risk are clearly defined and understood. 

B.6 Riparian landowners 

The legal term riparian is applied to landowners who own land adjoining or 

containing a river or watercourse. They have certain rights to use the water flowing 

across their land for their own purposes, and regarding flood risk management they 

also have several responsibilities, including the following: 

▪ To maintain the bed and banks of the watercourse, and the trees and shrubs 

growing on the banks; 

▪ To clear any debris (natural or man-made), even if it did not originate from 

their land; and 

▪ To keep any structures (culverts, trash screens, weirs and mill gates) within their 

ownership clear of debris. 

  

P
age 96



SWMP Report & Action Plan 
 

 

 

 

B2319000-JAC-ZZ-LC-RP-Z-1101  60 

B.7 SWMP Workshop 

Table B.1: Stakeholder objectives 

Stakeholder / 

Department 

Objectives 

Lancashire 

County 

Council / 

Flood Risk 

Management 

▪ Reduce current flood risk levels 

▪ Lower asset maintenance costs 

▪ SuDS to provide betterment, not just “no detriment” 

▪ Manage flood risk from new developments through the 

surface water drainage hierarchy 

▪ Incorporate surface water drainage through appropriate 

management techniques, maximising the opportunity to 

deliver amenity and biodiversity enhancements 

▪ Use viable, sustainable and coordinated approaches to better 

manage the risk of local flooding 

▪ Separation of foul and surface water drainage networks 

Lancashire 

County 

Council / 

Highways 

▪ Consider whole life costs of assets, and maintainability of 

structures/assets 

▪ SuDS to provide betterment, not just “no detriment” 

Lancashire 

County 

Council / 

Transport 

Planning and 

Policy  

▪ Major ambition for sustainable transport, including 

sustainable routes 

▪ Development of a cohesive strategy concerning car park use 

and requirements  

▪ Promote use of ‘greenways’ (multi-user off-road routes) 

Lancaster City 

Council / 

Regeneration 

▪ Developing solutions which provide multiple benefits 

▪ Improving the public realm 

▪ Remove barriers to investment 

▪ Enable sustainable economic growth across Lancaster  

Stakeholder / 

Department 

Objectives 

Lancaster City 

Council / 

Planning  

▪ Make the Council’s activities net zero carbon 

▪ Increase local resilience to climate impacts 

▪ Encourage above ground SuDS to enhance biodiversity, 

provide betterment, reduce flood risk and limit discharge to 

sewers 

▪ Develop a master plan and delivery strategy for 

implementation of Canal Quarter Regeneration Scheme 

▪ Provide new and maintain existing ecological corridors, and 

maximise opportunities for green space in the city centre 

▪ Create sustainable waterway neighbourhoods  

▪ Improve air quality in the city centre (currently failing to meet 

national objectives) 

Lancaster City 

Council / Civil 

Contingencies 

▪ Keep key transport routes open during flood events 

▪ Critical infrastructure to be resilient to flooding 

United Utilities ▪ Reduction in internal and external flooding to properties in 

the next investment period (April 2020 – March 2025) in line 

with regulatory targets 

▪ Encourage developers to follow the surface water hierarchy 

▪ Promote Natural Flood Risk Management and Partnership 

Working to help mitigate, reduce and alleviate flood risk.  

▪ Ensure that no detriment is experienced on the current level 

of service requirements across the public sewerage network 

and Wastewater Treatment Works. 

P
age 97



SWMP Report & Action Plan 
 

 

 

 

B2319000-JAC-ZZ-LC-RP-Z-1101  61 

Appendix C. References 
 

1 Environment Agency (2015) Monthly Water Situation Report: England November 

2015 

2 Centre for Ecology & Hydrology (2006) Hydrological summary for the United 

Kingdom: December 2015 

3 Centre for Ecology & Hydrology (2017) The summer 2007 floods in England & 

Wales – a hydrological appraisal 

4 Lancashire County Council (2016) Flood & Water Management Act: Section 19 

Investigation: December 2015 Floods in Lancashire 

https://www.lancashire.gov.uk/council/performance-inspections-

reviews/environmental/flood-investigation-report/ (Accessed: Jan 2019) 

5 Lancashire County Council (2017) Lancaster District Report – Recommended 

Actions 

6 Jacobs UK Ltd (2018) Lancaster Phase 4 Catchment Study: Hydrology and 

Hydraulic Modelling Report 

7 Defra (2010) Surface Water Management Plan Guidance 

8 TUFLOW by BMT WBM Pty Ltd 

9 Jacobs UK Ltd (2020) Lancaster Phase 4 Catchment Study: Mill Race Survey 

10 Environment Agency (2011) Lune Flood Zones and ABD Mapping Report 

11 Virtual Lancaster News Blog (2013) Wild Weather Hits Lancaster and Morecambe, 

http://virtual-lancaster.blogspot.com/2013/12/wild-weather-hits-lancaster-

and.html (Accessed: Jan 2020) 

12 The Visitor (2017) Wet wipes flushed down loo made Lancaster flooding worse 

https://www.thevisitor.co.uk/news/wet-wipes-flushed-down-loo-made-lancaster-

flooding-worse-1-8682660 (Accessed: Jan 2020)  

13 BBC (2018) Lancaster flash flood prompts calls for more prevention measures  

https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-england-lancashire-45018773 (Accessed: Jan 

2019) 

14 BBC (2017) Lancashire flash floods hit homes and businesses 

https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/av/uk-england-lancashire-40666890/lancashire-

flash-floods-hit-homes-and-businesses (Accessed: Jan 2020) 

15 Lancashire County Council (2019) Flood & Water Management Act: Section 19 

Investigation: 22/23 November 2017 Floods in Lancashire 

https://www.lancashire.gov.uk/council/performance-inspections-

reviews/environmental/flood-investigation-report/ (Accessed: Jan 2019) 

16 Cranfield Soil and Agrifood Institute (2020) Soilscapes viewer [Online]. 

http://www.landis.org.uk/soilscapes/. (Accessed: October 2020) 

17 British Geological Survey (2020) Onshore GeoIndex. [Online resource] 

http://mapapps2.bgs.ac.uk/geoindex/home.html (Accessed: October 2020) 

18 Geosmart Groundwater Flood Risk Map GW5 Version 2.3©. [Online resource] 

http://www.geosmartinfo.co.uk/ (Accessed: October 2020) 

19 United Utilities Water plc (2012) Lancaster City Centre UIDs – Damside Street: 

Geotechnical Solutions Report and Land Quality Risk Assessment 

https://www.pdffiller.com/jsfiller-

desk11/?requestHash=6b9d79b439e42d3d755c2293b8234a86b186d04604e06

3636a38f319c55450df&et=l2f&projectId=573329515#aa838323e94eb9d4905ef

39eb837af8cv (Accessed: October 2020) 

P
age 98

https://www.lancashire.gov.uk/council/performance-inspections-reviews/environmental/flood-investigation-report/
https://www.lancashire.gov.uk/council/performance-inspections-reviews/environmental/flood-investigation-report/
http://virtual-lancaster.blogspot.com/2013/12/wild-weather-hits-lancaster-and.html
http://virtual-lancaster.blogspot.com/2013/12/wild-weather-hits-lancaster-and.html
https://www.thevisitor.co.uk/news/wet-wipes-flushed-down-loo-made-lancaster-flooding-worse-1-8682660
https://www.thevisitor.co.uk/news/wet-wipes-flushed-down-loo-made-lancaster-flooding-worse-1-8682660
https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-england-lancashire-45018773
https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/av/uk-england-lancashire-40666890/lancashire-flash-floods-hit-homes-and-businesses
https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/av/uk-england-lancashire-40666890/lancashire-flash-floods-hit-homes-and-businesses
https://www.lancashire.gov.uk/council/performance-inspections-reviews/environmental/flood-investigation-report/
https://www.lancashire.gov.uk/council/performance-inspections-reviews/environmental/flood-investigation-report/
http://www.landis.org.uk/soilscapes/
http://mapapps2.bgs.ac.uk/geoindex/home.html
http://www.geosmartinfo.co.uk/
https://www.pdffiller.com/jsfiller-desk11/?requestHash=6b9d79b439e42d3d755c2293b8234a86b186d04604e063636a38f319c55450df&et=l2f&projectId=573329515%23aa838323e94eb9d4905ef39eb837af8cv
https://www.pdffiller.com/jsfiller-desk11/?requestHash=6b9d79b439e42d3d755c2293b8234a86b186d04604e063636a38f319c55450df&et=l2f&projectId=573329515%23aa838323e94eb9d4905ef39eb837af8cv
https://www.pdffiller.com/jsfiller-desk11/?requestHash=6b9d79b439e42d3d755c2293b8234a86b186d04604e063636a38f319c55450df&et=l2f&projectId=573329515%23aa838323e94eb9d4905ef39eb837af8cv
https://www.pdffiller.com/jsfiller-desk11/?requestHash=6b9d79b439e42d3d755c2293b8234a86b186d04604e063636a38f319c55450df&et=l2f&projectId=573329515%23aa838323e94eb9d4905ef39eb837af8cv


SWMP Report & Action Plan 
 

 

 

 

B2319000-JAC-ZZ-LC-RP-Z-1101  62 

 
20 Environment Agency (2010) Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management 

Appraisal Guidance  

21 Middlesex University Flood Hazard Research Centre (2018) Handbook for 

Economic Appraisal  

22 Environment Agency (2016) Flood risk assessments: climate change allowances. 

https://consult.environment-

agency.gov.uk/engagement/bostonbarriertwao/results/appendix-9---flood-risk-

assessments-climate-change-allowances_20170203.pdf (Accessed February 2018) 

23 Royal Academic of Engineering (2016) Living without electricity: One city’s 

experience of coping with loss of power 

24 Defra (2006) Flood Risks to People (Phase 2): FD2321/TR1 The Flood Risks to 

People Methodology 

http://sciencesearch.defra.gov.uk/Document.aspx?Document=FD2321_3436_TRP.

pdf (Accessed November 2020) 

25 Lancaster City Council (2019), Regeneration, [Online Resource] 

https://www.lancaster.gov.uk/sites/regeneration (Accessed: Jan 2019) 

26 Lancaster City Council (2018) Strategic Policies and Land Allocations DPD and 

Development Management DPD. http://www.lancaster.gov.uk/planning/planning-

policy/about-the-local-plan (Accessed: Jan 2019) 

27 Environment Agency (2020) Catchment Data Explorer, [Online Resource] 

https://environment.data.gov.uk/catchment-planning/ (Accessed: November 

2020) 

28 Lancashire County Council (2013) Lancashire and Blackpool Local Flood Risk 

Management Strategy 

29 Jacobs UK Ltd (2007) Lancaster City Council Strategic Flood Risk Assessment 

30 Environment Agency (2009) Lune Catchment Flood Management Plan 

31 Lancashire County Council (2013) Lancashire and Blackpool Local Flood Risk 

Management Strategy 

32 Environment Agency (2017) Lower Lancaster Phase 3 Strategic Outline Case 

33 Lancaster City Council (2018) Lancaster City Council Multi-Agency Flooding Plan  

 

P
age 99

https://consult.environment-agency.gov.uk/engagement/bostonbarriertwao/results/appendix-9---flood-risk-assessments-climate-change-allowances_20170203.pdf
https://consult.environment-agency.gov.uk/engagement/bostonbarriertwao/results/appendix-9---flood-risk-assessments-climate-change-allowances_20170203.pdf
https://consult.environment-agency.gov.uk/engagement/bostonbarriertwao/results/appendix-9---flood-risk-assessments-climate-change-allowances_20170203.pdf
http://sciencesearch.defra.gov.uk/Document.aspx?Document=FD2321_3436_TRP.pdf
http://sciencesearch.defra.gov.uk/Document.aspx?Document=FD2321_3436_TRP.pdf
https://www.lancaster.gov.uk/sites/regeneration
http://www.lancaster.gov.uk/planning/planning-policy/about-the-local-plan
http://www.lancaster.gov.uk/planning/planning-policy/about-the-local-plan
https://environment.data.gov.uk/catchment-planning/

	Agenda
	5 Task Groups
	Final Report of Morecambe High Street Bid TG
	Appendix A - Letter from Luke Hall

	6 Flooding in Lancaster
	2. Lancaster City SWMP


